

• child studies o

Research Centre on Child Studies





child studies

Child Studies is an international peer-reviewed journal which publishes empirical and theoretical articles focusing on children's social contexts and relations in everyday life, taking a holistic perspective. This journal is a multidisciplinary forum for sharing and discussing issues such as children's rights, development and well-being, generational and intergenerational relations, and the broad societal, political and cultural aspects impacting children's lived realities.

Editors

Assunção Flores Rui Ramos

Editor for this issue (n. 6, 2024)

Rui Ramos

Assistant Editor

Cláudia Pinheiro

Editorial Board

Africa Borges (University of La Laguna, Spain; ORCID ID 0000-0001-8267-4401) Amy Hanna (Queen's University Belfast, Northern Ireland; ORCID ID 0000-0002-1101-5211) Ana Claudia Bortolozzi Maia (UNESP-Campus de Rio Claro, Brazil; ORCID ID 0000-0003-4796-5451) Ana Lúcia Santos (University of Lisbon, Portugal; ORCID ID 0000-0003-4758-7462) Ana Margarida Ramos (University of Aveiro, Portugal; ORCID ID 0000-0001-5126-4389) Ana Tomás de Almeida (University of Minho, Portugal; ORCID ID 0000-0003-0036-312X) Beatriz Pereira (University of Minho, Portugal; ORCID ID 0000-0003-4771-9402) Bettina Kummerling-Meibauer (Tübingen University, Germany; ORCID ID 0000-0003-0068-5575) Eleni Kanira (Universidade da Cidade de Birmingham, Inglaterra; ORCID ID 0000-0002-0225-0578) Elizabeth Ann Wood (University of Sheffield, England; ORCID ID 0000-0002-1027-1520) Fernando Ilídio Ferreira (University of Minho, Portugal; ORCID ID 0000-0002-8608-6700) Graça Carvalho (University of Minho, Portugal; ORCID ID 0000-0002-0034-1329) Liz Chesworth (University of Sheffield, England; ORCID ID 0000-0003-0576-0650) Louise Kay (University of Sheffield, England; ORCID ID 0000-0002-9740-3564) Maria Eduarda Giering (Univ. of Vale do Rio dos Sinos, Brazil; ORCID ID 0000-0001-8098-4238) Marnie Campagnaro (University of Padova, Italy; ORCID ID 0000-0003-1732-0716) Miguel Falcão (Polytechnic Institute of Lisbon, Portugal; ORCID ID 0000-0002-5506-0516) Pallawi Sinha (University of Suffolk, England; ORCID ID 0000-0002-2889-3416) Paula Regina Ribeiro (FURG - Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil; ORCID ID 0000-0001-7798-996X) Ruba Fahmi Bataineh (Yarmouk University, Jordan; ORCID ID 0000-0002-5454-2206) Sara Reis da Silva (University of Minho, Portugal; ORCID ID <u>0000-0003-0041-728X</u>) Sarah Richards (University of Suffolk, England; ORCID ID 0000-0003-4811-101X) Sonia Byrne (University of La Laguna, Spain; ORCID ID 0000-0002-9267-3354) Spyros Spyrou (European University, Cyprus; ORCID ID 0000-0003-0493-1403) Teresa Vilaça (University of Minho, Portugal; ORCID ID 0000-0002-5021-2613) Vanessa Joosen (University of Antwerp, Belgium; ORCID ID 0000-0001-8060-5728) Venka Simovska (Aarhus University, Denmark; ORCID ID 0000-0003-1391-9182)

Cover design

Catarina Ramos

Publisher

Research Centre on Child Studies Institute of Education, University of Minho Campus de Gualtar 4710-057 Braga Portugal

Email - childstudies@ie.uminho.pt
Site - https://revistas.uminho.pt/index.php/childstudies

ISSN - 2795-5915

Support

Editora UMinho (https://editora.uminho.pt/pt)
Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (https://www.fct.pt)

Contents

Editorial - Child studies as a polychrome mosaic of perspectives Editorial - Os estudos da criança como um mosaico polícromo de perspetivas	9
Rui Ramos	
Centring children in research: a collaborative exploration into child-centredness as a method and theory Centrar as crianças na investigação: uma exploração colaborativa da centralização da criança como método e teoria	11
Alex Orrmalm, Johanna Sjöberg, Anna Sparrman, Rebecka Tiefenbacher, Joel Löw, Johanna Annerbäck, Johanna Sköld, Emilia Holmbom Strid, Sanna Hedrén, Lina Lago, Olga Anatoli, Yelyzaveta Hrechaniuk, Alan Prout, & Marek Tesar	
Reading Prosody: The role of Automaticity and Motivational Variables Prosódia na Leitura: O Papel da Automaticidade e das Variáveis Motivacionais	33
Joana Cruz, Diana Brito, Maria Catarina Pinho, Bruna Rodrigues, & Irene Cadime	
Dialogues between picturebooks for children and childhood sciences and cultures Diálogos entre livros ilustrados para crianças e as ciências e culturas da infância	53
Roberta Asse	
Playing and Mathematics: perceptions of children from a public school O Brincar e a Matemática: perceções de crianças de uma escola pública	75
Tamyris Caroline da Silva, & Tânia Teresinha Bruns Zimer	
Specific Learning Disorders and Reading Perturbações Específicas e Aprendizagem da Leitura	97
Inês Patrícia Rodrigues Ferraz	
Children's Pictures in Research Practices across Academic Disciplines Imagens de crianças em práticas de investigação em diferentes disciplinas académicas	121
Johanna Sjöberg	



• child studies O

N. 6, 2024

EDITORIAL – CHILD STUDIES AS A POLYCHROME MOSAIC OF PERSPECTIVES

EDITORIAL – OS ESTUDOS DA CRIANÇA COMO UM MOSAICO POLÍCROMO DE PERSPETIVAS

Rui Ramos
Research Centre on Child Studies, Institute of Education,
University of Minho, Portugal

The journal Child Studies is publishing another issue, once again comprising a diverse range of contributions from theoretical and applied perspectives. The papers included in this sixth issue illustrate the relevance of the field and its multiple and multi/interdisciplinary dimensions, in line with the multi-perspective approach of this journal. This field of study is generated from a polychrome mosaic of perspectives, unified by a common focus: the child.

The first paper of the issue presents a study that differs from the standard format of papers. It is a collaborative article exploring child-centredness as a theoretical and methodological concept. It reflects on what it means to centre children in research. Their 14 authors offer a set of complementary and questioning points of view, challenging us to rethink the way we do research and to densify our view of the object of study.

The second paper, authored by Joana Cruz, Diana Brito, Maria Catarina Pinho, Bruna Rodrigues and Irene Cadime, offers a reflection on children's reading mechanisms, with a particular focus on reading proficiency. Proficiency in reading is defined as the ability to read a text with ease, expressiveness, intonation, appropriate pauses and accuracy. The authors seek to establish a correlation between prosody, a variable that has been previously studied in other cases, with motivational variables, thereby expanding the scope of the study. The paper provides insights for educators, particularly in terms of fluency interventions.

The third paper presents an analysis of children's literature by Roberta Pinheiro Asse. Rather than focusing on literary production in isolation, the paper situates this within a broader dialogue with social scientific and comparative studies of childhood in Portuguese. This approach is informed by a commitment to listening to children's voices and to undertaking analytical readings of picture books. Furthermore, the text incorporates a comparative analysis of children's literature in

two Portuguese-speaking countries: Portugal and Brazil. This enables an intersection of perspectives.

The fourth paper, authored by Tamyris Caroline da Silva and Tania Teresinha Bruns Zimer, explores the perspectives of children from a state primary school in Brazil on the connection between play and mathematics. Rooted in qualitative methodologies, it seeks to capture children's perspectives through drawings, photographs, and group interviews. The findings yielded from this study offer significant insights into the manner in which children perceive mathematics, highlighting its interconnection with particular school environments (e.g., sports courts, playgrounds) and activities (e.g., chocolate-based fraction lessons). The paper culminates with the presentation of recommendations that advocate for the integration of play-based learning methodologies within pedagogical approaches to enhance mathematical education.

The next paper is authored by Inês Ferraz. She analyses reading issues in children with specific learning disorders. The author emphasises the role of reading skills in personal development and social integration, and points out that specific learning disorders affect a large number of school-age children, with the potential to compromise the future prospects of many of these children. The paper analyses the prevalence of this learning disorder, its possible causes, the diagnostic process, its consequences, and its warning signs for children from an early age.

Finally, the present volume includes a paper by Johanna Sjöberg. The author looks at how images of children are used, discussed and studied across different academic disciplines, in order to ascertain their relevance in research. To do so, she draws on a collection of 423 articles published between 2010 and 2023. The analysis reveals that the majority of studies do not focus on children's pictures in isolation, but rather on their appropriation for purposes that extend beyond the realm of image or artistic concerns.

As this almost telegraphic presentation suggests, the studies collected in this volume of the journal Child Studies show the plural and complementary perspectives that contribute to the construction of comprehensive knowledge about children today.

Funding

This work was financially supported by Portuguese national funds through the FCT (Foundation for Science and Technology) and conducted within the framework of the CIEC (Research Centre on Child Studies of the University of Minho) with the references UIDB/00317/2020 and UIDP/00317/2020.

• child studies O

N. 6, 2024

CENTRING CHILDREN IN RESEARCH: A COLLABORATIVE EXPLORATION INTO CHILDCENTREDNESS AS METHOD AND THEORY

CENTRAR AS CRIANÇAS NA INVESTIGAÇÃO: UMA EXPLORAÇÃO COLABORATIVA DA CENTRALIZAÇÃO DA CRIANÇA COMO MÉTODO E TEORIA

Alex Ormalm

Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies

Linköping University, Sweden

Johanna Sjöberg

Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies

Linköping University, Sweden

Anna Sparrman

Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies
Linköping University, Sweden

Rebecka Tiefenbacher

Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies

Linköping University, Sweden

Joel Löw

Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies Linköping University, Sweden

Johanna Annerbäck
Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies
Linköping University, Sweden

Johanna Sköld

Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies
Linköping University, Sweden

Emilia Holmbom Strid

Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies

Linköping University, Sweden

Sanna Hedrén
Department of Behavioural Sciences and Learning (IBL)
Linköping University, Sweden

Lina Lago

Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies
Linköping University, Sweden

Olga Anatoli
Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies
Linköping University, Sweden

Yelyzaveta Hrechaniuk

Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies

Linköping University, Sweden

Alan Prout
Professor Emeritus, University of Leeds, UK

Marek Tesar
Faculty of Education and Social Work, The University of Auckland, New Zealand

Abstract

This collaborative article explores child-centredness as a theoretical and methodological concept by asking what it means to centre children in research. The collaborative format offers a heterogeneity of voices on the concept as the contributing authors write, critically and creatively, from a range of different interdisciplinary research perspectives. Writing from the departure point of the key role of child-centred approaches within the field, including recent discussions concerning the need to decentre children/childhood, the goal is to spur and contribute to discussions on the possibilities and challenges of the concept, as well as new ways of approaching it.

Keywords: child-centredness, decentring, child research, child and childhood studies, collaborative writing

Resumo

Este artigo colaborativo explora a centralidade da criança como um conceito teórico e metodológico, perguntando o que significa centralizar as crianças na investigação. O formato colaborativo oferece uma heterogeneidade de vozes sobre o conceito, uma vez que os autores que contribuem escrevem, de forma crítica e criativa, a partir de uma série de diferentes perspetivas interdisciplinares de investigação. Escrevendo a partir do ponto de partida do papel fundamental das abordagens centradas na criança dentro do campo, incluindo discussões recentes

sobre a necessidade de descentralizar as crianças/infância, o objetivo é estimular e contribuir para discussões sobre as possibilidades e desafios do conceito, bem como novas formas de o abordar.

Palavras-chave centralidade na criança, descentração, investigação sobre a criança, estudos sobre a criança e a infância, escrita colaborativa

Introduction

Centring children in research has been a common feature of research within child and childhood studies since the 1980s as an endeavour to recognize children in their own right, not primarily as, for example, part of the family unit (cf. James & Prout, 1990; Qvortrup, 1985). This has often involved participatory methods and methods oriented around children's perspectives; for example, under the name of child-focused research (James & James, 2012). However, it can also entail centring children as the primary research concern with the help of concepts such as a child perspective (cf. Halldén, 2003) or childism (Wall, 2023). However, child-centredness is more often discussed as a feature in relation to other well-theorized concepts such as those mentioned above, rather than as a concept in itself. Recently, discussions have emerged within the field arguing for a need to move beyond child-centredness by decentring children and childhoods (Spyrou, 2017), or thinking with concepts such as after/post childhood (Kraftl, 2020) and post-child (Aitken, 2018). These discussions highlight questions about what it means to 'move beyond', and how child-centredness is understood and practised within the field.

By exploring child-centredness as both a methodological and a theoretical concept, this paper challenges the taken-for-granted status of child-centredness by engaging with a diversity of approaches to it. The goal is not to pinpoint or define what child-centredness is. Rather, it is to concretize, without aiming to unify, what it means from a diversity of research perspectives situated in an interdisciplinary research environment that has been dedicated to child-centred research for several decades.

For this article eleven authors, researchers and doctoral students, at Tema Barn, Linköping University, Sweden was invited to write a 500-word piece on the topic child-centredness. The format is inspired by the method of collaborative writing and the idea that knowledge production becomes more complex and multifaceted by thinking together (Peters et al., 2022, Tesar et al., 2021). This format, inviting many authors to shortly make their stand on a certain topic without any requirement for coherence, opens up for disparate thinking and expanded reflection. Borders and conflict surfaces between different theoretical standpoints are allowed to be visible, and differences and heterogeneities are rather encouraged (Sparrman et al.). Therefor the eleven authors approach the topic of this article from

their own theoretical or empirical angle, and without any attempt to make them more coherent or making easy transitions between different pieces. The article hopes to spur the readers curiosity and thinking of the concept child-centredness.

The introduction has been written by Alex Orrmalm and Johanna Sjöberg. It serves as a starting point for the individual contributions with the aim of incite curiosity towards twisting and turning what child-centredness can mean in child research. The contributions have gone through internal collegial reviews as well as being reviewed by external reviewers; Professor Emeritus Alan Prout and two blind reviewers whose contributions are integrated last in the article. This collaborative process, including both authors and reviewers, welcomes similarities and connections as well as differences and dissonances. This turns into a conversation that demonstrates the collaborative knowledge-making. We invite you to read the article, not as one coherent piece or with the expectation of finding a streamlined argument or one cohesive method, but rather as a collection of heterogeneity that poses critical questions ahead. With this in mind, we seek to spur a discussion about the possibilities, challenges, and future of child-centredness in child and childhood research.

Centring Children's Absences: Thinking with Abandoned Playgrounds and Ghostly Participation

Alex Orrmalm

Imagine for a moment an abandoned playground, decaying after years of neglect in the absence of children. The architecture is overgrown, rusty, and broken. If it were a movie, where the playground is used to convey a sense of eeriness, the swings might be creaking in the wind and the animal-shaped spring swings might have degraded into something that looks as though it belonged in a horror movie. With this image in mind, I want to push the question of 'what' can be centred in child-centred research by delving into how child-centredness can be (re)thought through the concept of 'absence'.

Children's absences can be about limiting access to what is deemed unsafe or inappropriate for children, or it can be about forgetfulness, lack of attention, the unsayable, or about what was never even considered. Absence is often slippery because it is denoted by what is not there. While the children figure somewhere, their absence figures somewhere else, telling us a story of its own. We cannot pinpoint its boundaries or a single location. While thus posing a challenge to analysis, children's absences hold the potential to push back our attempts to categorize or hold still the category of the child in our knowledge production. Instead, centring children's absences asks us to think with a shattered category in movement (cf. Hetherington, 2004).

The eeriness of an abandoned playground is created through absencing childness, not just children – their movements and sounds, traces of their activities, the maintenance of a place created for them, their presence in public spaces and, not least, the signs of (happy) childhoods. Their absence draws attention to how their absence from this place, just as their presence somewhere else, has effects (cf. Scott, 2018). Their absence haunts the space that once was for children, affecting us enough for abandoned playgrounds to become tropes for conveying what is dystopian or lost.

Centring children's absences contributes to what child-centredness can mean by challenging approaches to child-centredness that rely on children's verbal and physical participation or perspective. It enables an approach to child-centredness that sets 'centring' in movement as it does not bound the category of 'the child', but rather loosens it up. This expands the reach of where and when it matters to acknowledge the effects of children, because it does not require children to 'be there' in order for them to matter (cf. Orrmalm et al., 2022). In an abandoned playground, it draws attention to how we can think of children's ghostly participation in shaping space, as well as what kind of world becomes present in children's absences.

"Decentring" the Child

Anna Sparrman

The call for a decentring of the child is done to show how children exist through relational enactments between human (children) and non-human entities (eg. Spyrou 2019). It is a critical act of pointing out and unpacking what the child comprises. But what do we leave unexamined when doing this? Let us consider Jill Greenberg's photograph of a lone crying child.



Figure 1. Four more years (2006), Jill Greenberg © https://clampart.com/2012/04/end-times/#13

According to Greenberg, this child became hysterically upset during the photo session. Greenberg related the child's misery, anguish and hopelessness to the political despair she was feeling at the time. George W. Bush had just been reelected as the president of the US and she anguished over the future and the suffering to which children would be exposed. Hence her title Four more years (Yoo 2010).

This, and the rest of the photographs in the collection, End time (2006), were created by mothers handing their children a lollipop (or something else they liked) and then asking for it back. The children cried in response. This created a heated debate, even hatred towards Greenberg, some accusing her of exploiting children's misery. Greenberg, however, replied that children's crying is a natural way of communicating. Creating these photographs, she argued, is neither more nor less provocative or unnatural than shooting photographs of smiling children advertising jeans (Teicher, 2013).

In different ways Greenberg and the 'haters' shared a mission. Both sides wanted to protect children; The 'haters' from the abuse of the photographer, (and the mothers?); Greenberg from the rising political fundamentalism she identified in the US. Both debaters, it could be argued, centred the children but in different ways.

Drawing on Mol's notion of "baroque heterogeneity" (2016, p. 258), we see that the photograph is enacted through multiple and at times incompatible heterogeneities: a child, photographic technologies, a mother, a photographer, tears, visual editing tools, politics, a title, emotions, hate letters, and so on. Curiously, however, this decentring takes for granted what counts as a child in the first place. Why do we even think this is a child, and what is the 'it' which is being decentred? Decentring is at risk of ignoring our unexamined reliance on what Sjöberg (2013) calls "childity", the significant details we use to indicate "child": body proportions, the large head, the chubbiness and maybe the crying. Perhaps we need to be much more careful about what we take for granted when we "decentre"?

Centring the Decentred Child

Rebecka Tiefenbacher

I understand child-centredness as the striving to situate children's experiences, voices, and perspectives at the forefront of theoretical, methodological, and/or empirical inquiry. In this way, it connects to wider efforts in childhood studies to recognize and understand children's life conditions and

situations across temporal and geographical contexts (cf. Canosa & Graham, 2020). Not all children have been at the 'center', however. For example, Underwood et al. (2015) state that children with disabilities are underrepresented in studies seeking to understand children's own experiences. Children with communicative differences and difficulties are particularly excluded from research (Rabiee, Sloper, & Beresford, 2005). The consequence is that, on the whole, we lack knowledge about the everyday experiences of children with disabilities (Stafford, 2017).

In more recent years, there have been calls to decentre children and childhood. One argument for doing so has been that contemporary societal concerns cannot be captured through 'the narrow confines of a "child-centred" field of study' (Spyrou, 2017, p. 433). I agree with such calls on the basis that not all research enquiry can start with a childhood 'lens' (cf. Kraftl, 2020). In the case of children with disabilities, however, we cannot talk about 'decentering', because they have yet to be at the centre of childhood studies. By centring the children and childhoods that have been outside the main focus – using methods that recognize children's many conditions for participating and ways of communicating (Tiefenbacher, 2023) – it becomes possible to challenge assumptions and ideas in the field; for example, as it concerns concepts and notions such as participation and children's voices (cf. Tisdall, 2012). Therefore, I suggest that child-centredness still has an important role to play in childhood studies, and may even help to advance the field.

The Centring of the Child – a History of Becoming Beings

Joel Löw

The so-called new paradigm of Childhood Studies that evolved around 1990 followed several decades of studies that had centred the child, often in tandem with democratization processes. The 'new' was thus characterized by an effort to distance from development-oriented child psychology, with an emphasis on the socially constructed childhood and a common foundation to study children as social actors, as 'beings' instead of children as adults in the making, i.e. 'becomings' (e.g. James & Prout, 1990; Qvortrup, 1994). It is not an exaggeration to claim that the centring of the child has been linked to this position in both research and society ever since.

Nevertheless, there has been continuity along with change. The emphasis on children as social actors with rights, voices, and competences – which broadly characterizes the present – is still closely connected to socialization processes of becoming carriers of democratic values and norms. And if we focus on 'becoming' in this sense, the history of childhood offers much to learn and reflect upon.

At the turn of the 20th century, Ellen Key envisioned what could become The Century of the Child, with the belief that the world would only be changed for the

better if a new type of humankind arose. She saw children as drilled and tamed in a militaristic manner which led to the reproduction of yearning for power, nationalism, and wars. A new type of humankind could only be achieved through a new approach to children, thus laying the foundation for a new society. After WWI, voices were again raised against authoritarian upbringing, but now in contrast to democracy. With support from the new science of child psychology, it was argued that child-rearing needed to change in order to create the democratic child, emphasizing concepts such as freedom, individuality, and fellowship. By extension, this reflected a value struggle between authoritarian and democratic states (Löw, 2020). Even the Cold War meant a power struggle between fundamental ideologies, norms, and values. It wasn't until the fall of the Berlin Wall (1989) and the collapse of the Soviet Union (1991) that the democratic liberal system gained world hegemony. It cannot be ignored that both the UNCRC (1989) and the 'new paradigm' in Childhood Studies coincided with this shift.

Nowadays, authoritarian voices are heard loudly, both nationally and globally. Russia, like China, is striving for a new world order, with a common critique of the Western world's value base. Against this backdrop, it is simply impossible to ignore that we are fellows in a world bound by ideologies, discourses, and notions about what society can bring. The historical perspective can shed light on the interconnection between the societal development, notions of human 'becomings', and the field of Childhood Studies, but only the future holds what the centring of the child will mean.

Moving In and Out of the Centre - Child-centredness as a Relational Practice

Johanna Annerbäck

This text discusses child-centredness as a relational practice in which both human and non-human actors are involved. It begins with fieldnotes collected for a study focusing on the outdoor activities of toddlers (aged 1-3y/o) at preschools in Sweden.

It's a rainy day and the girl is dressed in outdoor clothing, gallon mittens and a high visibility vest reaching further than her knees [...] She seems interested in some small sticks and sits down to get closer to them. She tries to grab them but it seems impossible. The vest gets in the way as she stretches her arm and the mittens are too clumsy to grasp the small sticks [...] after a long struggle, the researcher can no longer resist but brings the girl a stick as she stretches out her hand [...] Holding the stick in her gallon mitten hand, she is observing the stick for a long, long time. (Fieldnotes from the girl with the sticks)

The idea was to centre the children by following them in the playgrounds, moving with them and learning through these movements (cf. Ingold, 2020). By adopting a cautious, and what we thought of as a respectful, physical distance from the toddler, this also meant decentring the researcher. By keeping a distance, to enable the toddlers to move around with as little influence from the researcher as possible, the researcher was positioned out of the centre.

As the fieldnotes indicate, this approach of centring the child created a distance from the girl that was uncomfortable for the researcher. Seeing her struggle against the vest and gallon mittens that clothed her little hands and prevented her from grasping a stick, it was difficult not to intervene and move into the centre.

As an outcome of this situation, this child-centred approach should be understood as a practice of correspondence (Ingold, 2020) situated in relations between the toddler, the researcher, and the environment, rather than as a fixed methodological approach. By moving in and out of the centre, as researchers, we attuned to the ways in which the girl, researcher, rain, place, sticks, and clothes mutually shaped each other.

When employing this approach, the question of what it means to centre children becomes entangled with the position and movements of the researcher in correspondence with a world in motion (Ingold, 2020). As a relational practice, the question of whether we centre or decentre children becomes too fixed (cf. Spyrou, 2017). Instead, questions must be asked about how to think of child-centring as an entanglement of different relations of centring, decentring, and recentring.

Centring Children in Time

Johanna Sköld

In a polemical article, historian Sarah Maza (2020) criticized the history of childhood for being descriptive and a-theoretical in its focus on children's lives and experiences. She argued that the field needs to move beyond the history of children to history through children if it is to make a substantial contribution to mainstream historical knowledge. While, arguably, many childhood historians already do this, it is worthwhile reflecting upon how a focus on children can contribute to a better understanding of societal transformations over time. For me, asking whether children influence, or are influenced by, any aspect of the world is a way of exploring the distribution of power and resources that shape societies. Child-centredness illuminates how relations between generations, genders, social classes, ethnicities, sexualities, geographical belongings, and ages intersect and change. Child-centredness can therefore function as a theoretical and methodological lens to

explain and explore issues relating to present or past societies that do not necessarily seem to allude to children.

The history of provision for the elderly, for instance, is a subject that at first glance seems to have no connection to either children or childhood. However, by centring children, it becomes obvious that their value as labourers and future security for their parents is relevant to this question. As long as children were perceived in terms of such an economic value in the rural economies of the USA and Europe, people who lacked offspring to provide for them in old age sometimes turned to orphanages and boarding-out agencies to acquire children. In a sample of 521 applications for a foster child filed at the Stockholm poor relief boarding-out bureau during the early 20th century, 20% of the applications came from people aged 60 or over (Sköld, 2006). Some were probably interested in the fee paid to foster parents, others explicitly asked for a child (girl) to take care of them in their declining years. As children's social value changed, from being economically useful assets for adults to emotionally valued beings who should be cared for with their own best interests in mind (Zelizer, 1994), such demands from elderly people were met with suspicion. The boarding-out bureau was reluctant to place children with elderly foster parents out of fear that they would pass away before the child was old enough to take care of him/herself. But the bureau deviated from its own rules if the foster care arrangement benefited the child, such as bequeathing an inheritance (Sköld, 2006).

By centring children onto the subject of provision for the elderly, we can ask how the changing social value of children has affected childless and/or elderly people's opportunities to plan for their future. Child-centredness is thus a tool for analysing societal transformations beyond the immediate concerns of children.

Centring Large Child Groups – Towards a Deeper Understanding of Young Children's Interactions

Emilia Holmbom Strid

In this piece, I ask what centring large child groups can contribute to our understanding of preschool children's interactions. After all, it is in everyday interaction that – among other things – cultures, opinions, worldviews, moral perspectives, and emotional life are formed and developed. Preschool is one place where young children interact and where peer cultures are created. Peer cultures provide an opportunity to test and develop different cognitive, emotional, and social skills. Social contexts are challenging because children constantly encounter and must learn to deal with new social situations entailing both self-selected and imposed interactions.

Even though the group situation is a common element in children's everyday lives, there seem to be few studies on children's own interactions within large groups in preschool (but see Corsaro, 1979). The idea that interactions rarely occur between an adult and child in isolation (Pursi, 2022) draws attention to the importance of considering multiparty interactions, as they require considerable interactional work from all participants. Research often focuses on teacher interventions and how adults create opportunities and involvement for children's participation (Bateman, 2022) or on the challenges faced by preschool teachers when surrounded by large groups and the teachers' lack of resources (Samuelsson, William, & Sheridan, 2015). The focus on teachers' interactions or engagement with children risks relegating the interactions between children to the background. By centring child-child interactions, one can gain knowledge about preschool children's interactions in broader and more complex contexts.

Shifting the gaze from adult interventions to children's perspectives through the study of child-child interactions draw attention to moments that are rarely addressed. For example, moments when the teachers (and other adults) are not called upon, interactions that tend to float by unnoticed because they are perceived as mundane (and perhaps uninteresting) from an adult perspective. However, to capture the complexities of everyday life in preschool, there is a need for a child-centred perspective, where children in large groups are also positioned in the foreground. This can reveal what is presented as relevant to them in their participation and how they orient themselves to the group and in group situations. This raises questions relating to how large groups of children can be centred in child research. How do we need to think, or rethink, child-centredness in this approach? How can it be achieved methodologically?

The Child at the Centre of Professional Attention

Sanna Hedrén and Lina Lago

Swedish school-age educare (SAEC) is an institution at the intersection between education and leisure. SAEC builds on ideals of a child-centred education and the curriculum emphasizes that teaching should be characterized by informal learning and be related to children's interests (SNAE, 2022). Traditional SAEC pedagogy (Gustafsson Nyckel, 2020) highlights aspects such as meaningfulness and voluntariness. It is, however, important to reflect upon this child-centred ideal. How do children becomes professionally centred in such practices, and what child is centred? We argue that this is a matter of when, how, and for what reason the child is centred. In some situations, the child at the centre is an actual child, the child before me, with specific wishes and needs. On other occasions it is the imagined child who is centred, based upon professionals' assumptions about children and their wishes and needs. Such assumptions build on experiences of encountering

actual children, but are also impregnated with ideals and norms of children and childhood.

In a study of SAEC staff's discursive formations of the child during collegial conversations, we found that the child was often talked about as an anonymous participant in the group (Hedrén & Lago, 2023). In this case, the child at the centre is invisible and remains within the rules and norms of the group. At the same time, children who deviate from the group, children who are 'noisy', 'questioning', or 'refusing' attract attention from professionals. These children were centred because they posed a 'problem' and were in need of special treatment. Hence, in SAEC, children are centred in two different ways: compliant children are centred as a group, and the deviant child is centred as an individual.

It is important in professional practice striving to centre the child – whether in education or research – to make visible, discuss, and reflect upon which child/children one centres, and with what consequences. Is it her/his wants and wishes that are centred? Or perhaps her/his needs or rights? Centring the child needs to be accomplished differently in different situations, but one needs to be aware of the possibilities and limitations in each of these positionings. When talking about a child-centred professional practice, it is not about one child; rather, child-centring is a scattered professional practice, and centring the child is a way to acknowledge the multitude of children, actual and imaginary, who are present in everyday educational practice.

It is necessary to maintain an awareness of the tension between centring the actual child and the imagined child, and this tension must constantly be challenged in educational practice, to be able to keep the normative child in constant flux.

Centring Children in Child Language Research

Olga Anatoli

In this text, I ask what a child-centred approach can contribute to an approach to children as social actors within linguistic research. Human language is a subject that is addressed in diverse academic disciplines, and while all speakers of a language have been or still are children, child-centredness is not a mainstream concern in research on this uniquely human capacity. Language has been mainly theorized as a system of communication with a structure that functions separately from its speakers; it has only been a recent development in linguistic research to question this separation, specifically in response to the political challenges facing multilingual children and young people in monolingual educational institutions (cf. the translanguaging argument in Otheguy et al., 2015). In relation to different paradigms about child language, it has been argued that the experiences of

language during one's early years are central to the personal sense of self (cf. Avineri, 2020). Language in a child's life is discussed as central for building social relations, achieving enskilment and knowledge transfer, and constructing identity.

At the same time, a child's language is often used by adults, particularly in institutional contexts, as an objectified tool for categorizing that child in relation to aspects such as ethnicity, neurophysiological development, or schooling. Consider institutional interactions involving three parties, such as the doctor-child-parent during medical visits or teacher-child-parent in educational settings. In these encounters, the child's ability to perform on standardized tests is used as a measure of development. The use of an objectified concept of language enables a focus on the child as becoming, and turns language development into a public health concern (e.g. Rescorla & Dale, 2013). Employing a child-centred approach, it becomes possible to recognize a holistic view on child language, demonstrating not only structural, societal constraints on the children's ability to act, but also highlighting children's linguistic and interactional skills, which may not have been validated otherwise. Methodologically, the focus on talk as a form of social action appears to be a productive approach to accessing a children's perspective on interaction, even if the child's speech is limited (e.g. Prado & Bucholtz, 2021). A child-centred approach that recognizes children as social actors (e.g. James, 1990), therefore, may offer a new perspective on child language and change the focus from an objectified, normative conceptualization of language to a situated, evolving capacity to act.

Centring Verbs

Yelyzaveta Hrechaniuk

Decentring the child in Child and Childhood Studies may appear counterintuitive, or even sacrilege of sorts. But I would like to use this short text as an opportunity for a thought experiment and to consider the terminology of child-centredness, and Child/Childhood Studies and the outcomes of focusing on nouns in these three concepts.

The idea stems partially from a common piece of advice on writing, and particularly academic writing, which encourages suspicion towards nouns in general. They tend to fall flat, remain vague and imprecise, and obscure action. In addition, action in its various shapes and forms – doings, practices, processes, and transformations – seems to be what the social sciences strive to explore. The names of several interdisciplinary fields reflect this focus on studying action and contain verbs or verb-derived nouns. For example, the emerging field of Valuation Studies takes an interest in valuation, that is social practices through which values are achieved. Drawing theoretically upon Science and Technology Studies (STS),

Valuation Studies examines a wide range of practices to determine how actors produce, contest, and dismiss what is desirable, important, meaningful, or worthy (Doganova et al., 2014). While strictly speaking a noun, 'valuation' is clearly derived from a verb and denotes a practice. Compared to the ambiguous 'child' or 'childhood' in Child/Childhood Studies, which could be an umbrella for various subjects, objects, or actions, 'valuation' appears more precise yet not too limiting of the practices in focus. This choice of an action-driven concept seems to me to give the field a push and provide momentum.

Another example of the productivity of verbs is Annemarie Mol's (2021) playful renaming of Food Studies into Eating Studies. In Mol's (2021, p. 5) empirical approach to theory, eating is not in itself the main interest, but exploring eating practices can advance our understanding of ways of being, knowing, doing, and relating. Detailed descriptions of eating practices provide food for thought and lessons for theory (ibid.).

While the names of many research fields are assembled around nouns, it is productive to reflect upon what could be gained by imagining studies of 'doing childhood' or 'childing' (cf. Woolgar, 2012). A confusion, an ontological debate, or a productive conversation about the direction of the field? In STS, 'gerundizing', or adding an -ing – as in 'childing' – is used to draw attention to the active work and practices that constitute and uphold scientific concepts and mundane notions alike (Woolgar, 2012). Such a gerundized alternative to 'the child' could perhaps be instrumental in centring children, their actions, doings, and lived experiences, as well as the work and practices that make up childhood.

Child-centredness in the 1980s: The Foundation of Interdisciplinary Child Studies

Johanna Sjöberg

There is a tendency within the field of child studies to highlight the book Constructing and reconstructing childhood edited by James and Prout (1990) as the starting point for child-centred research. And although this book was central in pushing research on children and childhood forward, we must remember that, even prior to it, there was child-centred research. Opie and Opie (1959), Aries (1960), and Speier (1976) are early examples of individual researchers who, without a psychological or pedagogical point of view, focused on children's own doings and living conditions. It is less well-known that entire research institutions were dedicated to child-centred research. One of the earliest was the still-existing department of Child Studies (Tema Barn) at Linköping University, Sweden.

By 1981, the Child Studies research department had already started to form. It was part of a reorganization of research within the Faculty of Arts and Sciences into broad interdisciplinary themes. Dedicating one out of five thematic departments to children, childhood, and youth meant that children were recognized as having high social and academic relevance, with permanent topicality. It was stressed that disciplinary research fail to generate knowledge about important questions concerning children and their relation to society. The new research milieu was therefore aimed at stimulating interdisciplinary research and asking novel questions about children's perspectives and voices. It should contribute new knowledge about children's relation to society and culture and develop insights into social development from children's own perspectives. This means that, even during the planning of the Child Studies department, listening to children themselves was considered crucial.

Many academics and professionals provided input, and in 1984 an edited volume was published, mapping out the academic path forward (Aronsson et. al., 1984). This publication highlights children's mundane everyday lives, and its foundation is that childhood is socially and culturally constructed, and that ethnographic/anthropological and historical methods are well suited to understanding children and childhood in different cultures and times. Research should provide critical knowledge about the taken for granted, and thus conventions on children/childhood should be problematized. In addition, children's premises and their own perspectives are emphasized as important. These are familiar ideas within the field today. Back then, they were novel, standing in contrast to a dominant focus on children's vulnerability, deviance, and problems.

The government gave Linköping University the 'go-ahead' to establish the Department of Child Studies in 1987, and the following year the first professors and doctoral students arrived. Since then, the researchers at the department have engaged in child-centred research highlighting children as worthy of study in their own right, continuously pushing the interdisciplinary study of children and their relations to and with society further.

Conclusion

Alan Prout

In their introduction to this paper Orrmalm and Sjöberg set out the promises of collaborative writing to create more complex, multifaceted and heterogeneous outcomes than conventional writing practices, all the better to stimulate the curiosity of the reader. Speaking personally, after reading the paper I felt like I had just attended a very interesting symposium. The contributions are rich and invigorating. They both overlap and polarise. By turns they manage to confirm each

other but still clash in some ways. The effect is precisely the hoped for excitement of continuing thought. Just as the ethnographer continues to observe their fieldwork site long after they have physically left it, so the reader of this paper is left with numerous lines of flight to pursue or not depending, perhaps, on their stamina.

'Centring' (the verb - see Hrechaniuk above) emphasises activity in motion. But what does this entail? As a minimum we might think that in 'centring' we actively draw something (in our case children - or maybe the child or even childhood?) together. We fix it by sharpening its edges and separating it from its context, the better to make it stand out and be recognised as a legitimate noun. This means we also make decisions about what is core to it, what is peripheral and what is excluded. It both assumes a heterogeneous ontology and simultaneously effaces it. To me this kind of centring activity was the main work of the first phase of contemporary childhood studies, the stage when us participants in those early days of contemporary childhood studies were attempting to define and validate a field of study. If we achieved anything we did so, in large part, by 'centring'.

Echoes of such centring work are to be heard throughout this paper: when Tiefenbacher points to the need to recuperate occluded categories like disability as well as childhood; when Orrmalm valorizes bringing the absent presence, whether disability or childhood, into view; when Sköld highlights the implications for children in changing provision for the elderly; when Strid underlines how child-centredness shifts attention from adult-child interactions to child-child ones (and calls for methodological innovation to centre children in large groups); or when Hedrén and Lago distinguish between how 'the child before me' and 'the imagined child' is centred with different consequences.

In giving these examples, I do not mean to imply that these authors neglect the importance of the decentring, which was, I think, the next main phase in the evolution of childhood studies (Prout, 2005). So, for example, when Anatoli suggests that child-centredness might create a more holistic and contextualised view for language studies, a shift of perspective is implied. It suggests that the lines of causality may be complex and run in more than one direction. Similarly, Löw points to the historical context in which child-centred childhood studies was created, particularly the mid-twentieth century revulsion against authoritarian child-rearing, reminding us just how complex, tangled and heterogeneous were the networks through which that shift came about (see also Sköld and Orrmalm above). What these underlines most of all is the strategic move identified by Annerbäck: the analytical flexibility exercised by strategically moving between centring, decentring and re-centring; Re/De/Centring, if I might be allowed a neologism. Sparrman's contribution is an eloquent commentary on this, a call for caution in such a move, for it is easy as she correctly insists, to fall back into old essentialism about childhood, inadvertently re-inscribing taken-for-granted notions of the child.

As a parting shot though, I want to highlight a crucial point made by Sjöberg: an institutional home for Childhood Studies (whether of the Re/De/centring variant or not) makes a tremendous difference. Tema Barn is a testament to this. It is itself a centring practice because it brings together the material, social, financial, and intellectual resources needed for research in childhood to become more visible. However, childhood scholars have not been as successful as we might have been in creating such places. More centres and more centring of this kind is needed.

References

- Aitken, S.C. (2018). Young people, rights and place: Erasure, neoliberal politics and postchild ethics. London: Routledge.
- Ariès, P. (1960). L'enfant et la vie familiale sous l'ancien régime. Paris.
- Aronsson, K., Cederblad, M., Dahl, G., Olsson, L., & Sandin, B. (Eds.) (1984). Barn i tid och rum. Malmö: Liber Förlag.
- Avineri, N. (2020). Child language. In J. Stanlaw (Ed.), The international encyclopedia of linguistic anthropology (pp. 1–5). London: Wiley.
- Bateman, A. (2022). Participation. In A. Church & A. Bateman (Eds.), Talking with children: A handbook of interaction in early childhood education (pp. 55–77). Cambridge University Press.
- Canosa, A., & Graham, A. (2020). Tracing the contribution of Childhood Studies: Maintaining momentum while navigating tensions. Childhood, 27(1): 25–47.
- Corsaro, W. A. (1979). 'We're friends, right?': Children's use of access rituals in a nursery school. Language in Society, 8(2-3): 315-336.
- Doganova, L., Giraudeau, M., Helgesson. C.F., Kjellberg, H., Lee, F., Mallard, A., Mennicken, A., Muniesa, F., Sjögren, E., & Zuiderent-Jerak, T. (2014). Valuation studies and the critique of valuation. Valuation Studies, 2(2): 87–96.
- Gustafsson Nyckel, J. (2020). Vägen mot det undervisande fritidshemmet. In B. Haglund, J. Gustafsson Nyckel, & K. Lager (Eds.), Fritidshemmets pedagogik i en ny tid (pp. 59–80). Gleerups.
- Halldén, G. (2003). Barnperspektiv som ideologiskt eller metodologiskt begrepp. Pedagogisk Forskning i Sverige, 8 (1-2): 12-23.
- Hedrén, S., & Lago, L. (2023). Is there an 'I' in 'we'? Staff's discursive formations of the child in Swedish school-age educare. Nordisk tidsskrift for pedagogikk og kritikk, 9.
- Hetherington, K. (2004). Secondhandedness: Consumption, disposal, and absent presence. Environment and Planning D: Society and Space, 22(1): 157–173.
- Ingold, T. (2020). Correspondences. Cambridge, UK: Polity.

- James, A., & Prout, A. (eds.) (1990). Constructing and reconstructing childhood: Contemporary issues in the sociological study of childhood. London: Routledge.
- James, A.L., & James, A., (2012). Key concepts in childhood studies. 2nd ed. London: SAGE
- Kraftl, P. (2020). After childhood: Re-thinking environment, materiality and media in children's lives. Routledge Spaces of Childhood and Youth Series. London: Routledge.
- Löw, J. (2020). Världen, Sverige och barnen: internationell påverkan på svensk barnpolitik under välfärdsstatens framväxt i mellankrigstidens tidevarv. (Diss.) Linköping University Electronic Press.
- Maza, S. (2020). The kids aren't all right: Historians and the problem of childhood. American Historical Review, 125(4): 1261–1285.
- Mol, A. (2016). Clafoutis as a composite: A hanging together felicitously. In J. Law and E. Ruppert Eds., Modes of knowing: Resources from the Baroque, pp. 242-265. Manchester: Mattering Press.
- Mol, A. (2021). Eating in theory. Duke University Press.
- Opie, I., & Opie, P. (1959). The lore and language of schoolchildren. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Orrmalm, A., Annerbäck, J., & Sparrman, A. (2022). Listening by 'staying with' the absent child. Barn-forskning om barn og barndom i Norden, 40(3).
- Otheguy, R., García, O., & Reid, W. (2015). Clarifying translanguaging and deconstructing named languages: A perspective from linguistics. Applied Linguistics Review, 6(3): 281–307.
- Peters, M.A., Tesar, M., Jackson, L., Besley, T., Jandrić, P., Arndt, S. and Sturm, S., (2022). Exploring the philosophy and practice of collective writing. Educational Philosophy and Theory, 54(7): 871–878.
- Prado, E., & Bucholtz, M. (2021). Getting dressed as a social activity: The interactional competence of an Autistic teenager who doesn't use speech. Research on Children & Social Interaction, 5(2): 239–270.
- Prout, A. (2005). The Future of Childhood: towards the interdisciplinary study of children, London: Routledge.
- Pursi, A. (2022). Play. In A. Church & A. Bateman (Eds.), Talking with children: A handbook
- of interaction in early childhood education (pp. 309–330). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Qvortrup, J. (1985). Placing Children in the Division of Labour. In: Paul Close & Rosemary Collins (Eds.), Family and Economy in Modern Society. Hampshire & London: MacMillan, pp. 129–145.

- Qvortrup, J. (ed.) (1994). Childhood matters: Social theory, practice and politics. Aldershot: Avebury.
- Rabiee, P., Sloper, P., & Beresford, B. (2005). Doing research with children and young people who do not use speech for communication. Children & Society 19(5): 385–396.
- Rescorla, L. A., & Dale, P. S. (Eds.). (2013). Late talkers: Language development, interventions, and outcomes. Baltimore: Paul H Brookes.
- Scott, S. (2018). A sociology of nothing: Understanding the unmarked. Sociology, 52(1): 3-19.
- Sköld, J. (2006). Fosterbarnsindustri eller människokärlek: barn, familjer och utackorderingsbyrån i Stockholm 1890–1925. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wicksell International.
- SNAE, Swedish National Agency of Education. (2022). Läroplan för grundskolan, förskoleklassen och fritidshemmet 2022. Skolverket.
- Sparrman, A., Sjöberg, J. Hrechaniuk, Y. Köpsell, L., Isaksson, K., Eriksson, M., Orrmalm, A., Venäläinen, P., Ågren, Y., Coulter, N., Kjellman, U., Aarsand, P., Tesar, M., Sanchez-Eppler, K., & Wells, E. (2023). Archives and children's cultural heritage. Archives and Records, 45(2), 81–100.
- Speier, M. (1976). The adult ideological viewpoint in studies of childhood. In A. Skolnick (Ed.), Rethinking childhood: Perspectives on development and society (pp. 168–186). Boston, MA: Little, Brown.
- Spyrou, S. (2017). Time to decenter childhood? Childhood, 24(4): 433–437.
- Spyrou, S. (2019). An ontological turn for childhood studies? Children & Society, 33(4): 316-323
- Stafford, L. (2017). 'What about my voice': Emancipating the voices of children with disabilities through participant-centred methods. Children's Geographies 15(5): 600–613.
- Sjöberg, J. (2013). I marknadens öga: barn och visuell konsumtion (Diss.) Linköping University Electronic Press.
- Teicher, Jordan G. (2013). Stunning Portraits of Crying Children That Brought the Photographer Hate Mail. Slate. https://slate.com/culture/2013/08/jill-greenberg-end-times-crying-children-photos-became-a-headache-for-the-photographer-photos.html Downloaded 21 August, 2023.
- Tesar, M., Duhn, I., Nordstrom, S.N., Koro, M., Sparrman, A., Orrmalm, A., Boycott-Garnett, R., MacRae, C., Hackett, A., Kuntz, A.M., Trafí-Prats, L., Boldt, G., Rautio, P., Ulmer, J. B., Taguchi, H. L., Murris, K., Kohan, W. O., Gibbons, A., Arndt, S. & Malone, K., (2021). Infantmethodologies. Educational Philosophy and Theory, pp.1-18. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2021.2009340

- Tiefenbacher, R. (2023). Finding methods for the inclusion of all children: Advancing participatory research with children with disabilities. Children & Society, 37(3): 771–785. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/chso.12628
- Tisdall, E. K. M. (2012). The Challenge and Challenging of Childhood Studies? Learning from Disability Studies and Research with Disabled Children, Children & Society 26 (3): 181–191. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1099-0860.2012.00431.x
- Underwood, K., Chan, C., Koller, D., & Valeo, A. (2015). Understanding young children's capabilities: Approaches to interviews with young children experiencing disability. Child Care in Practice, 21(3): 220–237.
- Wall, J. (2023). From childhood studies to childism: Reconstructing the scholarly and social imaginations. Society and Social Changes through the Prism of Childhood. Routledge, 2023. 5-18.
- Woolgar, S. (2012). Ontological child consumption. In A. Sparrman, B. Sandin, & J. Sjöberg (Eds.), Situating child consumption: Rethinking values and notions of children, childhood and consumption (pp. 33–53). Lund: Nordic Academic Press.
- Zelizer, V. (1994). Pricing the priceless child: The changing social value of children. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Yoo, Alice (2010). Baby, don't cry Jill Greenberg (15 pics). https://mymodernmet.com/baby-dont-cry-jill-greenberg/ Downloaded 21 August, 2023.

Bionotes

Alex Ormalm

Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies

Linköping University, Sweden

alex.orrmalm@liu.se

Johanna Sjöberg
Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies
Linköping University, Sweden
johanna.sjoberg@liu.se

Anna Sparrman
Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies
Linköping University, Sweden
anna.sparrman@liu.se

Rebecka Tiefenbacher
Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies
Linköping University, Sweden
rebecka.tiefenbacher@liu.se

Joel Löw Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies Linköping University, Sweden joel.low@liu.se

Johanna Annerbäck
Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies
Linköping University, Sweden
johanna.annerback@liu.se

Johanna Sköld Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies Linköping University, Sweden johanna.skold@liu.se

Emilia Holmbom Strid
Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies
Linköping University, Sweden
emilia.strid@liu.se

Sanna Hedrén
Department of Behavioural Sciences and Learning (IBL)
Linköping University, Sweden
sanna.hedren@liu.se

Lina Lago
Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies
Linköping University, Sweden
lina.lago@liu.se

Olga Anatoli
Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies
Linköping University, Sweden
olga.anatoli.smith@liu.se

Yelyzaveta Hrechaniuk Department of Thematic Studies – Child Studies Linköping University, Sweden yelyzaveta.hrechaniuk@liu.se

Alan Prout University of Leeds, UK

Marek Tesar
Faculty of Education and Social Work
The University of Auckland
m.tesar@auckland.ac.nz

Received: September 2024 Published: December 2024

child studies ○

N. 6, 2024

READING PROSODY: THE ROLE OF AUTOMATICITY AND MOTIVATIONAL VARIABLES

PROSÓDIA NA LEITURA: O PAPEL DA AUTOMATICIDADE E DAS VARIÁVEIS MOTIVACIONAIS

Joana Cruz

Lusíada University of Porto
Psychology for Development Research Center, Portugal

*Diana Brito*Lusíada University of Porto, Portugal

Maria Catarina Pinho Lusíada University of Porto, Portugal

Bruna Rodrigues
Lusíada University of Porto
Psychology for Development Research Center, Portugal

Irene Cadime
Research Centre on Child Studies, Institute of Education,
University of Minho, Portugal

Abstract

Proficient reading goes beyond the automatic recognition of words; it involves the ability to read a text effortlessly, with expressiveness, intonation, appropriate pauses, and accuracy. Several studies support the idea that prosody is the most prominent skill in reading fluency due to its strong connection with reading comprehension. The present study sought to expand knowledge on the association of prosody with motivational variables, such as self-concept and reading enjoyment, over and above reading speed and accuracy. The study involved 189 third grade students from public schools in the North, Center, and South of Portugal. The results indicate that motivational variables, particularly self-concept, are associated to prosody performance. However, when reading speed and accuracy are included in the model, the motivational variables are no longer predictors of prosody performance. The results are discussed, allowing for reflection on possible implications for practice in the context of early elementary education.

Keywords: prosody; decoding; reading fluency; reading accuracy; reading motivation

Resumo

A leitura proficiente vai além do reconhecimento automático de palavras; envolve a capacidade de ler um texto sem esforço, com expressividade, entoação, pausas adequadas e precisão. Vários estudos sustentam a ideia de que a prosódia é a habilidade mais proeminente na fluência da leitura devido à sua forte ligação com a compreensão da leitura. O presente estudo procurou alargar o conhecimento sobre a associação da prosódia com variáveis motivacionais, como o autoconceito e o prazer da leitura, para além da velocidade e da precisão da leitura. O estudo envolveu 189 alunos do 3.º ano de escolaridade de escolas públicas do Norte, Centro e Sul de Portugal. Os resultados indicam que as variáveis motivacionais, nomeadamente o autoconceito, estão associadas ao desempenho prosódico. No entanto, quando a velocidade de leitura e a precisão são incluídas no modelo, as variáveis motivacionais deixam de ser preditoras do desempenho prosódico. Os resultados são discutidos, permitindo refletir sobre possíveis implicações para a prática no contexto dos primeiros anos do ensino básico.

Palavras-chave prosódia; descodificação; fluência da leitura; precisão da leitura; motivação para a leitura

Introduction

The acquisition of decoding skills at the word and text levels is one of the main learning goals in the first years (Suggate, 2016). With practice and training, this process helps children become increasingly fluent in reading (Cruz et al., 2022). The theoretical foundations of reading fluency primarily stem from the work of LaBerge and Samuels (1974) with their theory of automaticity, which highlights fluency as a critical element in the reading process. According to this theory, automaticity in word recognition refers to the ability to recognize words automatically and effortlessly, as competent readers do. Both the automaticity theory (LaBerge & Samuels, 1974) and the verbal efficiency theory (Perfetti, 2007) suggest that as readers become more automatic in word identification, the cognitive resources allocated to decoding processes decrease, freeing up more resources for text comprehension.

There is a consensus on the definition of reading fluency, which includes three components: accuracy, speed, and prosody (Calet et al., 2017; Hudson et al., 2005; Hudson et al., 2009; Kuhn et al., 2010; Kuhn & Stahl, 2003). Accuracy in word decoding refers to the ability to correctly identify written words (Torgesen &

Hudson, 2006) and accurately represent them orally based on their orthographic forms (Zimmerman et al., 2019). The research by Roberts et al. (2011) confirms the importance of accuracy in word recognition for competent reading. If a reader is unable to recognize the words in a text, comprehension will be impaired (Zimmerman et al., 2019).

Prosodic reading has been identified by numerous authors as a fundamental component of reading fluency (Kuhn & Stahl, 2003; Schrauben, 2010). The inclusion of this component in the definition of fluency has contributed to deconstructing the idea that a good reader is one who quickly reaches the end of a text (Dowhower, 1991). Prosody in reading represents the ability to make oral reading sound like spoken language (Kuhn, 2005; Kuhn et al., 2010).

Prosody is a component of spoken language and represents suprasegmental features of speech, as it involves more than just phonemic segments (syllables, words, and larger speech units). It primarily allows for the description of rhythmic and tonal patterns of speech (Dowhower, 1991), particularly changes in pitch (intonation), duration, and emphasis. In other words, prosodic features enable the production of speech with different pitch contours, faster or slower tempos, and higher or lower volumes (Pronina et al., 2021). According to Dowhower (1987), when these suprasegmental characteristics are perceptible in fluent reading, the term "reading with prosody" is used. Fluent readers are characterized by reading at an appropriate pace and conveying meaning through their voice, including tone, stress, and proper phrasing (Rasinski et al., 2009). Interest in research on prosodic reading has emerged primarily due to its role as a dimension of reading fluency and, secondly, due to its relationship with comprehension (Dowhower, 1991; Kim et al., 2021; Kuhn et al., 2010; Kuhn & Stahl, 2003). Although prosody is considered a fundamental component of fluency (Kuhn et al., 2010), research has predominantly focused on the more quantifiable dimensions of fluency, particularly speed and accuracy (Dowhower, 1991).

Prosody in reading is currently conceptualized as a multifactorial construct (Lopes et al., 2015). It encompasses variables such as smoothness, rhythm/pace, expression, volume, and phrasing, that readers use to convey meaning (Calet et al., 2017; Godde et al., 2020; Zimmerman et al., 2019). Rasinski (2004) developed a multidimensional classification system to characterize reading prosody, suggesting the need to integrate four key components: expressiveness, phrasing, smoothness, and pace. Expressiveness refers to reading that sounds like natural speech, with appropriate tone and volume (Lopes et al., 2015). It is primarily associated with punctuation, volume, and pitch variation. According to Erekson (2010) and Martin (2011), punctuation alone is insufficient to translate expressiveness into written language. Expressive reading implies that the reader has a deep understanding of the text and can infer the emotional states of the characters based on the story's context (Erekson, 2010). Conversely, a reader might demonstrate appropriate phrasing and intonation without expressiveness.

The phrasing dimension relates to the reader's awareness of sentence boundaries (Lopes et al., 2015), specifically the ability to recognize punctuation and appropriately mark the end of sentences. This dimension also pertains to the duration of pauses and hesitations, which typically occur when the reader has not yet achieved accuracy and automaticity in reading and are therefore linked to decoding difficulties (Miller & Schwanenflugel, 2006). Respiratory pauses produced by beginning readers are often a result of a slow speaking rate, whereas pauses made by more experienced readers tend to align with punctuation marks. Once automaticity is achieved, there is better coordination between breathing and textual analysis (Rasinski, 2004).

Smoothness reflects how the reader navigates through the text (Lopes et al., 2015), while rhythm refers to the consistency and pacing of reading throughout the text (Rasinski, 2004; Lopes et al., 2015). Fluent reading and efficient comprehension require the ability to capture and focus on the morphological, syntactic, and semantic cues present in the text, as well as an awareness of punctuation (Kim et al., 2014; Lopes et al., 2015). Without this, reading will be slow, marked by frequent hesitations and lack of expressiveness (Kim et al., 2010).

Thus, for prosodic reading, the reader must adopt the author's intonation and expressiveness to grasp the meaning of the text through its suprasegmental aspects (intonation, stress, rhythm, pauses, and speech rate). Whenever a reader engages in prosodic reading, variations in tone and rhythm indicate that the lexical and morphosyntactic features of the text have been identified and interpreted (Ravid & Mashraki, 2007). Therefore, prosodic reading signals that the text is being comprehended (Lopes et al., 2015).

Research suggests that the prosodic structure of texts is more readily attainable by fluent readers (Schrauben, 2010). Experienced readers can read words automatically, with greater accuracy and expression, resulting in prosodic reading characterized by appropriate intonation, pitch, and rhythm, as well as an adequate level of word reading (Rasinski, 2004). In contrast, beginning readers tend to focus their available attentional resources on word decoding due to limitations in word recognition (Lopes et al., 2015).

A study by Chung (2024) sought to understand whether the oral reading prosody of third-grade children in Mandarin differed based on their word-reading abilities. Prosody was assessed using the scale developed and adapted by Rasinski (2004), which evaluated expression, phrasing, smoothness, and rhythm. The results demonstrated that children with better word-reading performance exhibited superior prosody compared to those with lower word-reading performance (Chung, 2024). These findings are consistent with previous studies that confirmed that children proficient in word reading outperformed their peers with poor word-reading skills across various aspects of prosodic reading. All these findings highlight the notion that fluent word reading facilitates more prosodic reading (Benjamin & Schwanenflugel, 2010; Chung & Bidelman, 2022; Miller & Schwanenflugel, 2006).

These findings align with LaBerge and Samuels' (1974) automaticity theory, which suggests that automaticity in word reading fluency frees up cognitive resources for other aspects of reading, including prosody. In other words, children who can decode words automatically and effortlessly have more resources available to focus on prosody, resulting in fluent reading with better expressiveness, intonation, and rhythm (Benjamin & Schwanenflugel, 2010).

Reading fluency is thus associated with expressive reading, and prosodic reading occurs once decoding becomes automatic (Kim et al., 2010; Miller & Schwanenflugel, 2006; Taylor et al., 2013). There appears to be a consensus that the development of proficient reading is linked to expressive/prosodic reading, and the development of prosodic reading occurs when automaticity and accuracy in word recognition are achieved (Kim et al., 2010; Miller & Schwanenflugel, 2006; Taylor et al., 2013; Lopes et al., 2015). In turn, appropriate prosodic reading fosters proficiency in reading comprehension (Kuhn & Stahl, 2003; Hudson et al., 2005; Eason et al., 2013; Lopes et al., 2015; Veenendaal et al., 2016).

In addition to decoding skills, speed, and accuracy, research suggests that motivation for reading also contributes significantly to reading performance, despite receiving less attention in the literature (Gambrell, 1996; Wigfield & Guthrie, 2000; Hudson et al., 2020). Several authors define reading motivation as a multidimensional construct that involves components related to the enjoyment of reading tasks, the value associated with reading, and self-concept regarding one's reading performance (Baker & Wigfield, 1999; Gambrell, 1996; Wigfield & Guthrie, 1997).

Since the 1990s, thanks to studies by Gambrell (1996) and Wigfield and Guthrie (1997), research in the field of reading has begun to consider both cognitive and affective aspects of reading acquisition. Oldfather and Wigfield (1996) describe two perspectives on reading motivation. One perspective focuses on how the reader's interest influences comprehension of the material. This perspective suggests that interest is linked to attention level, the effective use of learning strategies, and comprehension of the material. Interest in the material facilitates comprehension. The other perspective emphasizes the role those social interactions, both in the classroom and within the family, play in developing students' motivation for learning. Baker et al. (1997) support the idea that a student may be motivated to read because they perceive reading as valuable and because it enables interaction with others. Wigfield (1997) further argues that reading motivation is derived from readers' perceptions of themselves, particularly regarding their sense of self-efficacy and the pleasure they associate with reading.

Research findings consistently associate motivational variables with reading skills. In a study by Wantchekon and Kim (2019) involving third- and fourth-grade students, reading engagement predicted 4% of reading comprehension by the end of the year, with the relationship between reading engagement and comprehension being weaker for below-average readers. Several studies have found moderate to

strong correlations between reading engagement and reading comprehension (Hamedi et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2021; Wantchekon & Kim, 2019).

Regarding the dimension of reading for pleasure, although there is much debate over defining this concept, there seems to be a consensus that reading for pleasure is associated with students' reading motivation (Reedy & De Carvalho, 2019). Reedy and De Carvalho (2019) suggest that reading for pleasure may result from stronger reading fluency and the consequent self-confidence in that fluency, rather than the other way around. Reading self-confidence has also been cited as a good predictor of reading development. Melero et al. (2020) studied the relationship between various motivational variables and word reading as well as reading comprehension, concluding that self-confidence was the only significant motivational predictor. Similarly, a study by Cho et al. (2018) found a positive relationship between reading self-confidence and reading comprehension among second-grade students. These results highlight the importance of promoting family involvement in children's reading acquisition to maintain their self-confidence.

A Portuguese study by Lopes et al. (2022), which included fourth-grade students, sought to identify the individual and school factors that best predict reading success. The study concluded that students' attitudes toward reading — specifically, reading engagement, enjoyment of reading, and reading confidence — are predictors of reading success, with varying levels of predictive power. Reading confidence was the strongest indicator of reading success, while reading engagement was a marginal indicator, and enjoyment of reading was negatively associated with reading performance. In a study by Wigfield and Guthrie (2000), it was found that students with higher motivation and confidence are more likely to become fluent readers. Thus, reading motivation appears to affect students' reading competence, with higher motivation and confidence correlating with an increased likelihood of becoming fluent readers.

In summary, the research highlights that prosody appears to be influenced by variables related to decoding, accuracy, and reading speed. Additionally, research suggests a connection between reading motivation and both reading fluency and comprehension. However, there is a lack of studies investigating the specific role of motivation in prosody. In light of this gap, the present study aims to contribute to the understanding of prosodic performance in third-grade students, examining the influence of reading skills and motivational variables on prosody performance.

Method

Participants

The participants were recruited as part of a larger project aimed at testing the effects of a reading intervention [reference omitted]. This study involved 189 students enrolled in the third grade at public schools in the northern, central, and southern regions of Portugal. Among the participants, 54.0% were female and 46.0% were male. The mean age of the students was 11 years (SD = 0.55), with ages

ranging from 10 to 13 years. Only students whose native language was Portuguese were included in the study, and all of them were speakers of European Portuguese.

Measures

Sociodemographic Questionnaire

The sociodemographic questionnaire, completed by the student's parents/guardians, collected information regarding the children, including their age, gender, and native language.

TLP: Word Reading Test (Chaves-Sousa et al., 2017)

To assess the decoding of isolated words, the TLP Word Reading Test was utilized. The TLP consists of 30 words, displayed on a computer screen. Students are instructed to read aloud the words, even if they are unsure of the correct reading. There is no time limit for the presentation of each word or for the completion of the test. The test is administered individually. Scoring is based on a binary system: 1 point awarded for each correctly read word, and 0 points given for incorrect readings, including omissions, substitutions, additions, or no response. The total score was calculated by summing the number of correctly read words, with a minimum score of 0 and a maximum score of 30.

REI: Text Reading Accuracy and Fluency Test (Carvalho & Pereira, 2009)

Text reading accuracy and fluency were assessed using the REI test. The test is administered individually, and students are asked to read aloud a text, which contains 281 words, within a 3-minute time frame. The reading was recorded for subsequent analysis. Reading accuracy was calculated by dividing the number of correctly read words by the total number of words read. Reading fluency was assessed by computing the number of words read correctly per minute.

Prosody scoring grid (Zimmerman et al., 2019)

Using the recorded reading task from the REI: Text Reading Accuracy and Fluency Test, prosody was evaluated. Prosody was assessed using a rating grid adapted from Zimmerman et al. (2019). This grid is divided into four dimensions: expressiveness, phrasing, accuracy, and rhythm. Each subscale was scored on a scale of 1 to 4, with the total prosody score being the sum of the subscale scores.

For expressiveness, the scoring varies from 1, where 1 corresponds to situations where the reader speaks softly, as if trying to say something specific, but the reading does not sound natural, to 4 that is used when the reader uses varied volume and expression throughout the reading and the reading sounds natural.

For phrasing, the scoring varies from 1, where the reader reads word by word, in a monotone voice, and the text is read as individual words, without flow or phrasing, to 4, where the reader reads sentences well, consistently respecting punctuation, emphasis, and intonation. The reading has regular intonation, and respect for punctuation is constant throughout the text.

Accuracy scoring is similar, and score 1 corresponds to a reader who frequently hesitates during reading, mispronounces words, and repeats words or phrases, making multiple attempts to read the same passage and/or the same word; whereas score 4 refers to a reader who reads without issues, with some pauses, but self-corrects difficult words and/or sentence structures.

Finally, score 1 for rhythm is attributed when the reader reads slowly and laboriously, and score 4 refers to a reader who reads at a conversational pace throughout the reading, resembling a conversation.

Reading Motivation Scale "Me and Reading" (Monteiro & Mata, 2000)

The Reading Motivation Scale "Me and Reading" includes 20 items divided into three subscales: (1) Reading enjoyment (8 items), (2) Reader self-concept (7 items), and (3) Social recognition (5 items). Respondents rate each item on a scale of 1 to 4, where 1 indicates low motivation for reading and 4 indicates high motivation for reading (Monteiro & Mata, 2000). In this study, only the first two subscales were used, as the social recognition scale demonstrated low internal consistency (α <.70).

Procedures

This study received approval from the university's ethics committee [reference omitted]. After obtaining authorization to conduct the study, all participating school groups approved the project's development, including the implementation of the proposed methodology, data collection, and the use of these data for research and intervention purposes. Parents or guardians were informed about the project and its objectives, and they were asked to complete an informed consent form. This consent form ensured the confidentiality and protection of the children's data. Data collection was conducted by school psychologists who received specific training for this task. The assessment of word decoding, fluency, and accuracy skills was conducted individually, with each session lasting approximately 10 minutes per student, ensuring that school activities were not disrupted. The assessment of reading motivation was conducted in a group setting, with the test being read aloud by the assessors to ensure that students with lower reading fluency could understand the items.

After data collection, prosody scoring was conducted using inter-rater agreement, carried out by two raters who underwent three training sessions, each lasting two hours. During these sessions, the raters listened to and evaluated the recordings of the students' readings under the guidance of a specialist. In the following weeks, the raters worked independently, analyzing an additional 20 readings. Subsequently, they met to compare evaluations and continued training with an additional 10 readings. After this training, the raters independently evaluated 69 recordings. Cohen's kappa was used to assess inter-rater reliability, yielding high values: k = .844 (p < .001) for expressiveness, k = .798 (p < .001) for phrasing, k = .886 (p < .001) for accuracy, and k = .823 (p < .001) for rhythm.

Data Analysis

To investigate the contribution of reading skills (decoding, speed, accuracy) and motivational variables to prosody skills, a hierarchical multiple linear regression was conducted using the enter method. The total score of prosody was used as dependent variable. In the first block, motivational variables (self-concept and reading enjoyment) were entered. In the second block, the impact of decoding on prosody was assessed. In the third block, variables related to reading fluency and accuracy were added. Prior to the analysis, the assumptions were checked: sample size, absence of collinearity and multicollinearity, absence of outliers in all studied variables, and normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals (Pallant, 2020). The study included 189 students, and the literature suggests that approximately 10 subjects per independent variable are needed for multiple regression analysis (Pallant, 2020). Tolerance values (>.10) and VIF values (<10) indicated the absence of collinearity and multicollinearity, demonstrating the independence of predictor variables (Pallant, 2020). All predictor variables were significantly correlated with the dependent variable (p < .05) (Field, 2009), meeting the requirements for inclusion in the regression analysis. Analysis of standardized residuals and standardized predicted values (between -3 and 3) indicated the absence of outliers. The Durbin-Watson test value (1.3) was within the expected range (1.5 – 2.5), suggesting independence of residuals (Pallant, 2020). Examination of the residuals' histogram confirmed that the assumptions of homoscedasticity, linearity, and normality of residuals were met (Pallant, 2020). Thus, the assumptions underlying multiple linear regression analysis were met. All statistical analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics version 27.

Results

Table 1 presents the descriptive statistics for the variables under analysis, including prosody, self-concept, reading enjoyment, decoding, fluency, and accuracy. For the prosody variable, the average score was 1.79 (SD = 0.61), with a maximum score of 3.25. The average score for the self-concept in reading was 3.00 (SD = 0.64) out of a total of 4 points. Regarding the enjoyment associated with reading tasks, the mean score was 3.24 (SD = 0.53) out of a possible 4 points. In the decoding test, students showed an average performance of 23.21 (SD = 4.63) out of a total of 30 points. For reading fluency, the average score was 54.40 (SD = 24.77) words per minute, with a maximum of 126.36 words per minute. Regarding reading accuracy, the mean score was 91.28 (SD = 6.76) out of a maximum of 100 points.

Table 1

Descriptive statistics of the variables scores

Variables	М	SD	Minimum	Maximum
Prosody	1.79	.61	1.00	3.25
Reader self-concept	3.00	.64	1.14	4.00
Reading enjoyment	3.24	.53	1.13	4.00
Decoding	23.21	4.63	11.00	30.00
Fluency	54.40	24.77	7.67	126.36
Accuracy	91.28	6.76	66.67	100.00

Note: M=Mean; SD=Standard deviation.

The multiple linear regression analysis conducted (see Table 2) revealed that the two motivational variables (self-concept and reading enjoyment subscales) introduced in Block 1 explained 27% of the variance in students' prosody performance, with the regression model being statistically significant, F(2, 186) = 35.89, p < .001. Only the self-concept variable made a significant contribution to explaining prosody performance ($\beta = .56$, t = 8.08, p < .001).

When motivational variables were combined with decoding in Block 2, the explained variance in prosody performance increased by 20% (R2 adj.= .47), and the model remained statistically significant, F(3, 186) = 55.50, p < .001. In this model, the self-concept subscale continued to significantly contribute to prosody performance (β = .31, t = 4.68, p < .001), and the decoding measure also made a significant contribution (β = .50, t = 8.27, p < .001).

When dimensions related to fluency and accuracy were included in the final model, 66% of the variance in prosody performance was explained (R2 adj. = .66). This comprehensive model, which included all variables, was also statistically significant, F(5, 186) = 74.60, p < .001. Notably, with the exception of fluency, all other dimensions ceased to be statistically significant. Fluency emerged as the sole and primary factor explaining prosody performance ($\beta = .71$, t = 10.44, p < .001).

Table 2 **Multiple Linear Regression Analysis for Prosody Performance**

Variables	Beta	t	p	R ² change	R^2Adj .
Block 1					.27
Reading self-concept	.56***	8.08	.001		
Reading enjoyment	08	-1.18	.241		
Block 2				.20***	.47
Reading self-concept	.31***	4.68	.001		
Reading enjoyment	03	45	.655		
Decoding	.50***	8.27	.001		
Block 3				.20***	.66
Reading self-concept	.05	.87	.387		
Reading enjoyment	.03	.56	.579		
Decoding	.09	1.21	.230		
Fluency	.71***	10.44	.001		
Accuracy	.03	.42	.673		

Note: *** p <.001.

Discussion

This study aimed to investigate the contributions of reading skills—specifically decoding, speed, and accuracy—and motivational variables, including reader's self-concept and reading enjoyment, to prosody performance in third-grade students. The literature indicates that proficient reading extends beyond the automatic recognition of words; it also involves the ability to read text effortlessly with expressiveness, intonation, appropriate pauses, accuracy, and motivation (Therrien et al., 2016; Veenendaal et al., 2016; Hudson et al., 2020; Paige et al., 2017; Zimmerman et al., 2019). Several studies have shown a strong link between prosody and reading comprehension, with those skills being influenced by factors related to decoding, accuracy, speed, and motivation (Wigfield & Guthrie, 2000; Benjamin & Schwanenflugel, 2010; Miller & Schwanenflugel, 2008; Rasinski et al., 2009).

Hierarchical multiple linear regression analysis was used to test the contribute of reading and motivational variables to prosody. The first block included self-concept and reading enjoyment as predictor variables. The second block added reading decoding to these variables. The third block incorporated all predictor variables, including self-concept, reading enjoyment, decoding, fluency, and accuracy.

In the first block, which included only the two motivational variables as predictors, 28% of the variance in prosody performance was explained. The data indicated that the self-concept subscale was the only significant individual predictor of prosody performance. These findings suggest the need for strategies that enhance self-concept regarding reading, particularly in reading aloud. Strategies such as assisted reading, self- and peer-assessment of reading, and recording and listening to one's own reading are crucial for students to evaluate themselves, recognize areas for improvement, and thus engage more fully in

reading tasks, increasing their self-awareness about their performance (Cruz et al., 2022).

When decoding was included in the second block, a significant increase in the percentage of explained variance was observed compared to the previous model. These results align with the literature regarding the contribution of decoding to prosody performance. Both the automaticity theory and the verbal efficiency theory (LaBerge & Samuels, 1974; Perfetti, 2007) suggest that as readers become more automatic in word identification, the cognitive resources devoted to decoding processes decrease, making more resources available for expressive reading and comprehension. Research indicates that the prosodic structure of texts is more easily achieved by fluent readers (Schrauben, 2010). This is because fluent readers automatically recognize words and engage in prosodic reading characterized by appropriate intonation and tone.

The third block, which added fluency and accuracy as variables, explained 66% of the variance in prosody outcomes, making it the model that explained the most variance in prosody performance. The data indicated that fluency was the main predictor of prosody. These results suggest that improvements in reading fluency are associated with improvements in reading expressiveness. Consequently, they highlight the importance of promoting practices that develop and enhance fluency instruction (Miller & Schwanenflugel, 2008; Therrien et al., 2016; Veenendaal et al., 2016). Of note is that, when fluency was included in the model, all other variables ceased to be significant. The strong association between fluency and prosody implies that as fluency skills improve, the ability to read expressively also increases. Previous studies in European Portuguese have demonstrated that, past the second grade, speed is a stronger predictor of comprehension than accuracy, given that European Portuguese is an intermediate depth orthography, in which accuracy is mastered relatively early for most of the students (Cadime et al., 2017, 2023).

In summary, the results of this study indicate that motivational variables, particularly self-concept, impact prosody performance. However, when reading performance is considered, fluency emerges as the most significant contributor to prosody performance. These findings provide valuable insights into the implications for educational practice, particularly the need to identify students at risk in various reading competencies—especially fluency—early on. Early identification can help minimize difficulties from the outset of formal education and promote foundational reading skills that contribute to the development of more complex skills like prosody.

The study also highlights that motivation for reading contributes to prosody performance, underscoring the importance of implementing strategies to enhance student motivation, particularly their self-concept. Motivational strategies include praise, reinforcing effort during each reading, providing timely corrective feedback, and setting goals after self-assessment of reading (Cruz et al., 2022; Cruz et al., 2023).

Given the study's results and the extensive literature on reading, it is increasingly important to consider the broad concept of fluency and its development within the school curriculum. Accuracy, automatic word recognition, and prosody throughout the early years of primary education continue to play a crucial role in achieving the ultimate goal of reading: text comprehension (Kuhn et al., 2010). All components of fluency—accuracy, automaticity, and prosody—should be considered in reading fluency assessment and in teaching methodologies aimed at improving reading fluency and, consequently, reading comprehension (Rasinski et al., 2009).

The study's findings also highlight the importance of equipping teachers with the necessary knowledge and tools for systematic fluency training, particularly in prosody, which is often overlooked in reading instruction. Developing teachers' understanding of prosody—such as expressiveness, phrasing, accuracy, and rhythm -can significantly enhance their ability to support students in becoming expressive and fluent readers. Several studies reinforce the value of systematic and explicit instruction, emphasizing that gains in reading fluency are influenced by several key factors. These include the amount of time students spend practicing fluency, the quality of reading models provided (e.g., teacher-assisted reading training or peer modelling), immediate and constructive feedback on their performance, and innovative techniques such as recording one's reading and listening to the playback to self-assess and refine fluency (Beach & Philippakos, 2021; Gersten et al., 2020). Considering these strategies, literature suggests that teachers should allocate regular and focused time for fluency activities in their reading instruction, ensuring students have consistent opportunities to develop their skills. Also, teachers can serve as effective reading models by demonstrating prosodic reading. Using readaloud strategies with expressive intonation can help students internalize the natural rhythm and tone of fluent reading. Given feedback is also relevant, and should focus on specific aspects of fluency, such as phrasing, emphasis, and pace. Highlighting both strengths and areas for improvement can quide students toward more expressive reading. Recently, several studies have highlighted the positive impact of the use of recording technology, evidencing that encouraging student to record their reading and listen to the playback allows them to identify areas for improvement independently. This strategy also fosters self-awareness and accountability for their progress (Beach & Philippakos, 2021; Cruz et al., 2023; Rasinski et al., 2009). By implementing these strategies, teachers can create a supportive environment that fosters fluency development, enabling students to become confident, expressive readers capable of understanding and engaging with texts at a deeper level.

The main limitation of this study is the use of a convenience sampling method. Future studies should use a probabilistic sampling method, but also include the assessment of reading comprehension. It is essential to understand the role of prosody after the acquisition of decoding skills to determine its contribution to the comprehension of read texts.

References

- Baker, L., Scher, D., & Mackler, K. (1997). Home and family influences on motivations for reading. *Educational Psychologist*, 32(2), 69-82.
- Baker, L., & Wigfield, A. (1999). Dimensions of children's motivation for reading and their relations to reading activity and reading achievement. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 34(4), 452-477.
- Beach, K. D., & Philippakos, Z. A. (2021). Effects of a summer reading intervention on the reading performance of elementary grade students from low-income families. *Reading & Writing Quarterly, 37*(2), 169–189. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2020.1760154
- Benjamin, R. G., & Schwanenflugel, P. J. (2010). Text complexity and oral reading prosody in young readers. *Reading Research Quarterly*, *45*(4), 388–404. https://doi.org/10.1598/RRQ.45.4.2
- Cadime, I., Rodrigues, B., Santos, S., Viana, F. L., Chaves-Sousa, S., Cosme, M. C., & Ribeiro, I. (2017). The role of word recognition, oral reading fluency and listening comprehension in the simple view of reading: a study in an intermediate depth orthography. *Reading and Writing*, 30(3), 591–611. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-016-9691-3
- Cadime, I., Santos, S., Viana, F. L., & Ribeiro, I. (2023). The relationship of oral reading fluency endurance to comprehension in an intermediate depth orthography. *Psicología Educativa*, *29*(2), 143–148. https://doi.org/10.5093/psed2023a6
- Calet, N., Gutiérrez-Palma, N., & Defior, S. (2017). Effects of fluency training on reading competence in primary school children: The role of prosody. *Learning and Instruction*, *52*, 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2017.04.006
- Carvalho, A., & Pereira, M. (2009). O Rei: um teste para avaliação da fluência e precisão da leitura no 1° e 2° ciclos do ensino básico. *Psychologica*, *51*, 283-305. https://doi.org/10.14195/1647-8606_51_16
- Chaves-Sousa, S., Ribeiro, I., Viana, F. L., Vale, A. P., Santos, S., & Cadime, I. (2017). Validity evidence of the Test of Word Reading for Portuguese elementary students. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, *33*, 460-466. https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759/a000307
- Cruz, J., Mendes, S., Alves, D., Marques, S., & Cadime, I. (2023). Fluency training for struggling readers: Examining the effects of a Tier-2 intervention in third graders. *Education Sciences*, *13*(9), 908. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci13090908
- Cruz, J., Mendes, S. A., Marques, S., Alves, D., & Cadime, I. (2022). Face-to-face versus remote: Effects of an intervention in reading fluency during COVID-19 pandemic. *Frontiers in Education*, 6, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2021.817711

- Cho, E., Lee, M., & Toste, J. R. (2018). Does perceived competence serve as a protective mechanism against performance goals for struggling readers? Path analysis of contextual antecedents and reading outcomes. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 65, 135–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2018.05.017
- Chung, W. L. (2024). Oral reading prosody and the relation with reading abilities: A comparison of two rating scales. *Reading and Writing*, *37*(5), 869–886. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-022-10322-1
- Chung, W. L., & Bidelman, G. M. (2022). Acoustic features of oral reading prosody and the relation with reading fluency and reading comprehension in Taiwanese children. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 65*(1), 334–343. https://doi.org/10.1044/2021_JSLHR-21-00252
- Dowhower, S. L. (1987). Effects of repeated reading on second-grade transitional readers' fluency and comprehension. *Reading Research Quarterly, 22*, 389-406.
- Dowhower, S. L. (1991). Speaking of prosody: Fluency's unattended bedfellow. *Theory Into Practice*, *30*(3), 165–175. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405849109543497
- Eason, S. H., Sabatini, J., Goldberg, L., Bruce, K., & Cutting, L. E. (2013). Influences of comprehension on reading prosody. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, *17*(3), 178-203.
- Erekson, J. A. (2010). Prosody and interpretation. *Reading Horizons*, *50*, 2-3. https://schol arworks.wmich.edu/reading horizons/vol50/iss2/3
- Gambrell, L. (1996). Creating classroom cultures that foster reading motivation. *The Reading Teacher*, *50*(1), 14-25.
- Gersten, R., Haymond, K., Newman-Gonchar, R., Dimino, J., & Jayanthi, M. (2020). Meta-analysis of the impact of reading interventions for students in the primary grades. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, *13*(2), 401–427. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 19345747.2019.1689591
- Godde, E., Bosse, M. L., & Bailly, G. (2020). A review of reading prosody acquisition and development. *Reading and Writing*, 33(2), 399–426. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-019-09968-1
- Hamedi, S. M., Pishghadam, R., & Fadardi, J. S. (2020). The contribution of reading emotions to reading comprehension: The mediating effect of reading engagement using a structural equation modeling approach. *Educational Research for Policy and Practice*, 19(2), 211–238. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10671-019-09256-3
- Hudson, R. F., Koh, P. W., Moore, K. A., Binks-Cantrell, E. S., & Al Otaiba, S. (2020). Implementing the reading buddies program: Reading fluency and comprehension outcomes. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, *36*(2), 159-175.

- Hudson, R., Lane, H. & Pullen, P. (2005). Reading fluency assessment and instruction: What, why, and how? *The Reading Teacher, 58*(8), 702–714. https://doi.org/10.1598/RT.58.8.1
- Hudson, R., Pullen, P., Lane, H. & Torgesen, J. K. (2009). The complex nature of reading fluency: A multidimensional view. *Reading & Writing Quarterly, 25*(1), 4–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573560802491208
- Kim, Y. S., Quinn, J. M., & Petscher, Y. (2021). Reading prosody unpacked: A longitudinal investigation of its dimensionality and relation with word reading and listening comprehension for children in primary grades. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 113(3), 423–445. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000480
- Kim, Y. S., Park, C. H., & Wagner, R. K. (2014). Is oral/text reading fluency a «bridge» to reading comprehension? *Reading and Writing, 27*(1), 79-99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-013-9434-7
- Kim, Y. S., Petscher, Y., Schatschneider, C., & Foorman, B. (2010). Does growth rate in oral reading fluency matter in predicting reading comprehension achievement? *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 102(3), 652–667. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019643
- Kuhn, M. R. (2005). A comparative study of small group fluency instruction. *Reading Psychology*, *26*, 127-146.
- Kuhn, M. R., Schwanenflugel, P. J., & Meisinger, E. B. (2010). Aligning theory and assessment of reading fluency: Automaticity, prosody, and definitions of fluency. *Reading Research Quarterly,* 45(2), 230-251. https://doi.org/10.1598/RRQ.45.2.4
- Kuhn, M. R., & Stahl, S. A. (2003). Fluency: A review of developmental and remedial practices. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 95(1), 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.95.1.3
- LaBerge, D., & Samuels, S. J. (1974). Toward a theory of automatic information processing in reading. *Cognitive Psychology*, 6(2), 293–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0285(74)90015-2
- Lin, J., Li, Q., Sun, H., Huang, Z., & Zheng, G. (2021). Chinese secondary school students' reading engagement profiles: Associations with reading comprehension. *Reading and Writing, 34*, 2257–2287. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-021-10139-4
- Lopes, J., Oliveira, C., & Costa, P. (2022). School and student determinants of reading performance: A multilevel analysis with Portuguese students. *Revista de Psicodidactica*, 27(1), 29-37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psicoe.2021.05.001
- Lopes, J., Silva, M. M., Moniz, A., Spear-Swerling, L., & Zibulsky, J. (2015). Evolução da prosódia e compreensão da leitura: Um estudo longitudinal do 20 ano ao final do 30 ano de escolaridade. *Revista de Psicodidactica*, *20*(1), 5–23. https://doi.org/10.1387/RevPsicodidact.11196

- Martin, P. (2011). Ponctuation et structure prosodique [Punctuation and prosodic structure]. *Langue Française*, *4*(172), 99.
- Melero, A., Villalón, R., & Izquierdo-Magaldi, B. (2020). Attitudes toward reading, reading self-confidence, family involvement and reading comprehension in the second grade. *Electronic Journal of Research in Education*, *18*(50), 159-182. http://dx.doi.org/10.25115/ejrep.v18i50.2780
- Miller, J., & Schwanenflugel, P. J. (2006). Prosody of syntactically complex sentences in the oral reading of young children. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *98*(4), 839–843. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.98.4.839
- Miller, J., & Schwanenflugel, P. J. (2008). A Longitudinal study of the development of reading prosody as a dimension of oral reading fluency in early elementary school children. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 43(4), 336–354. https://doi.org/10.1598/rrq.43.4.2
- Monteiro, V., & Mata, L. (2000). Eu e a Leitura: Questionário de Avaliação da Motivação Para a Leitura [Questionnaire of Reading Motivation]. ISPA, Unidade de Investigação em Psicologia Cognitiva do Desenvolvimento e da Educação.
- Oldfather, P., & Wigfield, A. (1996). Children's motivations for literacy learning. In L. Baker, P. Afflerbach, & D. Reinking (Eds.), *Developing engaged readers in school and home communities* (pp. 89-113). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Paige, D. D., Rasinski, T. V., & Magpuri-Lavell, T. (2017). Is fluent, expressive reading important for high school readers? *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy, 60*(4), 401-409.
- Pallant, J. (2020). SPSS Survival Manual (7th ed.). Allen and Unwin.
- Perfetti, C. (2007). Reading ability: lexical quality to comprehension. *Scientific Studies of Reading, 11*(4), 357–383. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888430701530730
- Pronina, M., Hübscher, I., Vilà-Giménez, I., & Prieto, P. (2021). Bridging the gap between prosody and pragmatics: The acquisition of pragmatic prosody in the preschool years and its relation with theory of mind. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 662124. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyq.2021.662124
- Rasinski, T. V. (2004). *Assessing reading fluency*. Pacific Resources for Education and Learning.
- Rasinski, T., Rikli, A., & Johnston, S. (2009). Reading fluency: More than automaticity? more than a concern for the primary grades? *Literacy Research and Instruction*, 48, 350–361.
- Ravid, D., & Mashraki, Y. E. (2007). Prosodic reading, reading compre- hension and morphological skills in Hebrew-speaking fourth graders. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 30(2), 140-156. doi: 10.1111/j.1467- 9817.2007.00340

- Reedy, A., & De Carvalho, R. (2019). Children's perspectives on reading, agency and their environment: what can we learn about reading for pleasure from an East London primary school? *Education 3-13, 49*(2), 134–147. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004279.2019.1701514
- Roberts, T. A., Christo, C., & Shefelbine, J. A. (2011). Word recognition. In M. L. Kamil, P. D. Pearson, B. Moje, & P. Afflerbach (Eds.), *Handbook of Reading Research* (pp. 229–258). New York: Routledge.
- Schrauben, J. E. (2010). Prosody's contribution to fluency: An examination of the theory of automatic information processing. *Reading Psychology, 31*(2), 82–92. https://doi.org/10.1080/02702710902753996
- Suggate, S. P. (2016). A meta-analysis of the long-term effects of phonemic awareness, phonics, fluency, and reading comprehension interventions. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 49(1), 77–96. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219414528540
- Taylor, C. D., Meisinger, E. B., & Floyd, R. G. (2013). Variations in directions and overt timing on oral reading accuracy, fluency, and prosody. *School Psychology Review*, *42*(4), 437-447.
- Therrien, W. J., Wickstrom, K., & Jones, K. (2016). Effect of a combined repeated reading and question generation intervention on reading achievement. *Education and Treatment of Children, 39*(3), 285-306.
- Torgesen, J. K., & Hudson, R. (2006). Reading fluency: Critical issues for struggling readers. In S. J. Samuels, & A. E. Farstrup (Eds.), *What research has to say about fluency instruction* (pp. 130-158). Newark, DE, International Reading Association.
- Veenendaal, N. J., Groen, M. A., & Verhoeven, L. (2016). The contribution of prosodic reading to reading comprehension in Dutch children: An eye-tracking study. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 20(4), 320-333.
- Wantchekon, K., & Kim, J. S. (2019). Exploring heterogeneity in the relationship between reading engagement and reading comprehension by achievement level. *Reading & Writing Quarterly, 35*(6), 539–555. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2019.1594474
- Wigfield, A. (1997). Reading motivation: A domain-specific approach to motivation. *Educational Psychologist*, *32*(2), 59-68.
- Wigfield, A., & Guthrie, J. (1997). Motivation for reading: An overview. *Educational Psychologist*, *32*(2), 57-58.
- Wigfield, A., & Guthrie, J. T. (2000). Engagement and motivation to read. In M. L. Kamil, P. B. Mosenthal, P. D. Pearson, & R. Barr (Eds.), *Handbook of Reading Research* (pp. 403-422). New York: Routledge.
- Zimmerman, B. S., Rasinski, T. V., Was, C. A., Rawson, K. A., Dunlosky, J., Kruse, S. D., & Nikbakht, E. (2019). Enhancing outcomes for struggling readers: empirical

analysis of the fluency development lesson. *Reading Psychology, 40*(1), 70–94. https://doi.org/10.1080/02702711.2018.1555365

Funding

This work was supported by FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia, I.P. by project reference <UIDB/04375/2020> and DOI identifier https://doi.org/10.54499/UIDB/04375/2020. The last author was also supported by FCT under the contract CEECINST/00018/2021 and within the framework of the CIEC (Research Centre on Child Studies of the University of Minho) projects under the references UIDB/00317/2020 and UIDP/00317/2020.

Bionotes

Joana Cruz holds a PhD in Educational Psychology from the University of Minho. Since 2013, she has been an Assistant Professor at Universidade Lusíada Porto, contributing to the training of psychologists in both the Psychology Degree and the Educational Psychology Master's program. She has been a member of the Psychology for Development Research Center (CIPD) since 2013 and was promoted to the role of its director in 2023. Her research interests are related to learning to read, write and mathematics, learning difficulties and inclusive education.

Email: joanacruz@por.ulusiada.pt

Orcid: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5104-6979

Diana Martins Brito holds a Master's degree in Educational Psychology from Universidade Lusíada Porto. Her research focused on prosody, with a particular emphasis on the prosodic performance of third-grade students.

Email: dianabritom2001@gmail.com

Orcid: https://orcid.org/0009-0008-7056-3227

Maria Catarina Pinho holds a Master's degree in Educational Psychology from Universidade Lusíada Porto. With a Bachelor's degree in Psychology, her work focused on the promotion of prosody.

Email: catarinapinho0@gmail.com

Bruna Rodrigues holds a PhD in Applied Psychology by the University of Minho and is a specialist in Educational Psychology by the Portuguese Order of Psychologists. Her career has been dedicated to the development of research-action projects focused mainly on the promotion of language, reading, and writing. She has published articles in specialized journals, books/book chapters and papers in proceedings, and has also presented oral communications and posters in national and international conferences. In coauthorship with other researchers, she was

congratulated with two awards in Portugal: "Prémio Ler+" (2018) and "Prémio Ana Maria Vieira de Almeida" (2023).

Email: bruna.fct.psi@qmail.com

Orcid: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4201-6719

Irene Cadime holds a PhD in Educational Psychology from the University of Minho. She is an Assistant Researcher at the Research Center on Child Studies at the Institute of Education of the University of Minho. She has coordinated and participated in projects focused on the development of oral and written language in children, with a particular emphasis on developing assessment measures and intervention programs. She has regularly published books, book chapters, and articles in national and international journals and has supervised master's dissertations and doctoral theses in this field. She is also a member of the editorial board of international scientific journals.

Email: irenecadime@ie.uminho.pt

Orcid: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8285-4824

Received: September 2024 Published: December 2024

child studies ○

N. 6, 2024

DIALOGUES BETWEEN PICTUREBOOKS FOR CHILDREN AND CHILDHOOD SCIENCES AND CULTURES

DIÁLOGOS ENTRE OS LIVROS ILUSTRADOS PARA CRIANÇAS E AS CIÊNCIAS E CULTURAS DA INFÂNCIA

Roberta Asse
Faculty of Philosophy, Letters and Social Sciences of the
University of São Paulo, Brazil

Abstract

This article presents reflections on the dialogue between contemporary children's literature and the conceptualisations about childhood investigated in the social sciences. The analytical readings of three picturebooks form the basis for these reflections along with, in the field of social sciences, the research works by Daniel Goldin, by David Buckingham and by Manuel Sarmento. Two of the picturebooks examined were selected during an academic internship in Portugal in 2022: O meu avô (2014), by Catarina Sobral, Andar por aí (2017), by Isabel Minhós Martins and Madalena Matoso. The Brazilian picturebook Inês (2015), by Roger Mello and Mariana Massarani, was included alongside the Portuguese titles. The selection criteria for the corpus focused on literary works that recognise young readers' comprehensive interpretative and creative skills. This material provides a contextualised critical framework to demonstrate a network of multidisciplinary formative agents engaged in creating and transforming plurisignificant artefacts in dialogue with child cultures.

Keywords: contemporary children's literature; social sciences of childhood; multidisciplinary approach; Portuguese and Brazilian contemporary picturebooks analysis

Resumo

Este artigo apresenta reflexões sobre o diálogo entre a literatura infantil contemporânea e as conceptualizações sobre as infâncias investigadas nas ciências sociais. As leituras analíticas de três livros-álbum constituem a base para estas reflexões, complementadas pela inter-relação com os trabalhos de investigação de Daniel Goldin, David Buckingham e Manuel Sarmento no domínio das ciências sociais. Dois dos livros-álbum examinados foram selecionados durante um estágio académico em Portugal em 2022: O meu avô (2014), de Catarina Sobral, e Andar por aí (2017), de Isabel Minhós Martins e Madalena Matoso. O livro-álbum brasileiro Inês (2015), de Roger Mello e Mariana Massarani, foi incluído ao lado dos títulos portugueses. Os critérios de seleção do corpus centraram-se em obras literárias que reconhecem as capacidades interpretativas e criativas dos jovens leitores. Este material proporciona um quadro crítico contextualizado para evidenciar uma rede de agentes formativos multidisciplinares envolvidos na criação e transformação de artefactos plurisignificativos em diálogo com as culturas infantis.

Palavras-chave: literatura infantil contemporânea; ciências sociais da infância; abordagem multidisciplinar; análise de livros ilustrados contemporâneos portugueses e brasileiros

Introduction

The child doesn't know less, the child knows something else.

Clarice Cohn (our translation)

We are facing the revolution that was missing, the revolution of the child!

Lydia Hortélio (our translation)

The notable effervescence of diverse currents of thought and movements emerging from various fields of knowledge has been evident, both in academic research and in empirical experiences, amplifying and representing the voices of occupation and recognition for contemporary childhoods. From this perspective, the child is regarded as an integrated and active agent within the social sphere, embracing specific knowledge and their own childhood cultures. This conception may be compared to that of researcher and literary critic Nelly Novaes Coelho:

It appears to be evident that the path to the invention/construction of the new order that shall come will pass through education, through the cultural/ethical/existential formation of the new generations. (...) There is a "silent revolution" on the way, we just need to pay attention to the research effervescence in all fields of knowledge or to step into the world of literature of the past and of today, and we will see that there is a new world view on the way (Coelho, 2012, p. 102 – our translation).

In fact, the perspective that a significant change is in progress, with dimensions that can generate "a new order and view of the world", also resonates in the social studies of childhood, especially in sociology and anthropology, the two areas that are pushing the borders in the disciplinary fields dominated by psychology, medicine and education sciences, to shape a fresher approach to theory, epistemology and methodology.

Under the social sciences' theoretical knowledge, childhood has been approached as a social category of generation type, whose essence is manifested through singular languages in which the imaginary and the understandings of the daily experience converge to create proper meanings. This child knowledge is manifested in the relation to the individual and the universal contexts, as well as in the production of cultures based on the relationship between children and adults, and among the children themselves. In this context:

Children have been increasingly considered for what they are, what they know, what they can do, for their competences, their ways to build culture, the way they create ideological systems, not necessarily coinciding with the adults'; children do that in the social world in the relations with the adults, and in the relations among themselves. This has been the great transformation of the past 25-35 years in how childhood is viewed: children are considered for the positivity of their own characteristics. (Sarmento, 2016, p. 7 – our translation).

Observing such revolutionary changes in the views of childhood, we also notice that most critics, attentive readers and researchers of children's literature agree on the presence of innovative books that propose literary experiences that can be multiplied in the contemporary scenario. In this collection of publications for children, these experiences spring from the resources that renew and expand languages in all compound elements of the codex and in the kinds of support for the stories. This multiplicity and expansion presuppose a reader who can create and re-create readings from these books.

Within the possible relations between these movements that, on one hand, involve the voices and the visions of childhood and, on the other, children's literature in motion, we raise the hypothesis about the existence of relevant implications and influences between the two and about the transforming effects that both have been showing.

Building on that hypothesis and recognising the historically established premise of the reciprocal interplay between the dominant conceptualisations of childhood and the cultural and literary productions for young audiences, this article

seeks to revisit and analyse the development of contemporary literature as a significant cultural manifestation that catalyses the emergence of new social and cultural paradigms.

Finally, we analyse contemporary Brazilian and Portuguese projects in the picturebook genre, primarily characterised by books in which the "narrative is articulated between text and images" (Van der Linden, 2011, p. 8 – our translation). In the concept of picturebooks as discussed in this article, the verbal and visual elements complement one another to form an integrated narrative and message, creating various layers of reading and interaction possibilities for readers to engage with and co-create. In Portugal, picturebooks are called "livros-álbum".¹

Such works incorporate a diverse repertoire of sensitive, scientific, and technological elements into their narratives, fostering the playfulness proposed by the particular and universal qualities of literature. This process of representing life, characters, feelings, and sensations through linguistic resources is as old as the book itself — historical and boundless — and has been updated in contemporary picturebooks, embracing the complexities of discoveries about childhood that some adults are willing to confront daily, while remaining open to the diversity of the children with whom we interact and the children we once were. These books invite dialogue, invention, play, and imagination, allowing readers to look between holes and pages, extend beyond the margins, conceal secrets, endure suffering, forgive, redeem, read invisible words, and engage with whatever comes along.

Based on these observations about the landscape of literary production for children and the foundational premises established, this article aims to offer a theoretical framework for the understanding of the above interdisciplinary flow, in which the arts have new roles and spaces in the new media, and in which children take on new roles within their social groups and in relation to themselves, often displaced due to the empty spaces left by the absent adults. Thus,

discourses that fundament the formation of readers (...) suppose that it is through reading that the transformation of people occurs. (...) they expect that, by being formed as such, readers amplify or modify their ability to establish relationships with themselves, with others and with institutions, and, therefore, even if collaterally, they help transform (or maintain) the social surroundings. (Goldin, 2006, p. 126 – our translation).

Literature and science, science and literature: the strengthening link and the enduring limit

To further the methodological theory foundation of this research, we selected the works by social scientists whose thoughts and views on contemporary childhoods and assumptions may re-signify readings as well as encourage

¹ Translator's Note: The terms *Livro ilustrado* is used in Brazil and *álbum* or *livro-álbum* is used in Portugal.

innovative and sensitive literary activities. Mexican publisher Daniel Goldin approaches the transformations of childhood conceptions in literature investigating it as a tool for the establishment of new relationships between children and adults. In his opinion, through its polyphonic and multiplied language, contemporary children's literature enables readers to re-create stories, and, by so doing, it offers readers rights and powers. In this liberated territory of language, it is possible to bring adults and children closer together, for they contribute with one another in the readings with their individual knowledge and an equivalent exchange of the reading experience. According to Goldin (2006, p.59 – our translation): "Children's literature is no longer a literature to listen to and acquit, it has become a literature that seeks or enables, in many ways, dialogues and the active participation of the children in the world."

Portuguese sociologist **Manuel Sarmento** sets the shift in the idea of childhood as a time of silence, of incapacities and of transition into the adult life – a mini adult, a blank to be filled, confined with no public life, incomplete and dependent – to a sociological view in which childhood is a social category of generation type, and children are active members of society, they are subjects of the institutions they belong to; they are social actors who have a different identity from the adults, children have their own way to give meaning to the world. According to Sarmento (2002, p. 3): "The order is about difference and not deficit when we talk about the child's imaginariness in comparison to the adult's." (our translation).

David Buckingham questions the view of childhood as exclusion, which, in his opinion, is the prevalent view, created by adults, and it may be observed in the way children have been represented in the media throughout time. He examines, for example, the ideas about childhood in the Golden Age of English Literature². Buckingham proposes that the same differences that segregate may be used to build new behaviours, in which adults and children take unprecedented positions in the face of new contexts, increasing possibilities in the context of electronic media:

The attempt to protect children restraining their access to the [electronic] media is destined to fail. The opposite must be done, we need to prepare them now to deal with this experience, and, by so doing, we must stop defining them simply in terms of what they lack. (Buckingham, 2000, p. 32 – our translation).

Daniel Goldin, Manuel Sarmento and David Buckingham take off from the common perception of childhood as a social construct: "The idea of childhood as a social construct is today commonplace in childhood history and sociology, and it is being gradually accepted even by psychologists." (Buckingham, 2000, p. 19 – our translation). These constructs vary significantly along history, as announced by Philippe Ariès (1960), also according to interests of the social, political and

57

² In reference to the books by Lewis Carroll, Edward Lear and J.M. Barrie, in the second half of the 19th century.

economic complex compounds of each time. Our investigation notices such crossings with literature, which, according to Sarmento³, has the property of "anticipating many of the questions that later will be tackled, worked on and examined by the sociological thought, which, in turn, will produce its own knowledge. (...) somehow, the sociological work has an anchoring function for what intuitions and insights produced by literature are, and transforms them into knowledge susceptible to proof and validation in theory and practice" (our translation).

The detailed analysis and evocations generated by the picturebooks discussed below, can illuminate, in a magical and timeless manner, the threads of connection between sciences and literature.

Through reinvented language

The picturebooks analysed in this work reveal through their multiple possible readings relevant comparative references that can be established by observing specific features of literary projects aligned with the perspectives of childhood discussed here, according to the theoretical view of the three selected authors: Goldin, Sarmento and Buckinham.

The works created within this context have been presented as productions engaged to a live movement for the creation of narratives that allow the plural participation of the creator-reader. This is one of the several connections that can be established between literature and the contemporary childhood views, as anthropologist Clarice Cohn stresses:

When culture is understood as a symbolic system, the idea that children are incorporating it as they gradually learn "things" should be reviewed. The point is not anymore just when and how culture is passed on in its artifacts, but how children formulate a meaning for the world that surrounds them. Therefore, the difference between children and adults is not quantitative, but qualitative; children do not know less, they know something else. (...) To anthropology, the point is not to know in which cognitive condition children create meanings and significations, but from which symbolic system they do so. (Cohn, 2005, p. 33 – our translation).

To understand and analyse the cross relations presented here so far and how they are applied to books, we selected two Portuguese titles and a Brazilian one. According to morphologic, syntactic and semantic characteristics present in these three titles, they are placed in the contemporary picturebook scene. They are:

³ The author of this article has interviewed Professor Manuel Sarmento in 2020.

- O meu avô⁴, by Catarina Sobral, Editora Orfeu Mini, 2014.
- Andar por aí⁵, by Isabel Minhós Martins and Madalena Matoso, Editora 34, 2017.
 - Inês, by Roger Mello and Mariana Massarani, Companhia das Letrinhas, 2015.

Both Portuguese titles are narrated in the first person and explore the theme of the child adult relationship, particularly the bond between grandson and grandfather. Before commencing our analysis, it is important to examine the social context surrounding these works.

"The new Portuguese children's literature"

For the latest decades, Portugal has had an intense literary production for children and young readers, and a significant number of published titles have been internationally acclaimed, especially the picturebooks. To name but a few authors in this new generation, we have Catarina Sobral, Isabel Minhós Martins, Ana Pessoa, Bernardo P. Carvalho and Joana Estrela, who have been translated into many languages and received international awards, as well as their Portuguese publishers, among which Planeta Tangerina was awarded the BOP (Bologna Prize for the Best Children's Publishers) at the Bologna Children's Book Fair, in 2013.

This flourishing may be seen as a consequence – or as an opportunity – of several factors linked to the country's social, political and economic contexts that converged at the end of Salazar's dictatorship, when in-school and at-home reading incentive policies were inaugurated. Among them, the PNL (Plano Nacional de Leitura⁶) of 2006 has been a clear factor in the book circulation growth.

According to José António Gomes, since 1974, the social and political changes in Portugal have had an overspread impact on culture; and for children's and young readers' literature, in particular, this impact has resulted in a significant growth, referred by the author as "the so-called boom in literature for young readers in Portugal". This kind of literary and artistic creation found then "the conditions to regain its breath, in an environment of freedom, and in a context where the number of works and the variety of productions directly or indirectly related to children's universe increased" (Ramos, 2019, p. 151 – our translation).

The democratic system also facilitated a departure from the didactic commitment that had previously been imposed on books, allowing for innovative experimentation in the realms of illustration and non-linear narratives. This shift

⁵ Walking around.

⁴ My grandfather.

⁶ Reading National Plan.

resulted in books created through the free expression of art. Similar movements occurred in other countries emerging from dictatorial regimes, including Brazil, where the effects of the re-democratization process are reflected in the productions published during this period, incorporating aesthetic and thematic references from democratic nations. It appears that it was after this experimentation, influenced by the international scene, that local groups devised new solutions and began to establish new national identities. Considering the resources of a playful nature applied to the making of the book, the examination of some titles published by Planeta Tangerina, Pato Lógico, Orfeu Mini and Bruáa, among others wisely run by multidisciplinary teams, evidences a similar playfulness in the field of language, as found, for example, in *Livro Clap*⁷ (2014), by Madalena Matoso, published in Portugal by Planeta Tangerina, and in Brazil by Companhia das Letrinhas, and in Daqui ninguém passa⁸ (2014), by Bernardo P. Carvalho and Isabel Minhós Martins, published in Portugal by Planeta Tangerina, and in Brazil by SESI; as well as open invitations for the creation of new meanings, as in Para onde vamos quando desaparecemos? (2011), by Isabel Minhós Martins and Madalena Matoso, published in Portugal by Planeta Tangerina, and in Brazil by Tordesilhinhas, and in Enguanto o meu cabelo crescia¹⁰ (2010), by Isabel Minhós Martins and Madalena Matoso, published in Portugal by Planeta Tangerina, and in Brazil by Editora Peirópolis¹¹.

To value increasingly complex proposals in terms of narrative structure and of interaction with the reader, with many erudite intertextual references, for example, is no obstacle to value their playful dimension. (Ramos, 2018, p. 157 – our translation).

As timeline connections are relevant in this study, it is worth noting that the innovative movement in Portuguese literary productions resulted from the progress of studies in social sciences and, consequently, the views of contemporary childhoods that started in the 1970s. Also in Brazil, the relation between literature and science may be considered one of the triggers for the growing sophistication of languages and the appreciation of children's voices in the book production in Portuguese.

Andar por aí e O meu avô: unfolding dialogues between children and adults

The focus of the analysis of the two Portuguese books selected is the literary device of "voice", intricately interwoven within the textual and visual narratives.

It is through this reading, in particular, that the relations between character and narrative building become powerful, with the views of childhood outlined as

⁷ Clap book.

⁸ No one crosses this line.

⁹ Where do we go when we disappear?

¹⁰ While my hair was growing.

¹¹ Translator's note: these titles have been translated in the footnotes for this article.

theoretical references for this work. It is relevant to mention that the richness of themes in these picturebooks and their layers of meanings and literacy have produced varied and profound analyses published by academic critics specialised in contemporary children's literature. Andar por aí, for instance, was one of the titles examined as a "picturebook that depicts a healthy relationship between a child and the urban space" (Ramos, 2023). It was also noted for its narrative from the point of view of time, in which play and subjectivity compose the city and its multiple symbolic faces, all seen and experienced by the child and the adult (Andrade, 2021). O meu avô was examined under the intertextuality perspective and the intergenerational relations readings, in parallel with the homonymous book by Manuela Bacelar (Silva, 2019). It was also analysed under the perspective of the relationship between text and image (Cardoso, 2017), one of the strongest points of this book, qualified for the International Illustration Award of the Bologna Children's Book Fair, 2014.

Considering the characteristics that are common in the two books analysed here:

- They are written in the first person singular; the narrator is a child character that tells the story shifting his viewpoint from observer to participant. Each boy leads us through a journey with their grandfathers, who are "hip" gentlemen, behave freely and affectionately towards their grandsons and are admired by them.
- Both works have the grandfather as the adult character, the partner in the relation narrated by the child character. These characters and their representations are in the scope of interest of this analysis because of how the generational question appears in the relationship between the child and the old man. One of the pillars of theory introduced by sociology is the view of childhood as a generation class, still seen within the spectrum of limitations by some adults. Such view may also be applied to the elderly, for whom alleged ability limitations can often be used to justify their exclusion from social activities. In the two books analysed here, child and elder drive these limitations away, they do not bother with nor accept them, thus offering themselves the freedom that other adults, represented by the mother and Mr. Sebastião, immersed in their duties and chores, fail in offering and in enjoying themselves. The care the grandfathers have for their grandsons is affection, not control, and their protection is assured by their presence. Affection and presence are given and received in an even mutual flow between the child and his elder. Everyone has the same hierarchical authority in looking after themselves and others.
- In the two narratives, besides the grandfather, there is another adult who works as a kind of counterpoint for the grandfathers' behaviour. In *O meu avô*, it is Mr. Sebastião, a very busy neighbour; and in Andar por aí, it is the boy's mother, who lives with them and is often mentioned by the narrator, but only appears in verbal form.

• The use of graphic elements and visual and linguistic techniques is clearly emphasized and frequently crafted in the picturebooks published by this generation of authors in Portugal: solid colours, characters represented in narrow perspective (representation in 2D), simple shapes and patterns, use of humour and of parallel narratives in details of the illustrations. These elements may contribute to diverse reading experiences, welcoming readers of varied cultures and ages, for it relies on what makes good story telling: simplicity.

Proceeding to the analysis of the characteristics in each work:



Image 1. cover of *Andar por aí* Source: Martins e Matoso, 2017.

The text in Andar por aí is a sequence of short phrases, with alternating and overlapping themes, that creates a rhythm resembling that of our thoughts when we receive sensorial stimuli in motion, which is the case of this story's thematic argument: a stroll around the town.

In Andar por aí, we observe the work with the eyes, the points of view and the voices of the child narrator through solutions created by authors who know what it is like to be in the shoes of a child, connecting contexts, moving points of view within a child's perspective and his/her multiple skills of perception and fabulation. This care and attention appear, for example, in the use of colours and patterns that create the ambience for hot, cold, rainy, etc. Also, in the size difference between the boy and his grandfather, and of the other characters and the urban equipment, according to their importance at a given moment in the stroll.

It is important to notice how the trust and care the boy and his grandfather have for each other is represented throughout their journey. It is highlighted by the use playful resources and it is free from the logic of reality: the book plays with proportions and the characters' presence on the page, creating a sensorial experience for the character and the reader during their stroll, suggesting and subverting fears, frights and the unknown.

In the first half of the book, the images show the boy and his grandfather very close to each other at times (in the linear sequence), or very far away, for example, with one on the top and the other at the bottom of the page, resulting in the suggestion of an adult who trusts the child and gives him autonomy while protecting the little one with his presence; the boy, in his turn, relies on his grampa's protection and walks ahead to explore the distractions on the way.

This relationship of trust offers opportunities for the boy-character to wonder, to observe and to experiment in his city. The feeling of autonomy and freedom can also be noticed in the variation of proportions: sometimes the boy is nearly the size of his grandfather or, as the pages are turned, the boy grows bigger and bigger. He is also manner, different feelings in relation to how he is inserted in the urban space or his gradual assimilation of a sense of belonging to that place and context where he is and where, in the text, he affirms his place for strolling, in walks of recognition and familiarity as well as new elements for discovery.

This movement of the characters on the graphic field of the pages has a peak in the doublespread in the middle of the book, where, for the first and only time, the protagonist appears on his own, involved in a game of following traces on the floor, as shown below:



Image 2. pages 20-21 in *Andar por aí* Source: Martins e Matoso, 2017.

In this doublespread, the grandfather is absent, but his body and presence are graphically suggested by the black lines that are also play material for the boy. That possible meanings of the black lines are suggested to the reader since the beginning of the story. The object the boy plays with on this doublespread may be the pavement, the neutral and tri-dimensional space, the book's open white paper that was written and drawn on, the endless drawing that overflows beyond the page

margin into the thin air surrounding the book, or any other place, into the real city. It is a significant toy-object with a non-utilitarian potential.



Image 3. cover of *O meu avô* Source: Sobral, 2014.

Right from the cover, *O meu avô* invites us to participate in the child's point of view, as the framing shows the pair boy-grandfather: the complete image of the child and only part of the adult, guessingly the grandfather. The boy is looking up at him, in his elegant stripped trousers, laced shoes and umbrella, making us curious about this adult.

We only meet the grandfather in person on page 6. Before that, we are introduced to a set of details represented by the overlapping of four solid colours of unusual combination. It is a meticulous portrait in loose details, a child's typical way of seeing. On equidistant settings on the doublespreads, with the child's eyes, we see the comparison between the grandfather's environment and Mr. Sebastião's. Here the narrator may be revealing what he knows and what he imagines about Mr. Sebastião's home. As we read on, we learn that Mr. Sebastião is the grandfather's neighbour, so, the boy may not know the place he is showing the reader.

Then, the next pages bring comparisons between the two adult characters, revealing both in the text and in the images these grown-ups' peculiarities with playful language, which we intuitively guess is the child's point of view.

From page 12 on, where the yellow colour is used for the first time, the text talks only about the grandfather, while the images still compare him to Mr. Sebastião on equidistant plates, inviting the reader to pay attention to the graphic details and relate them to the written text to continue the comparison game that leads us to the gradual introduction of these two grown-ups as pages are turned.



Image 4. pages 18-19 in O meu avô

Source: Sobral, 2014.

Going back to the point made earlier about the characters' features in response to the views of childhood in different periods, by observing the narratives in these two books as representatives of the contemporary production, it may be said that authors like Catarina Sobral, Isabel Minhós Martins and Roger Mello (whose book analysis is next) are transfiguring in their literatures a more balanced power relationship between child and adult characters, in stories that unfold without isolating the child or giving the adult a position of authority and control. If this is true, time and the readings will tell.

Retelling a literary myth in Inês: from ancestral orality to the place of the voice in children's narrative



Image 5. Cover of Inês

Source: Mello e Massarani, 2015.

Inês retells the story of Inês de Castro and Pedro I, king of Portugal between 1357-1367, as told by their daughter Beatriz, a child narrator. In the literary myth, Inês is killed in front of her children and crowned after her death.

This title's tour de force is the narrative voice given to a child character for her to retell a traditional story whose central themes are death, jealousy and treason – normally seen as adult matter according to common sense. The narrative told by the images is permeated by the children's points of view, here "the children's points of view" are considered, according to the languages that compose the book, the appropriation of an open look to the wide universe of the symbolic, the literal, the poetic and the philosophical, often shown without the filter of a previous determining repertoire, and with the freshness and the surprise of the encounter, the commotion and the emotional abundance of first experiences. We can look at the details, the voids, the silences, at what is said and what is meant.

In regard to the objective of this article, we raise two points in Inês that are approached in a peculiar manner by the authors, in tune with the co-author reader: a) the child's view has plenty of the non-linear poetic narrative, through which adults are looked at "without a bias"; b) the narrative perception and complementarity between word and image in the approach of difficult themes.



Image 6. pages 6-7 in *Inês* Source: Mello e Massarani, 2015.

"Quando eles se conheceram, / "When they met, eu andava escondida no meio de outras coisas. / I was hiding amid other things. Curva de brisa, alga vermelha, briga de passarinho. / A bend in the breeze, red algae, a bird

[bout.

Eu ainda não era uma vez." / I wasn't a once upon a time yet."

(our translation)

The text structure in first person singular uses dramatic and lyric resources, resulting in material and fantasy images that suit the space-time of a literary myth. With such lyric insertions, the narrator seems to lace herself as an inseparable part of the happenings that occurred before her birth. Thus, the layers of meaning

derived from the text are filled with an "affective tone that incorporates the events to the experience of an "I", who rhythmlessly incorporates the experiences to the free game of meanings, through which the language feedback about the self is operated". (Nunes, 2013, p. 10 – our translation).

It comes from the child narrator's voice the images and words that compose the material available to the reader, and this elaboration is innovative when the girl speaks about the adults. There is no place for preconceived or stigmatized values in her words, however, that does not mean that she is not aware of facts, for she is an empowered child who articulates her knowledge. To introduce inferences about her father, Pedro, the Prince of Portugal, she plays with words, suggesting nicknames that entitle her father:

```
"Pedro, o Desobediente" / Pedro, the Disobedient
```

[tower.

(our translation)

The author here uses this resource cannily, employing language as a play tool with which the narrator introduces a father with an unstable personality trying to adapt to the situations he is exposed to in his historical lifetime. With the nicknames, the narrator invites the reader to participate in a word game that sometimes evokes unexpected qualities for a father (or for a king), but they are softened by the playful tone of the game and of irony. This resource approaches Pedro to the imperfections of the human condition, with the fleeting behaviours revealed by his playful nicknames, but fully preserving the affection of the text. The narrator herself later confesses:

"Conheci muitos dos nomes do meu pai. / I knew many of my father's names.
Pedro, o Cruel. / Pedro, the Cruel.
Pedro, o Cru. / Pedro, the Raw.
Pedro isso. / Pedro this.
Pedro aquilo. / Pedro that.
Só Pedro." / Just Pedro.
(our translation)

The narrator comprehends the adults' roles and facts through affection and free observation, focused on the present time of each happening, associated with the poetic and linguistic game. This is unarguably one of the reasons that allow the retelling of a myth plenty of difficult themes with beauty and conversations

[&]quot;Pedro, o Confuso [...]" / Pedro, the Confused

[&]quot;Pedro, o Mentiroso, foi é encontrar Inês" / Pedro, the Liar, went and met Inês

[&]quot;Pedro, o Apressado, bateu em disparada." / Pedro, the Hasty, fled like a bird.

[&]quot;Até que Pedro, o Resoluto, alcançasse a torre." / Until Pedro, the Resolute, reached the

connected to childhood culture. This story is a re-creation of the literary myth of Inês de Castro, not as a distant historical event, but, seen with a fictional intimacy, built with the wisdom of children's understanding, which move from the awareness of reality and fantasy, entwined by poetry, play and affection. A childhood that is, at the same time, medieval and contemporary.

"Pedro, o Vingativo, acabou com o silêncio: / Pedro, the Vengeful, ended the silence: Desenterrem Inês!" / Unbury Inês!

(our translation)

The resource that was a joke a minute ago (Just Pedro), now reveals a key to the plot. The king's nickname reaches a higher level in his daughter's eyes:

"Pedro, o Justo." / Pedro, the Just.

(our translation)

The story moves on and we are on page 39, where the dead queen's hand-kissing ceremony is happening.



Image 7. pages 38-39 in *Inês* Source: Mello e Massarani, 2015.

We see a crowd. The expressions on each face vary from mourning tears to pious or fearful looks, some barely dare to raise their head, others are upset or maybe disgusted. Some have their eyes shut, for respect or in prayer. King Pedro is amid the crowd, watching the scene. The girl-narrator is integrated to her mother's body, she gently touches her mother's hair. The girl's eyes are closed and, together with the soft and tender caress, it looks like a final farewell. The image of this ritual, with the crowd and the leading characters, compose both a celebration of the queen and the loss of the mother.

The careful construction of the images softens but does not hide the presence of death in the scene. Inês and her death are crowned, on the throne. And not only is she dead, but time has also passed, and her body is a putrefying corpse, as the blue color on her face and hands shows us.

All these elements contribute to placate the harshness of this brutal and painful situation, without dissimulation or omission. The choice for graphic and textual elements that are open to the reader's participation and the diversity of interpretations may awake feelings of hope and redemption regarding the fact. What we see here regarding difficult or frustrating themes is the way contemporary authors and books take the stand to show they trust in children's skills and competence as readers and as people in constant construction, to know, to experience and to create identities or rejections, intertextualities, transpositions to reality or imagination, in reference to their own repertoire, or even readers who can sophisticate and add to reality gems of their playing and cultural background. This trust involving multidisciplinary knowledge and full artistic awareness, by considering life's complex unfoldings, is a tool to envision childhood according to the demands and transformations of our time. Buckingham invites us to prepare for and to participate in the use of this tool:

We cannot take the children back to the secret garden of childhood, nor find the magical key that will keep them locked inside its walls forever. Children are escaping to the big world of adults – a world full of dangers and opportunities where the electronic media have an increasing and important role. The era when we could expect to protect them from this world is coming to an end. We must have the courage to prepare them to deal with this world, to understand it and to become, by right, active participants. (Buckingham, 2000, p. 295 – our translation).

Final considerations

So far our investigation has allowed consonant and dissonant comparative approaches between the voices, views and thoughts about childhood and contemporary children's books in the light of the paradigm revolutions and transformations we have had in the past decades, especially in the fields of social sciences and literary production. We could document some ways to manifest narratives for children and to contribute with their testimony of an innovative amplification of experiences that a polyphonic literature for children may create in the future.

Through the methodology of comparative analysis (Carvalhal, 2006), both unfolding and cohesive, we selected works that weave the plot to the consolidation of the thesis about children's literature as a space for the artistic manifestations of multidisciplinary features. These manifestations are deeply linked to the perception of contemporary childhoods and their cultures, all capable of fully interacting with the books and re-create the stories.

In the light of these imbricated views, the comparative analyses of the selected titles for this article could show an overview of the recent production of picturebooks internationally acclaimed and in which we could verify the use of

morphologic, syntactic and semantic resources aligned with concepts of a participant child reader.

The three books examined here, as well as the context they fit into, are tuned to the concept of the invention space, as indicated by Daniel Goldin:

The children's literature that truly regards itself as literature, that is, as a liberated territory for language, allows not only the recollection of the past of each person in the etymological sense of the term re-cordis, "to pass through the heart": it allows to open a space for the child to invent, or, at least, to make an enlarged freedom possible to build a world that bans violence, that establishes a greater balance among the potencies of power. (Goldin, 2006, p. 85 – our translation).

Inspiring or generating, to hear the self or the other has always been the fuel of literary writing. To observe, learn and read with children is a political attitude and a connection between social groups with equivalent importance in the social fabric, in all its diversity. What books and literary experiences shall spring from this proposal? We can see here some charming answers in surprising formats, linked to the sensitive, playful and attentive skills of some adults that, aligned with children's cultures, can create and expand realities from what is given. These books shine with the magic of an open window, they offer a cruise in the wind across realities and imaginations. A strong wind that sustains a round flight. Books that participate in the formation of the readers of worlds, not only of books.

May the new views and developments come! Let's share Roger Bastide's call in the preface of *As trocinhas do Bom Retiro*¹²: "We need to multiply this kind of research. Let's be fearless in the illumination of a science by another science", with the belief that literature can manipulate magical formulas for growth, so that more children may become adults that do not harm one another so badly.

We close this article with the call for hope by Ana Maria Machado, in the preface for *Os dias e os livros*¹³, by Daniel Goldin:

Children's contemporary literature has been observed in what concerns the re-creation by the reader, for language is neither unambiguous nor transparent, and so gives rights and powers to those who read it. This potential dialogue between children and adults through children's literature represents hope. As any other cultural creation, it can offer a redefinition for their relationship, from a liberated territory for language, with a power redistribution that is no longer based on the authoritarianism of the adults. (Goldin, 2012, p. 77 – our translation).

¹² The little jokes of Bom Retiro.

¹³ The days and the books.

Contributing to the study of children's literature and its possible relationships with other arts and areas of knowledge is to understand that literature is a movement that unfolds a universe beyond its pages. This study demonstrates and celebrates an era in which children's literature and the phenomenon of the picturebook constitute a true manifesto of excellence, grounded in free social, historical, and political thought, while contributing affectively, artistically, and technologically to the development of individuals and childhoods filled with enchantment and a more fulfilling existence, in connection with the world and with others.

References

- Agamben, G. (2005) Infância e história: destruição da experiência e origem da história. Trad. Henrique Burigo. Belo Horizonte, Editora UFMG.
- Andrade, J. P. Z. (2021). A trama do tempo no álbum ilustrado: movimento, pluralidade e subjetividade no Planeta Tangerina. https://hdl.handle.net/10316/95453. Acesso em: 10 out. 2024.
- Ariès, P. (1960). História social da criança e da família. Trad. Dora Flaksman. Rio de Janeiro, Guanabara.
- Buckingham, D. (2000). Crescer na era das mídias eletrônicas. Trad. Gilka Girardello e Isabel Orofino. São Paulo, Loyola.
- Cardoso, D. M. (2017). A relação texto e imagem na criação do livro-álbum: o caso de Catarina Sobral. Dissertação de Mestrado, Universidade de Aveiro, Aveiro, Portugal. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses.
- Carvalhal, T. F. (2006). Literatura comparada. São Paulo, Ática.
- Chevalier, J., & Gheerbrant, A. (2017). Dicionário de símbolos. Trad. Vera da Costa e Silva et al. Rio de Janeiro, José Olympio.
- Cohn, C. (2005). Antropologia da criança. Rio de Janeiro, Jorge Zahar.
- Cunha, M. Z. (2009). Na tessitura dos signos contemporâneos: novos olhares para a literatura infantil e juvenil. São Paulo, Paulinas: Humanitas.
- Fernandes, F. [1946]. As Trocinhas do Bom Retiro: contribuição ao estudo folclórico e sociológico dos grupos infantis". In: Fernandes, Florestan. Folclore e mudança social na cidade de São Paulo. 2 ed. Petrópolis: Vozes, 1979.
- Friedmann, A. (2013). Linguagens e culturas infantis. São Paulo, Cortez.
- Goldin, D. (2012). Os dias e os livros: divagações sobre a hospitalidade da leitura. São Paulo, Pulo do Gato.

- Hortélio, L. (2019). Ocupação Lydia Hortélio. YouTube, 15 de julho de 2019. Disponível em: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rXB-juD3Qtbc. Acesso em: 03 de setembro de 2019.
- Hortélio, L. (2016). Criança, natureza, cultura infantil. Disponível em: http://www.memoriasdofuturo.com.br/admin/arquivos/arq_2_128.pdf. Acesso em: 13 de janeiro de 2023.
- Huizinga, Johan. (2001). Homo ludens: o jogo como elemento da cultura. Trad. João Paulo Monteiro e Newton Cunha. São Paulo, Perspectiva.
- Hunt, P. (2010). Crítica, teoria e literatura infantil. Trad. Cid Knipel. São Paulo, Cosac Naify.
- Nikolajeva, M., & Scott, C. (2011). Livro ilustrado: palavras e imagens. Trad. Cid Knipel. São Paulo, Cosac Naify.
- Nitrini, S. (2010). Literatura comparada: história, teoria e crítica. São Paulo: EDUSP.
- Nunes, B. (2013). O tempo na narrativa. São Paulo, Loyola.
- Pereira, M. A. (2019). Brincar: uma linguagem de conhecimento. A Casa Redonda, 2016. Disponível em: https://acasaredonda.com.br/artigos/artigo-de-teste. Acesso em: 27 de agosto de 2019.
- Ramos, A. M. Innovation and Experimentation in Portuguese Picturebooks. Conferência Centrum Badań Literatury dla Dzieci i Młodzieży. Universidade de Wrocław. 18 out. 2021.
- Ramos, A. M. (2018). Desafios da leitura do livro ilustrado pós-moderno: formar melhores leitores cada vez mais cedo. Revista ROALE Sede de Ler. UFF, Ano 5, n.5, set. 2018.
- Ramos, A. M. (2015). 6x6: um balanço da literatura infantil portuguesa contemporânea. Revista de Lenguas y Literaturas Catalana, Gallega y Vasca, no 20, pp. 211-222. CIDTFF Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal.
- Ramos, A. M., & Mattos, M. S. (2019). Viagens à volta do mundo: uma proposta de leitura entre Portugal e Brasil para a promoção da interculturalidade. Metamorfoses, Rio de Janeiro, vol. 15, número 2, p. 155-174.
- Ramos, A. M. (2023). The city as metaphor: constructing space meaning. Strenæ, 23. http://journals.openedition.org/strenae/10418. Acesso https://doi.org/10.4000/strenae.10418.

- Sarmento, M. J. (2016). Entrevista: Retrato em Positivo. In: Mapa da Infância Brasileira (Pub), Quem Está na Escuta: Diálogos, Reflexões e Tocas com Especialistas que dão Vez e Voz às Crianças. São Paulo, Blucker.
- Sarmento, M. J. (2023). De olho no plano São Paulo. YouTube, 2011. Disponível em https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=v8yUzVy_IcY. Acesso em: 13 de janeiro de 2023.
- Sarmento, M. J. (2012). Culturas infantis e interculturalidade. In: Produzindo pedagogias interculturais na infância. Petrópolis, Vozes.
- Sarmento, M. J. (2002). Imaginário e culturas da infância. Centro de Estudos da Criança. Universidade do Minho. Braga, Portugal.
- Silva, S. R. R. da. (2019). O meu avô, de Manuela Bacelar, e o meu avô, de Catarina Sobral: dois álbuns para a infância, dois álbuns para todos. Tropelias & Companhia.
- Van Der Linden, S. (2011). Para ler o livro ilustrado. Trad. Dorothee de Bruchard. São Paulo: Cosac Naify.

LITERARY WORKS

- Camões, L. (1980). Os Lusíadas. Rio de Janeiro: Biblioteca do Exército.
- Martins, I. M., & Matoso, M. (2017). Andar por aí. São Paulo, Editora 34.
- Martins, I. M., & Matoso, M. (2010). Enquanto meu cabelo crescia. Lisboa, Planeta Tangerina.
- Martins, I. M., & Matoso, M. (2011). Para onde vamos quando desaparecemos? Lisboa, Planeta Tangerina.
- Martins, I. M., & Carvalho, B. P. (2014). Daqui ninguém passa. Lisboa, Planeta Tangerina.
- Mello, R., & Massarini, (2015). M. Inês. São Paulo, Companhia das Letrinhas.
- Matoso, M. (2014). Livro Clap. Lisboa: Planeta Tangerina.
- Sobral, Catarina. (2014). O meu avô. Lisboa: Orfeu Negro.

Bionote

Roberta Asse is a Brazilian researcher of childhood cultures, author and book illustrator. Graduated in architecture from Universidade de São Paulo (USP). Graphic designer, participated in and created award-winning projects in digital and printed media. Master's degree from the Faculdade de Letras at USP.

Email: roberta.asse@yahoo.com

ORCID: https://orcid.org/0009-0006-9402-280X

Received: September 2024 Published: December 2024

• child studies O

N. 6, 2024

PLAYING AND MATHEMATICS: PERCEPTIONS OF CHILDREN FROM A PUBLIC SCHOOL

O Brincar e a Matemática: perceções de crianças de uma escola pública

Tamyris Caroline da Silva Federal University of Paraná, Brazil

Tânia Teresinha Bruns Zimer Federal University of Paraná, Brazil

Abstract

The aim of this study is to explore the perspectives of Year 5 children from a state school in the municipality of Curitiba, Paraná, Brazil, on the connection between play and Mathematics. The research focuses on analysing drawings and photographs created by the children, which reflect their experiences in the classroom and their connection with mathematical concepts. The information obtained through observations, drawings, photographic records, and dialogues with the participants reveals that, although the children are able to associate mathematics with play and the respective spaces, their representations of ideal mathematics classes are still rooted in traditional practices, far removed from playfulness. This gap indicates the need for a more effective integration of play and mathematics teaching, aiming to make learning more meaningful and engaging for children.

Keywords: children's perceptions, play, mathematics, early grades

Resumo

Este estudo qualitativo tem como objetivo explorar as perspetivas de crianças do 5.º ano do Ensino Fundamental de uma escola pública do município de Curitiba-Paraná, Brasil sobre a articulação entre o brincar e a Matemática. A pesquisa fundamenta-se na análise de desenhos e fotografias realizadas pelas crianças, que

refletem suas experiências em sala de aula e sua conexão com conceitos matemáticos. As informações obtidas por meio de observações, desenhos, registros fotográficos e diálogos com as participantes revelam que, embora as crianças sejam capazes de associar a Matemática ao brincar e aos respectivos espaços, suas representações de aulas de Matemática ainda se baseiam em práticas tradicionais, distantes da ludicidade. Essa lacuna indica a necessidade de uma articulação mais eficaz entre o brincar e o ensino da Matemática, visando tornar o aprendizado mais significativo e engajador para as crianças.

Palavras-chave: perceções de crianças, brincar, matemática, primeiros anos

Introduction

Why is it that as the school segments advance, the spaces and times for play are reduced and children stop being children and become pupils? (Borba, 2007, p. 33).

By starting this article with this quote from Ângela Meyer Borba about the reduction of spaces and times for play as children progress through the different school segments, the intention is to make a reflection that instigates changes in the way the teaching and learning process is handled with primary school children, implying the loss of essential elements of childhood, such as play, especially in its relationship with maths. In the contemporary educational scenario, Mathematics Education has been searching for innovative and effective strategies that arouse children's interest and participation (Nacarato & Custódio, 2018; Muniz, 2016). In this context, play is highlighted in this text, especially in the early years of primary school.

According to Muniz (2016), there is a need for in-depth and well-founded discussion about the different meanings of the theoretical and practical relationships between play and learning maths in order to overcome limitations in integrating the play aspect with the subject. These limitations imply that games are used in two different situations: during the teaching process, as playful activities to motivate children, or after learning has been completed, as exercises to reinforce previously acquired knowledge.

In this direction, Spodek and Saracho (1998) explored the possibility of expanding this vision, considering that play can play a central role in the construction of mathematical knowledge, promoting learning that is more meaningful and integrated into children's experience. Spodek and Saracho's (1998) proposal goes beyond the instrumental use of play, as it argues that play should be seen as an integral and continuous part of the teaching process, and not just as a complementary resource.

With this in mind, the aim of this text, which is part of a doctoral research project from the Postgraduate Programme in Science and Mathematics Education (PPGECM) at the Federal University of Paraná, is to explore the contribution of play and its relationship with mathematics, based on the perspectives of children in a 5th-grade class at a public school in the municipality of Curitiba, Paraná, Brazil.

From this perspective, it becomes essential to deepen the theoretical discussion that underpins the relationship between play and mathematics, aiming to understand how play can foster meaningful experiences for children. In this sense, the adopted theoretical framework seeks to support the analysis of children's perceptions regarding this practice, highlighting the role of play as an essential dimension for contextualized, creative, and engaging learning within the school context.

Theoretical Framework

Discussing play necessarily implies addressing conceptions of children and childhood, because play is a fundamental dimension of children's lives, intrinsic to their development, expression and construction of knowledge. It is an activity that involves the active subject and is directly related to their mental and emotional representations. Recognising the importance of play in childhood highlights experiences that respect and meet children's needs, enabling them to explore, experiment and develop fully.

Children have always been present in society in their various forms, existing in multiple realities and being seen in different ways throughout history, as Sarmento and Pinto (1997) point out. Childhood, as a social construction, was consolidated especially in the 17th and 18th centuries, when social representations, beliefs and socialisation and control devices emerged that established childhood as a social category of its own.

However, Sarmento and Pinto (1997) emphasise that, in contemporary conditions, a paradox persists in relation to the way children are considered by adult society. It can be seen that the smaller the presence of children in the population, the greater the value placed on them. This phenomenon, attributed to increased life expectancy and falling fertility rates, especially in Western contexts, highlights the centrality of childhood in today's society (Sarmento & Pinto, 1997).

The paradox with which children are viewed in the adult world also manifests itself in the school institution, as Sarmento and Pinto (1997) point out. Children are, on the one hand, encouraged to behave like children, but, paradoxically, their childish attitudes are often criticised. They are expected to play when they are allowed to, but it is not understood why they don't stop playing when they are asked to. In the early years of primary school, this paradox intensifies, as children are encouraged to develop their cognitive, social and emotional skills in an exploratory and playful way. However, they simultaneously face pressure for academic performance and the expectation of behaviour closer to adult standards.

Historically, the perception of children has often confused them with 'miniadults', being seen as reduced reproductions of adults, both in terms of dress and habits, as analysed by Ariès (1981). At other times, children were also seen as a form of entertainment, exhibiting behaviour seen as graceful for the amusement of adults, in a relationship that equated them with small domestic animals such as dogs, highlighting a view that oscillated between the playful and the instrumental.

However, according to the perspective of the Sociology of Childhood proposed by Sarmento and Pinto (1997), children are seen as full social actors, which recognises their ability to create symbolism and construct representations and beliefs within organised systems, in other words, in different cultures. With the intention of investigating the contribution of play and its connection to maths from the children's point of view, the following section will be supported by reflections based on assumptions from contemporary theories and studies.

To deepen the discussion, it is crucial to consider the tensions between children's perspectives and the organizational structures of schools. While play is valued as an essential dimension of child development, it faces limitations imposed by school norms and practices. In this context, the next section explores the challenges and possibilities of this intersection, highlighting how play, even amidst institutional constraints, can pave the way for more meaningful mathematical experiences that are connected to children's realities.

Conflicts and Possibilities: The Intersection of Play and Mathematics

The practice of play within institutionalised spaces faces challenges, given that educational institutions operate with established norms and set timetables. In addition, it is adults who shape the proposals and organise the environment, which does not always result in a correspondence between the children's intentions and desires and the opportunities offered by adults.

It can be seen that the transition to primary school follows the logic of pedagogical tradition. As emphasised by Borba (2007), there is a predominant perception that, on entering primary school, children should adopt a more serious attitude, focusing on attention and relegating play to second place. In this context, Gilles Brougère (2017) argues that play is learning in itself, and that children learn to play. This act is essentially social, as it allows the child to interact with others. During play, what is really learnt is the dynamics of play itself, which is extremely significant.

The link between play and maths has been a topic of debate and reflection in the educational field. Researchers and teachers recognise the importance of exploring the potential of play as an effective pedagogical approach to teaching mathematics. However, it can be seen that, for the early years of primary school, this possibility still lacks more in-depth exploration and realisation.

Play offers children a playful experience, and this experience must not be compromised by institutional dynamics when trying to introduce school learning into something that is intrinsically the children, as it is essential to respect and preserve the space for children's play. By imposing pedagogical objectives on play, there is a risk of corrupting its essence, transforming it into what Brougère (2017) calls a distortion that distorts play from its ludic nature.

The author analyses play as a cultural phenomenon and explores its relationship with the child. Brougère (2017) explains that play culture is linked to play schemes, which combine social observation, play habits and material resources. Children build their own play culture through participation in play, influenced by the material and social conditions that surround them. This playful construction is not limited to the social sphere, but can also be applied to the educational context, especially in learning maths.

From this perspective, Maths can overcome the notion of being abstract and distant, becoming an opportunity to explore, experiment and experience Maths in a meaningful way. By developing new learning and potential, children have the chance to broaden their horizons and their mathematical skills, strengthening their confidence and self-esteem in the process.

According to Nacarato and Custódio (2018), play associated with the process of teaching and learning mathematics represents a specific way of systematising the diverse knowledge that children acquire through their daily interactions with their peers, especially in the context of the adult world. In this sense, the authors emphasise that play plays a crucial role in the construction of knowledge, while at the same time offering an understanding of the society in which the child is inserted and its cultural relations. 'Children are movement, and as they play and move, they recreate and rethink the events around them, developing practices of respect for others, ethics, as well as cognitive and motor skills' (NACARATO & CUSTÓDIO, 2018, p. 30). The authors also emphasise that by taking part in play, children establish bonds, understand their limitations and face challenges.

Spodek and Saracho (1998) address the connection between play and the promotion of playful learning in maths teaching. The authors argue that dramatic play offers an enriching opportunity because, by simulating situations such as a shop, restaurant or market, children can practise skills such as counting, weighing goods and organising objects according to the number of customers, allowing them to explore concepts related to the monetary system (Spodek & Saracho, 1998). Play creates roles and social relationships (Nacarato & Custódio, 2018; Spodek & Saracho, 1998), which is important for children as it allows them to test hypotheses, express themselves, negotiate different social situations and learn to work with their peers. Spodek and Saracho (1998) also mention motor play, which can take place both in open outdoor spaces and in classrooms.

To facilitate motor play, it is essential to provide materials such as ropes, balls, balance beams, sandboxes and hopscotch drawings on the floor. However, as pointed out by Muniz (2016) and Spodek and Saracho (1998), the role of the teacher

is crucial, as they have the ability to guide children in improving their play, dedicating time and attention. Teachers can adapt outdoor activities according to local weather conditions.

It is important to emphasise that the presence of play in the school environment is not enough if it remains an exclusive activity for children, without the participation of teachers. For play to be truly enriching, the teacher must be actively involved in the experience, acting as a partner who plays together. In this way, they can provoke and explore new possibilities, ensuring that play retains its authenticity and continues to provide a space for creativity and genuine learning.

Play must be recognised as a creative expression of the child, and the teacher must be careful not to appropriate this practice in order to meet specific targets set by the curriculum. Otherwise, there is a risk of jeopardising the essence of play, distorting its true meaning.

It can therefore be seen that teacher training focused on the theme of play in maths teaching is fundamental to providing teachers with both the theoretical basis and the practices needed to guide children in exploring mathematical concepts through their play. In this way, teachers can facilitate discussions about play within the context of mathematical learning.

Differentiating Play and Games

To substantiate the feasibility of play in mathematics classes, particularly in the early years of primary education, it is essential to go beyond a superficial understanding that associates the use of games and playful activities with merely restoring enjoyment in school activities. The aim is to encourage the reader to perceive mathematical learning as an integral part of children's play.

It is important to highlight the need to differentiate the concepts of game and play, as the Portuguese language allows for this distinction in terms of meaning. According to Muniz (2016), there is considerable confusion caused by the indiscriminate use of the terms brincar (to play) and jogar (to game), along with the polysemy associated with these words. The authors assert that this lack of clarity often hinders an adequate understanding of the new and valuable opportunities to integrate games and playful activities into formal educational settings, especially in curricula.

In this perspective, Muniz (2016) clarifies that play is intrinsically linked to the pleasure that children experience while engaging in the activity. Children have the freedom to enter, exit, and modify the activity, including alterations to the rules. In contrast, a game, as per Muniz (2016), operates with a set of predefined rules, where flexibility to change the rules and freedom to participate or leave are restricted. The Dutch historian and linguist Johan Huizinga emphasizes that rules play a fundamental role in defining a game, which is a space where civilization emerges and develops. Each game, with its specific rules, establishes what is considered valid

within its temporary context. These rules are absolute and do not allow for discussion (Huizinga, 2000).

It is important to note that what is often called a game in the Mathematics classroom is not always truly playful for children, as it lacks essential elements that ensure the enjoyment of the activity. According to Muniz, the playful dimension does not lie in the people who create, develop, implement, and control the activity, but rather in the perspective of the player themselves, that is, in the view of the child or young person experiencing the activity (Muniz, 2016).

After defining the distinctions between playing and playing, the text proceeds to describe the methodology employed in the study, elucidating the selected methods to investigate the contribution of play and its relationship with Mathematics from the perspectives of children in a fifth-grade class at a public school.

Methodology

The methodological approach of this research was guided by principles of the qualitative approach, which, according to Garnica (2010), acknowledges the dynamic and provisional nature of results, rejects the formulation of prior hypotheses, and recognizes the researcher's influence in the interpretive process. In this context, the researcher, while interpreting the data, inevitably incorporates their perspectives and prior experiences. Furthermore, it is understood that the process of constructing understandings is not fixed but continuous and subject to constant reformulation. Finally, it is acknowledged that systematic procedures cannot be rigidly regulated due to the inherent complexity and flexibility of the qualitative approach.

In the Brazilian context, there has been an effort to consolidate a view of the child as a citizen, a creative subject, a social individual, and a producer of culture and history (Kramer, 2002). In this sense, the present research aimed to explore children's perspectives on the theme of play and its relationship with Mathematics, selecting approaches and instruments that would allow for the gathering of information and capture the various forms of children's expression. The investigation, therefore, utilized a variety of methods to understand children's perspectives on play and its connection to Mathematics teaching. The chosen methods allowed access to the children's perceptions through written, visual, and verbal records, addressing the complexity of the object of study.

The investigation, therefore, employed a variety of methods to understand children's perspectives on play and its connection with Mathematics teaching. The instruments were selected based on their ability to capture the multiplicity of forms of children's expression, as suggested by Zabalza (2004), Flores (2015), and Gaskell (2004). Participant observations were conducted and documented in a field diary, focusing on the use of space, pedagogical planning, and the interactions between

children and the teacher during Mathematics lessons. The children also created drawings to represent what they consider an engaging Mathematics experience.

Photographic records were instrumental in identifying the relationship between Mathematics and play within the school environment. Group interviews were conducted to gather more detailed insights from the children about the constructed information. The choice of multiple research instruments, such as the field diary (Zabalza, 2004), drawings and photographs (Flores, 2015), and group interviews (Gaskell, 2004), aimed to encompass various forms of children's expression and capture the complexity of their experiences.

The selected instruments interacted with each other, fostering a triangulated approach where the information obtained complemented one another. Observations provided context for the children's interactions within the school environment; drawings and photographs highlighted their visual and narrative perceptions; and interviews deepened these perceptions through collective reflections and discussions.

Field of research

The choice of research site took into account aspects that would enable an indepth analysis of the subject and the achievement of the objectives, always with an ethical commitment. It was therefore decided to choose a class in the early years of primary school in a public school, ensuring that the external researcher would be well received, without giving preference to teachers who already valued play in maths lessons. Initial contact was made with professionals from public schools in Curitiba. A teacher trainer, who worked in teacher training between 2018 and 2020 and returned to the classroom in 2021, agreed to carry out the research in her 5th grade class at the school where she teaches, located in the Tatuquara neighbourhood. The choice of this teacher also took into account her experience with diverse pedagogical practices, which contributed to the richness of the collected data.

Observing the Curitiba Municipal School, where the research was carried out, initially drew attention to its location on one of the main avenues in the Tatuquara neighbourhood. Nearby there is a Children's Education Centre, a Family Store, a church of the Christian Congregation in Brazil and other commercial establishments. The school has a large outdoor area, a spacious gymnasium and gates that delimit the educational environment.

Children who participated in the research

At the Curitiba Municipal School, a 5th grade class was selected for the research, involving 32 children. Although the proposed activities were carried out with the whole class to avoid embarrassment, 24 children provided the necessary authorisations to take part. The criterion for selecting the class was to ensure a

diversity of perceptions and experiences representative of the public-school context in Curitiba.

Weaving the information: drawings, photographs and interviews

Twelve visits were made during the field research in 2022. Six visits were dedicated to activities with the children, such as making drawings, photographs and interviews. One day was set aside for a conversation with the school's management team and a presentation of the research, inviting the children to take part. Four days were spent observing the 5th grade class and one day was dedicated to giving feedback on the first stage of the research. The class teacher supported this approach, as the children showed curiosity and shared their doubts with their families.

The participant observations were guided by pre-defined categories, such as interactions between children and the teacher, use of school spaces, and pedagogical practices related to Mathematics. These records, detailed in the field diary, were later analysed to identify patterns and emerging aspects.

During the interactions, the children asked questions about costs and additional materials. After the research presentation, classroom observations were carried out and recorded in the field diary. During the visits to the school, the children played the Dixit game to raise awareness and contemplate the images. The Dixit game, launched in 2008, provides an experience of reading and interpreting the cards, allowing reflection on the objects represented. The Dixit game was used to familiarise the children, and in subsequent interviews, the game cards were extended to include children's drawings and photographs, promoting dialogue and reflection during the group interviews.

During the field research, the field diary was used to record observations. On the first day, the teacher invited two children to introduce the school and accompany her during recess. She chose to record her observations when she returned from the field, focussing on the most striking aspects. When something caught her eye, she recorded it immediately. The diary included sounds, perceptions and emotions from the observations and the journey to the field, documenting the researcher's impressions and reflections.

Before the drawings were made, the children were sensitised to works of art by Candido Portinari, Edgar Degas and Pablo Picasso. After the awareness-raising, the children took part in an activity to answer what is needed for a good maths lesson, proposed by means of a story adapted from Cruz (2008). The story served to engage the children and arouse their curiosity, encouraging them to reflect on the important elements for an interesting and fruitful lesson. The aim was to create a relaxed and stimulating environment where the children could express their ideas freely, promoting an open dialogue about their perceptions of maths lessons.

The children had two lessons to draw their pictures individually, ensuring time and calm. Everyone took part, but only the drawings of the authorised children were used in the research. On another visit, there was a moment of sensitisation with photographs by Henri Cartier-Bresson to discuss framing. The children, organised in pairs, talked about what to record and made their photographic records.

Digital cameras and written records were distributed so that the children could write captions for the photos, answering two questions: 'What do you most like to do at school?' and 'Where is maths for you?'. The children were free to choose which areas of the school they wanted to photograph, and the staff were informed about the movement.

After the drawing and photography activities, interviews were organised with the participating children. Drawings, photographs and the Dixit game were used to stimulate ideas and discussions. The interviews took place in the library, with the children arranged around a round table. Only children with authorisation took part, and a voice recorder was used. The children were organised into small groups to discuss the information obtained from the research. The Dixit game was used to animate the debate, using the children's drawings and photographs as extension cards. Seven groups were formed, ranging from two to four children per group, depending on their presence on the days of the interviews.

One of the ethical processes of the research is feedback, where different materials are planned to present the results to the participants, such as the children and the school management. In December 2022, a meeting was proposed with the 5th grade class to present some preliminary results from the first stage of the research. The meeting began with a discussion about research involving children, using the books 'Childhood in the eyes of the child' and 'The house of stars'. The children had access to these books and to an exhibition of drawings and photographs, suggested by some of the children in the class. There was also a feedback session for the school management, with a talk and presentation of the information constructed by the children.

The triangulation of information obtained through drawings, photographs, and interviews enabled a rich and integrated analysis, connecting the multiple dimensions of children's experiences with play and Mathematics.

Results and discussion

In this context, an analysis was carried out based on Gaskell (2004), who explains that the aim of analysis is to seek meaning and understanding. Considering that what is said constitutes the information, but that analysis goes beyond accepting the apparent value. For the author, analysis seeks to identify themes with common content. Essentially, the author agrees that the moment of analysis and interpretation requires time and effort, which implies the researcher's own immersion in the corpus of the text. As Gaskell (2004) recommends, the interviews

were fully transcribed, marked up, annotated, concordance identified in the context of the words, as well as thematically analysed.

The analysis of the drawings was inspired by the construction of the affective map, according to Bomfim (2010) and Röder (2018), considering the structure of the drawing, which describes the image observed; the interpretation, which reveals what the creator intended to represent; the meaning, which exposes the sense attributed by the subject to their drawing, providing an understanding of the perception of play in maths lessons; the quality, related to the attributes that connect play to maths lessons; and the sense, the interpretation made by the researcher based on the metaphors present, without imposing external meanings on the teachers' representations.

To help analyse the visual materials, the work was also based on Loizos (2004), who is concerned with the use of photographs as qualitative research methods. For the author, the image is a potential record of temporal actions and real events. Loizos (2004) considers that photography can serve as a trigger to evoke memories of people that an interview would not be able to address. Thus, images can facilitate the construction and sharing of information, allowing the researcher and interviewee to discuss in a more relaxed manner than without a visual stimulus (LOIZOS, 2004, p. 143).

The empirical data reveal that children perceive play as an opportunity for movement, social interaction, and discovery. These characteristics align with the literature advocating for the integration of playful practices into Mathematics education, as highlighted by Borba (2007) and Nacarato and Custódio (2018). These authors emphasize that Mathematics, when experienced in meaningful contexts, can become a field of active and engaging exploration, contrasting with exclusively traditional approaches.

Children's Perceptions: Connections with Everyday Life

It is emphasized that, in total, the research listened to 7 groups, composed of five children during the group interviews; however, since this text refers to a specific subset of the research, only the information gathered from the first group, which participated in the proposed activities and had the recordings transcribed and analyzed, is considered for the present analysis.

The photographic records from the children in the first group revealed interesting choices regarding the school spaces. Places such as the playground and the sports court were selected to represent the areas they liked the most within the institution, symbolizing environments of movement and relaxation, where play frequently occurs. The choice of these spaces, where children can be more connected, aligns with the literature that emphasizes the importance of considering school environments to enhance learning. Authors such as Borba (2007) and Nacarato and Custódio (2018) discuss the relevance of exploring Mathematics and

play outside the classroom, as this way, children have the opportunity to play and explore Mathematics in a contextualized manner.

The present research investigated children's perceptions of the relationship between play and Mathematics, revealing that children associate the subject with spaces for movement and relaxation, such as the sports court. These environments, where they feel more at ease, are fundamental for building meaningful and contextualized experiences in Mathematics. This choice by the children aligns with studies that emphasize the importance of environments that promote interaction and playful exploration.

The information obtained indicates that children not only recognize Mathematics in formal contexts but also experience it in their daily activities. The identification of mathematical elements in play, such as quantifying and measuring distances on the court, demonstrates that Mathematics is perceived as an integral part of their daily experiences. This perspective is supported by Nacarato and Custódio (2018), who argue that play, in the teaching and learning process, represents an effective way to relate the knowledge constructed by children in their social interactions. However, the research also revealed a difficulty among the children in identifying places in the school where Mathematics is present, as recorded in the field diary.

Today, while observing the photography activity, I realised that the groups had difficulties identifying places in the school that could be related to mathematics. As they walked along the corridors, they questioned each other, trying to find connections. 'Is there maths here?' one asked, while another analysed the surrounding space, looking for references. The interaction between them was rich, but the hesitancy to recognise mathematics in everyday environments was evident. (Field Diary, 12/11/2022)

This gap underscores the need for teaching approaches that value experiences with play, as proposed by Muniz (2016). The photographs and captured dialogues highlight the importance of activities that connect Mathematics to children's daily lives, particularly in playful environments. The lack of such connections may lead to a distorted perception of Mathematics, which remains tied to traditional practices and detached from the essence of play.

The analysis of the information obtained not only reflects the theories discussed but also highlights the need for pedagogical practices that integrate play as a means of meaningful learning in Mathematics. Promoting experiences that connect Mathematics to children's daily lives, especially in playful environments, can contribute to how they perceive and relate to the subject, making it more meaningful and accessible.

The conversation between Kauane and Júlia about the playground as the place they like most at school reveals not only their preference for a playful space but also how they associate this environment with play and exploration. The fact that Kauane and Júlia identify the playground as a significant location for play can be interpreted as a direct link between the enjoyment of the activity and the construction of knowledge, suggesting that Mathematics can be perceived more lightly when integrated into familiar and enjoyable contexts.

The empirical data reveal that children identify play as an opportunity for movement, social interaction, and discovery. These characteristics resonate with the literature advocating for the integration of playful practices into Mathematics teaching, as highlighted by Borba (2007) and Nacarato and Custódio (2018). These authors emphasize that Mathematics, when experienced in meaningful contexts, can become a field of active and engaging exploration, in contrast to exclusively traditional approaches.

The interaction with Lucas and Thauane highlights their perception of Mathematics in physical activities, particularly on the sports court. Their association of the court with games like football and basketball demonstrates their ability to recognise mathematical concepts, such as counting and measuring, in real-life contexts. This underscores the importance of incorporating these spaces into pedagogical practices, allowing students to experience Mathematics as connected to their daily lives rather than just theoretical concepts. This approach fosters a broader understanding of Mathematics among children. Photographs taken by the children can be found in Table 1 below.

Table 1

Photographs as Extension Cards of the 1st Group of Children

PHOTOGRAPH

DESCRIPTION OF THE AUTHORS



Researcher: Kauane and Júlia, the first photograph was about the place you like the most at school. Would you like to talk about that place? Kauane: It's our favorite place in school. Researcher: What is the place? Júlia: The playground. Kauane: There are lots of things to do there. Researcher: The school has two playgrounds, right? Júlia: Yes. Kauane: There are two sandy playgrounds, and one has a swing.

Júlia: The swing. Kauane: Over there, you can see. Júlia: The swing.

Júlia: From that part, you can see the playground. Researcher: I see. What do you like to do at the playground in the photograph? Kauane: Play on the. Júlia: Play mom height. Kauane: Mom height and slide down the slides.



Researcher: And what about the second photograph? Kauane: That's our only option, right? Júlia: Yeah, we walked around the whole school and didn't find anything else. Researcher: So, you found a book? Júlia: Yes. Researcher: Why did you decide to take a picture of the book? Kauane: Because it had something do with Mathematics.Researcher: ls this Mathematics book? Júlia: Yes. Kauane: Yes. It was a book that was right here on the table (library table).



Researcher: Where is this place? Lucas: The court. Thauane: The court. Researcher: What do you like to do there? Lucas: Play football and play basketball.

Thauane: I like to play basketball.



Researcher: The second photograph was about a place where you think there is Mathematics. Which place did you think of? Lucas: The court.

Source: Field research (2022).

This relationship between play and Mathematics suggests the need for teaching that values these experiences, promoting a contextualized approach that stimulates children's experience and curiosity about mathematical concepts. It is interesting to highlight that the interaction between Kauane and Júlia, where they mention 'our only option, right?' and 'we went around the whole school and didn't find it,' reveals a limitation in children's perception of where Mathematics manifests itself.

When asked about the photograph of a book, Júlia's response, 'because it had Mathematics stuff,' indicates that their association with Mathematics is strongly tied to educational materials and the classroom rather than interactive and playful spaces at school. This situation suggests that although children recognize Mathematics as an important subject, they struggle to see it integrated into their daily experiences and play environments.

This limitation may be attributed to the way Mathematics is traditionally taught, often disconnected from practical experiences and spaces of social interaction. However, Mathematics should be integrated into children's daily experiences (Muniz, 2016).

Therefore, it is essential for teachers to promote pedagogical approaches that help children establish connections between Mathematics and play in various school settings, encouraging a broader and more contextualized view of the subject. Promoting activities that integrate play and Mathematics can facilitate this relationship, allowing children to recognize the presence of Mathematics in their everyday experiences, not just in books, but also in spaces of movement and social interaction.

Children's Perceptions: Experiential Representations of Mathematics Classes

The analysis presented reflects a common reality in Mathematics classes, where the traditional teaching structure predominates, limiting the exploration of play's potential that could enrich children's relationship with Mathematics. The observation that lessons were pre-planned and organized without the inclusion of manipulatives suggests a pedagogical approach that may not meet children's

learning needs, as discussed by Muniz (2016) and Brougère (2017). The lack of manipulatives can restrict children's ability to experience Mathematics meaningfully, which is essential for building mathematical concepts.

Field diary entries and analysis of drawings were valuable tools in understanding how children perceive and relate to Mathematics. Through their drawings, children express their experiences and preferences, revealing that their classroom experiences are strongly tied to traditional teaching methods that often do not value play as a pedagogical strategy. This aligns with the critique by Spodek and Saracho (1998), who argue that play should be seen as an integral part of the learning process, not just as a complementary activity.

In this sense, the finding that children draw on references from their classroom experiences when illustrating what they consider to be a fun and interesting Mathematics class suggests that, even while recognizing the value of play, their experiences are still deeply rooted in conventional approaches. This situation indicates a need to rethink pedagogical practice, where play and Mathematics can coexist harmoniously, allowing children to develop an integrated understanding of Mathematics in their daily lives.

Therefore, the analysis suggests that for Mathematics to become a more meaningful and playful experience, pedagogical practices must be reassessed and adapted, incorporating play as a central strategy in the teaching-learning process, as advocated by Nacarato and Custódio (2018).

Following this, the children's drawings, created individually over two classes, will be presented. These drawings were used as a response to the question of what would constitute a fun and interesting Mathematics class. In the context of the research, children were invited to help the city's mayor reflect on what this ideal class could look like, providing an opportunity for them to express their ideas and perceptions of Mathematics teaching in a creative and engaging way.

The analysis of the children's drawings deserves an interesting observation: when invited to imagine an ideal Mathematics class, they ended up reflecting their experiences in conventional classes, which, as observed, were predominantly traditional and did not incorporate play, games, or manipulatives. This finding is significant as it shows that, even with creative freedom, children based their drawings on their school experiences, which often lack playful approaches and experiences.

For example, Kauane drew squares of chocolate, highlighting the importance of concrete and sensory materials in learning. Her mention of a notebook and scissors suggests a perception that Mathematics goes beyond numbers, involving the handling of objects, which may indicate a broader view of the mathematical experience.

Júlia, on the other hand, associated her fractions class with the pleasure of using chocolate and the satisfaction of eating after the activity. Her drawing not only represents curricular content but also emphasizes the positive and memorable

nature that practical activities can have in learning. Her choice of this class as 'really cool' reinforces the idea that practices linked to play can facilitate the understanding of abstract concepts.

In contrast, Thauane presented a more traditional representation of Mathematics, including fractions, multiplication, and a calculator. This suggests that, for her, Mathematics is closely linked to the teacher's role as the central figure in the teaching process.

Lucas expressed a more spontaneous and free approach, without a clear connection to a specific experience. This may indicate that, for some children, Mathematics can be represented more intuitively, not necessarily tied to a formal classroom context. His phrase, 'I don't know, it just came to my mind,' reflects a more fluid perception of the subject, allowing us to consider the various ways children express their mathematical experiences.

The children's drawings can be observed in Table 2 below.

Table 2 **Drawings and Dialogues of Children About Mathematics Lessons**

Drawings and Dialogues of Children About Mathematics Lessons	
DRAW	DESCRIPTION OF THE AUTHORS
	Kauane: Chocolate, because we can count the squares, and we've also had a class with chocolate. Researcher: Did you draw a notebook as well? Kauane: Because I also saw Mathematics in it. Researcher: And the scissors? Kauane: To cut paper. Researcher: Do you also use that in Maths class? Kauane: Sometimes. Thauane: Kauane, do you remember you took my scissors? Kauane: Yes (laughs). Júlia: I drew teacher Heloiza teaching us how to make fractions, and it was
A good hard property of the pr	from that lesson we had with chocolate. Researcher: Why did you choose this lesson? Júlia: Because it was really fun; after we finished, we ate it. (laughs).
1234567891011 Places Mathematical Author Concurrence Author Concurren	Thauane: A good teacher giving a lesson. I drew fractions, multiplication with two digits, and a calculator. Researcher: And who are these two people? Thauane: The teacher and a student. Researcher: Is that you? Thauane: No.
	Lucas: I don't know, it just came to my mind.

Source: Field research (2022).

These drawings reveal how play and experiences with Mathematics impact children's perceptions and representations. Although they recognize play as part of their experiences, their relationships with Mathematics remain strongly tied to traditional approaches. The classroom continues to be the most represented space when referring to Mathematics.

Therefore, this analysis highlights the need for a pedagogy that values experiences with play, promoting a more dynamic and interactive learning environment. This can engage children and facilitate the construction of mathematical knowledge, as suggested by authors like Nacarato and Custódio (2018) and Brougère (2017). Mathematics education should, thus, seek to integrate play, recognizing the child as an active subject in the knowledge construction process, as discussed by Kramer (2002).

For Mathematics to be understood in a broader and more meaningful way, it is essential for teachers to promote approaches that integrate play into the construction of mathematical concepts, valuing social interactions and everyday contexts as spaces for teaching and learning.

Conclusions

The research aimed to explore the perspectives of fifth-year children from a public school in the municipality of Curitiba, Paraná, Brazil, regarding the connection between play and Mathematics, highlighting the importance of integrating playful experiences into the teaching of this subject. The methodology adopted involved a qualitative approach, which included conducting interviews, observations, and analysing drawings and photographs produced by the children. These strategies allowed for capturing the diverse forms of expression and experiences of the children in relation to Mathematics, revealing how their everyday experiences influence the way they engage with the topic addressed.

The results indicated that although children recognize the value of play as part of the school environment, their experiences with Mathematics are still strongly tied to traditional teaching approaches. The representations made by the children, especially in their drawings, reflect their conventional classes, suggesting that the use of manipulatives and practical activities can facilitate the understanding of mathematical concepts. This finding reinforces the need for teachers to adopt methodologies that consider children's experiences, promoting a more dynamic and interactive learning environment. For expanding understandings of mathematical concepts and their connection with everyday life.

Moreover, the study highlights that when play is integrated into pedagogical practices, it can not only enhance children's engagement but also foster a more positive relationship with Mathematics, expanding the opportunity for them to reframe their experiences with the subject.

In light of the above, the research highlights the relevance of a pedagogical approach that values play as a central element in the teaching and learning process of Mathematics. In this sense, promoting pedagogical practices that incorporate play requires teacher training focused on recognizing and valuing children's experiences, as well as a critical reflection on the traditional curriculum.

By integrating play into the curriculum, it is possible not only to make lessons more engaging but also to contribute to the development of children's confidence and self-esteem in relation to Mathematics. Thus, the creation of a playful culture within the school environment, as discussed by authors such as Brougère (2017) and Nacarato and Custódio (2018), can be a promising path to transforming children's perceptions of Mathematics, making it a meaningful and enjoyable experience. This transformation requires not only a rethinking of teacher education but also the involvement of school management and the community, so that play is recognized as an integral part of meaningful Mathematics education.

References

- Ariès, P. (1981). *History of childhood and family life* (2nd ed.). Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, LTC.
- Borba, A. M. (2007). Playing as a way of being and living in the world. In Brazil, MEC/SEB. Nine-year elementary school: Guidelines for the inclusion of six-year-old children (pp. 33–44). Brasília, Brazil, Ministry of Education, Basic Education Secretariat. Retrieved from http://portal.mec.gov.br/seb/arquivos/pdf/Ensfund/ensfundnovan.pdf
- Brougère, G. (2017). The child and the playful culture. In T. M. Kishimoto (Ed.), *Playing and its theories* (pp. 19–32). São Paulo, Brazil. Cortez.
- Cruz, H. S. da, & Santos-Wagner, V. M. P. dos. (2021). Spatial orientation in children's literature: Pedagogical possibilities. In Proce*edings of the 8th International Seminar on Research in Mathematics Education*, Uberlândia, Brazil. Retrieved from https://www.even3.com.br/anais/VIIISIPEMvs2021/393880-a-orientacao-espacial-na-literatura-infantil--possibilidades-pedagogicas
- Flores, C. R. (2015). Image: Workbooks. In W. Rodrigues (Ed.), São Paulo (pp. 45–67). São Paulo, Brazil, Editora Livraria Física.
- Garnica, A. V. M. (2010). Oral history and mathematics education. In M. C. de Borba & J. L. de Araújo (Eds.), Qualitative research in mathematics education (3rd ed., pp. 85–105). Belo Horizonte, MG: Autêntica.
- Gaskell, G. (2004). Individual and group interviews. In M. W. Bauer & G. Gaskell (Eds.), Qualitative research with text, image, and sound: A practical manual (pp. 64–89). Petrópolis, Brazil, Vozes.
- Huizinga, J. (2000). *Homo ludens* (4th ed., J. P. Monteiro, Trans.). São Paulo, Brazil, Perspectiva.

- Loizos, P. (2004). Video, film, and photography as research documents. In M. W. Bauer & G. Gaskell (Eds.), Qualitative research with text, image, and sound: A practical manual (pp. 137–155). Petrópolis, Brazil, Vozes.
- Muniz, C. A. (2016). Playful mathematics education, playful mathematical education. In A. J. N. Silva & H. S. Teixeira (Eds.), *Playfulness, teacher training, and mathematics education in dialogue* (pp. 17–45). Curitiba, Brazil, Appris.
- Nacarato, A. M., Mengali, B. L. S., & Passos, C. L. B. (2015). *Mathematics in the early years of elementary school: Weaving threads of teaching and learning*. Belo Horizonte, Brazil, Autêntica.
- Röder, L. A. (2018). *Metacognition and its relationship with affectivity and cognition in mathematical learning* (Master's thesis). Federal University of Paraná, Curitiba, Brazil.
- Sarmento, M. J., & Pinto, M. (1997). Children and childhood: Defining concepts, delimiting the field. In M. Pinto & M. J. Sarmento (Eds.), *Children: Contexts and identities* (pp. 9–30). Braga, Portugal, Center for Child Studies, University of Minho.
- Spodek, B., & Saracho, O. N. (1998). *Teaching children aged three to eight*. Porto Alegre, Brazil, Artmed.
- Zabalza, M. A. (2004). *Classroom diaries: An instrument for research and professional development*. Madrid, Spain, Narcea.

Bionotes

Tamyris Caroline da Silva is a PhD candidate in Science and Mathematics Education at the Graduate Program in Science and Mathematics Education (PPGECM) at the Federal University of Paraná, with an academic exchange period at the University of Minho, in Braga, Portugal. She holds a Master's degree in Science and Mathematics Education from the same programme (2020). She graduated in Pedagogy from the Federal University of Paraná, with an academic exchange period at Eduardo Mondlane University in Mozambique (2018). Additionally, she is a member of the Research Group on Teaching and Learning in Science and Mathematics Education (GPEACM).

Email: tamyriscs@gmail.com

Orcid: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9714-294X

Tânia Teresinha Bruns Zimer holds a degree in Mathematics Teaching from the Federal University of Paraná (1994), a Master's in Education from the same institution (2002), and a PhD in Education from the University of São Paulo (2008). She is currently an Associate Professor III in the Education Department at UFPR, working in the Department of Theory and Practice of Teaching (DTPEN) and in the Graduate Programme in Education: Theory and Practice of Teaching (PPGE), as well as participating in the Graduate Programme in Science and Mathematics Education

(PPGECM) in the Exact Sciences Department. She coordinates the Research and Studies Centre on Mathematics Teachers (NEPPREM) and leads the Research Group on Teaching and Learning in Science and Mathematics (GPEACM). Her expertise focuses on the training of Mathematics teachers, with an emphasis on teaching methodologies such as problem-solving, playful activities and toy libraries, mathematical modelling, early childhood education, and distance learning.

Email: taniatbz@gmail.com

Orcid: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9353-7944

Received: September 2024 Published: December 2024

child studies ○

N. 6, 2024

SPECIFIC LEARNING DISORDERS AND READING

PERTURBAÇÕES ESPECÍFICAS E APRENDIZAGEM DA LEITURA

Inês Patrícia Rodrigues Ferraz
Research Centre on Child Studies, Institute of Education,
University of Minho, Portugal

Abstract

Children with Specific Learning Disorders, particularly those with reading deficits (Dyslexia), exhibit difficulties in acquiring this complex skill. Currently, reading acquisition is considered an indispensable requirement for communication and social inclusion. This article aims to address the topic of Specific Learning Disorders, recognizing that they affect many school-age children. The main objective of this work is to analyse specific learning disorders, particularly reading deficits, by referring to the main explanatory theories. The theoretical analysis included the prevalence of this learning disorder, possible causes, the diagnostic process, including diagnostic criteria and assessment instruments. Finally, the functioning of the brain during reading in children with a Specific Learning Disorder was addressed. The consequences and warning signs of this disorder for children from an early age were also investigated.

Keywords: learning, reading, disorder, dyslexia

Resumo

As crianças com Perturbações Específicas de Aprendizagem, particularmente as que apresentam défices de leitura (Dislexia), apresentam dificuldades na aquisição desta competência complexa. Atualmente, a aquisição da leitura é considerada um requisito indispensável para a comunicação e inclusão social. Este artigo pretende abordar a temática das Perturbações Específicas da Aprendizagem, reconhecendo que estas afetam muitas crianças em idade escolar. O principal objetivo deste trabalho é analisar as perturbações específicas de aprendizagem, nomeadamente os défices de leitura, referindo as principais teorias explicativas. A

análise teórica incluiu a prevalência desta perturbação de aprendizagem, as possíveis causas, o processo de diagnóstico, incluindo os critérios de diagnóstico e os instrumentos de avaliação. Por fim, foi abordado o funcionamento do cérebro durante a leitura em crianças com uma Perturbação Específica da Aprendizagem. As consequências e os sinais de alerta desta perturbação para as crianças desde tenra idade também foram investigados.

Palavras-chave: aprendizagem, leitura, perturbação, dislexia

Introduction

Dyslexia is a learning difficulty that affects the skills involved in accurate and fluent word reading and spelling. The author, Rose (2009) clarify that characteristic features of Dyslexia are difficulties in phonological awareness, verbal memory and verbal processing speed, occurring across the range of intellectual abilities.

Children with Specific Learning Disorders, especially with reading deficits (Dyslexia), experience difficulties in learning to read. Reading acquisition is a complex skill that highlights linguistic and cognitive abilities (Ferraz, 2020).

One of the factors' influencing learning is parental involvement. In fact, a good relationship between family and school brings parents and children closer, enhances trust between parents and teachers, boosts children's motivation, prevents indiscipline, and contributes to academic success (Estanqueiro, 2013).

Given that reading acquisition is considered an indispensable requirement for communication and social inclusion, this work arises to gain a deeper understanding of Specific Learning Disorders, particularly reading deficits (Dyslexia).

The term "Dyslexia" has undergone several changes over time, and currently, the most appropriate term to define this neurodevelopmental disorder is Specific Learning Disorder with a reading deficit, according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (American Psychiatric Association, 2014). However, in this work, we will refer back to the term "Dyslexia" as this concept is still widely used and accepted by the scientific community.

This disorder affects many school-age children. The concept of Specific Learning Disorders was analysed, with a special emphasis on Specific Learning Disorder with a reading deficit. This concept and its evolution were explored through a review of studies and assessment instruments. Finally, an analysis was made of the relationship between the brain and the learning process of reading, highlighting some warning signs and the consequences of this learning disorder.

Specific Learning Disorders

Specific Learning Disorders, previously referred to as Specific Learning Difficulties, are generic terms that refer to a heterogeneous group of disorders. These are manifested by significant difficulties in acquiring and using listening, speaking, reading and reasoning skills (Kirk & Gallagher, 2002).

Specific Learning Difficulties are the disorders within the field of Special Educational Needs that have sparked the most multidisciplinary research and debates (Kirk et al., 2005).

The most common developmental disorders are specific learning difficulties in reading, writing, and arithmetic. These disorders are called "specific" because the difficulty in learning is not generalized (Antunes, 2009). Many researchers consider them mysterious and complex (Citoler, 1996; Correia, 2008; Lerner & Kline, 2005, Rose, 2009) because Dyslexia often co-occurs with other disorders although these are not themselves markers of this disturbance.

In Portugal, the term "Learning Difficulties" translating the original "Learning Disabilities" was introduced by Vítor da Fonseca in 1984 in his book "An Introduction to Learning Difficulties". This book marked the first scientific publication concerning Learning Difficulties in Portugal.

In agreement with Fonseca (1984, 2009), Specific Learning Difficulties are a heterogeneous set of disorders, disturbances, disabilities, manifesting significant and specific difficulties in the verbal learning process. These difficulties are evident in the acquisition, integration, and expression of one or more of the following symbolic skills: auditory comprehension, speech, reading, writing, and arithmetic. Fonseca adds that specific learning difficulties manifest in the way the student processes information, interfering with academic achievement.

As specified by Cruz (2011), the term Specific Learning Disorder is generalized and is used by official entities like the Ministry of Education and the National Education Council, as well as by non-official entities, including the media, professionals, and even parents.

However, Martins (2006) notes that the concept underlying the term Specific Learning Difficulties is not understood uniformly by all who use it, suggesting that this term is synonymous and polysemous. He points out that this term is often used inappropriately to refer to different populations on the one hand, and on the other, different terminologies are used to describe the same group of people.

Other authors (Correia, 2008; Correia & Martins, 1999) suggest that in Portugal, the term Learning Difficulties has been used to refer to completely disparate concepts. These concepts range from intrinsic learning problems, such as intellectual and developmental difficulties, to extrinsic learning problems, such as inadequate teaching.

Today, Snowling and Hulme (2024) bring to reflection that the definition of Dyslexia as a dimensional disorder sometimes causes concern. They compare this

disorder with hypertension (high blood pressure), adding that, if there is no universally accepted cut-off does this make the disorder less real.

The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (American Psychiatric Association, 2014) by the American Psychiatric Association states that Specific Learning Disorders fall under neurodevelopmental disorders and have a biological origin.

The biological origin includes an interaction of genetic, epigenetic and environmental factors that influence the brain's ability to perceive or process verbal or non-verbal information efficiently and accurately (American Psychiatric Association, 2014). As specified by this manual, children with this disorder have difficulty learning or using specific academic skills, such as reading, writing or arithmetic.

The American Psychiatric Association (2014), Specific Learning Disorders are organized according to three specifiers (p. 67):

- i) 315.0 (F81.0) With reading deficit (Dyslexia): Word reading accuracy; Reading speed or fluency; Reading comprehension.
- ii) 315.2 (F81.81) With written expression deficit: Spelling accuracy; Grammar and punctuation accuracy; Clarity or organization of written expression.
- iii) 315.1 (F81.2) With mathematics deficit (Dyscalculia): Number sense; Memorization of arithmetic facts; Accuracy or fluency of calculation; Accuracy in mathematical reasoning.

In this work, we will discuss in more detail Specific Learning Disorder with a reading deficit (Dyslexia), because we pretend to assist educators, parents, and professionals in better identifying and addressing the disorder.

Specific Learning Disorder with a Reading Deficit (Dyslexia)

The main objective of this work is to analyze Specific Learning Disorders, particularly reading deficits, by referring to the main explanatory theories. This is a theoretical analysis about Dyslexia and those characteristics. For comprehend this disturb we need to analyze the evolution of this concept abound time.

Historically, Dyslexia was described in 1877 by Kussmaul, who used the term "word-blindness" to refer to an adult patient with severe difficulty in reading after a brain injury (Moura, 2014).

The term Dyslexia was introduced by the German ophthalmologist Rudolf Berlin (1887) to describe poor reading ability in adults with normal vision after suffering a specific brain injury. In 1896, Pringle Morgan referred to "congenital word-blindness" when describing a clinical case of a 14-year-old boy who was very intelligent but unable to learn to read and write (Moura, 2014).

Since then, Dyslexia has received various denominations: "congenital word-blindness", "congenital Dyslexia", "strephosymbolia", "developmental alexia", "constitutional Dyslexia" and part of the continuum of language disorders characterized by a deficit in verbal sound processing (Teles, 2004). Chiland (1973) notes that in the 1960s, under the influence of psychodynamic currents, the biological aspects of Dyslexia were minimized, and reading difficulties were attributed to emotional or affective problems and even "immaturity". However, during the 1970s and 1980s, several researchers demonstrated that the etiological cause of Dyslexia did not reside in visual perception deficits but in specific neurolinguistic deficits (Teles, 2004).

According to various authors (Antunes, 2009; Moura, 2014; Teles, 2004), Dyslexia can be defined as a specific learning disability of neurobiological origin. Etymologically, the word "Dyslexia" comes from "dys" meaning difficulty/disorder and "lexia" meaning reading (Latin) and language (Greek). Dyslexia is understood as a Specific Learning Disorder characterized by difficulty in reading accuracy, fluency, and comprehension, with deficits in phonological decoding, word recognition, and poor spelling skills. The difficulties associated with Dyslexia result from a deficit in the phonological component of language, which is unexpected in relation to other cognitive abilities (Snowling, 2001).

For a long time, the cause of Dyslexia was unknown. As specified by Teles (2004) the studies conducted presented converging results regarding its origin and the underlying cognitive processes. In conformity with this author, several theories emerged about the cognitive processes responsible for these difficulties.

It is consensual, the strong relationship between phonological skills and reading and the role of phonological deficits in Dyslexia (Melby-Lervåg, Lyster & Hulme, 2012). There is also evidence that phonological deficits are observed in children who go on to be dyslexic prior to reading instruction (Snowling et al., 2019). The phonological skills predict individual differences in reading fluency across alphabetic orthographies (Caravolas et al., 2013).

The definition of Dyslexia is included in the American Psychiatric Association (2014) specifically under Specific Learning Disorder with a reading deficit, characterized as a significant impairment in the development of word recognition and reading comprehension skills (p. 66). The difficulties arise during the school years, and academic abilities are significantly below what is expected for the chronological age. This manual adds that this disorder significantly interferes with school performance or daily activities that require reading skills.

Today, Snowling and Hulme (2024) clarify the definition of Dyslexia. In accordance with these authors Dyslexia is a difficulty in learning to decode or encode print. This disturbance is associated with phonological problems and may occur at different levels of ability. They add that Dyslexia is a dimensional disorder, where we set a cut-off for identification that is to some extent arbitrary.

Explanatory Theories

Over time, several explanatory theories about Dyslexia have emerged. These include neurobiological-based cognitive theories, genetic and hereditary theories and theories that rely on environmental factors. The most recent research (Snowling & Melby-Lervåg, 2016; Snowling & Hulme, 2024) indicates that the neurobiological perspective is the most relevant; however, psycholinguistic and visual-perceptual-motor perspectives continue to be referenced by researchers, indicating the lack of consensus (Cruz, 2009).

Several researchers support the neurobiological and multifactorial origin, with various genetic and environmental factors (Doust et al., 2022; Hulme & Snowling, 2016; Sousa & Martins, 2015). This disorder has a heritability between 40% and 60% (Fletcher et al., 2007) and genes involved in the onset of Dyslexia have even been identified.

Hulme and Snowling (2016) mention that, despite the importance of genetic factors, parental literacy, environment and the quality of teaching influence reading development. They add that genes act through the environment and that passive and active gene-environment correlations can affect literacy outcomes. Parents with Dyslexia not only share genes with their children but may also provide a literacy environment different from that found in families where parents do not experience such difficulties.

The automatization deficit theory was advocated by Fawcett and Nicolson (1992), characterizing Dyslexia as a generalized deficit in automatization capacity. In accordance with this theory, dyslexics manifest difficulties in automating word decoding, performing fluent, correct and comprehensive reading.

The magnocellular theory generated some controversy and attributed Dyslexia to a specific deficit in the transfer of sensory information from the eyes to the primary areas of the cortex (Teles, 2004). In agreement with this theory, people with Dyslexia have low sensitivity to stimuli with low contrast, low spatial frequencies or high temporal frequencies.

Conforming to Teles (2004), most researchers agree with the phonological deficit theory, which argues that Dyslexia is caused by a deficit in the phonological processing system due to a "disruption" in the brain's neurological system, at the level of phonological processing (Shaywitz, 2003; Zeffiro & Eden, 2000). In line with these authors, the phonological deficit hampers the discrimination and processing of language sounds, as well as the awareness that language is made up of words, that words consist of syllables and that syllables are made up of phonemes.

Regarding types of Dyslexia, Torres and Fernandez (2001) classified it into two types: auditory and visual. In accordance with to these authors, children with auditory Dyslexia have difficulties in differentiating, analyzing, and naming speech sounds, and they struggle with naming sequences and rhymes. Fonseca (2004) adds that auditory Dyslexia affects the cognitive process that allows relating phonemes (sounds) to graphemes (letters), leading to difficulties in interpreting, memorizing,

and differentiating words, confusion in word configuration, and frequent reversals, omissions, and substitutions, i.e., they have trouble relating spoken language to written language.

In agreement with Torres and Fernandez (2001), children with visual Dyslexia struggle with visual perception and discrimination tasks, exhibit orientation errors, have difficulties distinguishing sizes and shapes, confuse groups of letters and face challenges in transforming letters into sounds. Fonseca (2004) adds that in visual Dyslexia, letters are not recognized as letters due to a discrimination problem, which affects the visual encoding of graphemes and word formation.

More recently, Moura (2014) and Coelho (2014) argue that Dyslexia can be acquired or developmental. Acquired Dyslexia refers to the existence of brain injury, while developmental Dyslexia shows specific alterations in certain neurocognitive functions and a broad range of difficulties in reading and writing. The latter is currently characterized by difficulty in word reading accuracy and/or fluency, along with poor spelling ability. Reading difficulties result from a deficit in the phonological component of language, which is unexpected given the individual's other cognitive abilities and the educational conditions provided (Fletcher, 2009; Lyon, Shaywitz, & Shaywitz, 2003).

From a neuropsychological perspective, Specific Learning Disorder with reading impairment (Dyslexia) occurs in school-aged children (Ritzen & Debray, 1981). Cancela (2014) argue that it is a disorder with multiple causes. Some studies (Doust et al., 2022) indicate that some people are born with a genetic code that allows them to use the part of the brain that alters and creates perceptions. Being born with this genetic code does not cause the disorder, but it allows its development (Davis & Braun, 2010).

In the field of Genetics, some researchers argue that Specific Learning Disorder is hereditary, as children with this issue often have at least one close family member with difficulties in reading and writing (American Psychiatric Association, 2014). Moreover, some researchers believe that this disorder may be due to mutations in specific chromosomes, particularly chromosomes 6 and 15 and more recently, chromosome 2 (Lona, 2014).

From a psycholinguistic point of view, this disorder is related to language processing, which derives from brain function. Research using brain imaging suggests that information is processed differently by these individuals. Psycholinguistics points to phonological issues as the cause of many reading difficulties, revealing a broad set of language deficits among poor readers (Lona, 2014). Since learning to read results from the functioning of systems integrating various brain areas or units (Serra & Estrela, 2007), damage to even one part of the functional system can impair learning.

New research confirms that Specific Learning Disorder with reading impairment (Dyslexia) belongs to the field of Neuropsychology (Pépio & Maia,

2018), if we understand that reading, writing, and speech are elements of language, and language is one of the brain's higher mental functions (Ritzen & Debray, 1981).

Various cognitive components are involved in the learning process, which results from the reception and exchange of information between the environment and different nervous centers. The neuropsychological model applied to learning disorders assumes these disorders represent a dysfunction in the natural learning acquisition process, i.e., in stimulus selection, processing, and information storage. From this perspective, neuropsychological research allows for understanding the internal structure of psychological processes and the internal connection that links them (Paula et al., 2006).

After analyzing the explanatory theories of Dyslexia, it makes perfect sense to examine the prevalence of this disorder to better understand its occurrence.

Prevalence of Dyslexia

Regarding the prevalence of Dyslexia, it is observed in 5% to 10% of schoolage children (Vellutino et al., 2004), although some studies present prevalence estimates between 6% and 17%, depending on the reading severity criteria used (Fletcher et al., 2007).

Yang, et al. (2022) analyzed the studies carried out between 1950 and 2021 about Dyslexia. These authors conclude that the prevalence of Dyslexia in schoolage children is 7.10%.

The American Psychiatric Association, through the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (American Psychiatric Association, 2014), estimates that 5% to 15% of school-age children present a Specific Learning Disorder. Some studies report significant differences in the prevalence of this disorder between females and males, being higher in males (Cruz, 2009; Hulme & Snowling, 2016; Vale et al., 2011). Yang, et al. (2022) conclude that the prevalence in boys was significantly higher than in girls (boys: 9.22%; girls: 4.66%; p < 0.001).

In Portugal, there is no recent data on the prevalence of Dyslexia. However, a study conducted by Vale, Sucena, and Viana (2011) indicates that the prevalence of Dyslexia in Portuguese children attending the first cycle is between 5.4% and 8.6%, with about 28% of children in their sample presenting reading difficulties.

It is also common to observe a comorbidity relationship between Dyslexia and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) in 15% to 40% of children (Willcutt et al., 2005) and Dyscalculia in 15% to 70% of children (Willcutt et al., 2013).

Having established the prevalence rates of this disorder, it is essential to explore the underlying causes of Dyslexia.

Possible Causes

Regarding possible causes of Specific Learning Disorder with a reading deficit (Dyslexia), the American Psychiatric Association (2014) points out different causes (p. 72).

One of the causes cited in this manual is related to the environment, namely prematurity, very low birth weight and prenatal exposure to nicotine.

Another cause is genetic and physiological, which means that first-degree relatives of individuals with these learning difficulties and a family history of reading difficulties predict literacy problems, indicating the combined role of genetic and environmental factors.

Course modifiers are also considered causes of Dyslexia. Marked problems with inattentive behavior in the preschool years predict later reading difficulties. Delayed or disordered speech or language, or impaired cognitive processing in the preschool years predict specific disorders of later learning in reading and written expression.

Considering the possible causes of Dyslexia, it makes sense to analyze how the diagnosis is made and the criteria used to better understand this disorder.

Diagnosis

Due to the empirical evidence of recent decades on the neurobiological and neurocognitive nature of Dyslexia, the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (American Psychiatric Association, 2014) included Dyslexia in the group of Neurodevelopmental Disorders. As specified by this manual, Specific Learning Disorder with a reading deficit (Dyslexia) is a neurobiological disorder underlying the cognitive changes observed in reading and writing (American Psychiatric Association, 2014).

In addition to this new classification, some changes were made to the diagnostic criteria. Thus, the American Psychiatric Association (2014) establishes the necessity for a performance in reading fluency, accuracy, and/or comprehension that is substantially below expectations for chronological age, interfering with academic performance or daily life activities significantly. Performance should be confirmed through standardized reference tests, individually administered, a comprehensive clinical assessment that includes collecting medical, developmental and school information, symptom manifestations and a psychological/cognitive evaluation (American Psychiatric Association, 2014).

The same manual highlights that reading decoding difficulties should not result from intellectual difficulties, global developmental delay, sensory alterations or neurological or motor disorders. In other words, besides significant reading difficulties, children with Dyslexia tend to show specific deficits in some neurocognitive functions, such as phonological processing, executive functions, and working memory (Moura, 2014). In agreement with Fonseca (2009), Dyslexia has

been considered a reading and language disorder, an unexpected learning difficulty since the individual shows average or above-average intelligence. The Intelligence Quotient (IQ), considered a selective criterion, should be equal to or greater than 80. Therefore, based on this data, it is easy to deduce that Dyslexia is not synonymous with a low IQ.

The same author adds that Dyslexia is not related to a lack of motivation to learn to read, nor to unfavourable socioeconomic and deviant conditions. It can manifest in an individual throughout life, regardless of adequate learning opportunities.

Fonseca (2009) also notes that Dyslexia can be addressed through multitherapeutic re-education. Many signs can be identified in preschool education, but it is with the learning of reading those problems related to sound awareness, letter recognition, verbal expression, and copying begin to emerge.

Cruz (2009) mentions that Dyslexia can be diagnosed in the presence of specific deficits in perception or information processing abilities in individuals who, despite having "normal" intelligence and adequate physical, mental, sensory, emotional, and pedagogical conditions, achieve results significantly below what is expected for their chronological age in specific learning areas. Oral reading in individuals with Dyslexia is characterized by omissions, distortions, and word substitutions, as well as slow, inaccurate, and effortful reading.

According to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (American Psychiatric Association, 2014), the diagnosis involves observing the following criteria (pp. 68-69): Persistent difficulties in learning key academic skills that begin with formal schooling (Criterion A). The individual's performance in the affected academic skills is below the average for their age (Criterion B). Learning difficulties become readily apparent during the early school years for most individuals (Criterion C). Learning difficulties are considered "specific" because they are not attributable to intellectual disabilities, global developmental delays, hearing or vision impairments, or neurological or motor problems (Criterion D).

Specific Learning Disorder with a reading deficit (Dyslexia) can only be diagnosed after the start of formal education, at any time. The learning difficulties are persistent and not transitory, and progress in learning is very limited over at least six months, despite additional help being provided at home and/or school.

It can be diagnosed in children, adolescents, and adults, as long as there is evidence of onset during formal schooling years. The diagnosis is clinical, based on a synthesis of the individual's medical, developmental, educational, and family history.

The evaluation process is complex and involves multiple components, including clinical interviews to gather detailed personal history, school reports to assess academic performance, work portfolios that showcase a student's progress, rating scales completed by teachers or parents to provide additional insights, and

educational or psychological assessments that offer standardized measures of cognitive and emotional functioning.

On this subject, Ribeiro and Baptista (2006) mention four types of assessment to be carried out in the diagnosis of a Specific Learning Disorder with reading deficit (Dyslexia). They suggest a Neuropsychological Assessment, focusing on perception, motor skills, cognitive functioning, psychomotricity, psycholinguistic functioning, language and emotional development.

These authors consider that Psycholinguistic Assessment is crucial to determine the mechanisms responsible for this disorder. In psycholinguistic assessment, it is important to evaluate vocalization, lexical decision, semantic decision and visual processing. Another assessment that they consider crucial for diagnosis is Psychological Assessment, which aims to assess language, reading, spatial references, level of intelligence, attention and immediate memory.

The Comprehensive assessment, suggested by these authors, aims to evaluate language (comprehensive and expressive), psychomotricity (body scheme, laterality, spatial and temporal orientation), perception (visual and auditory), motor skills (gross/fine) and academic areas (reading, writing and arithmetic).

To diagnose Specific Learning Disorders, it is crucial to use the appropriate instruments and for this reason we analyse the most suitable instruments to make a correct diagnosis of Dyslexia.

Assessment Instruments

When evaluating a child or adolescent with suspected Specific Learning Disorder, it is important to consider some aspects, as Viana (2005) points out. Firstly, it is important to understand the child's development process and the problem, starting by knowing the child's life story and analyzing the educational materials used, such as notebooks and tests. It is equally crucial to understand the implications that this problem has on the individual's life, that is, to analyze the difficulties revealed that have consequences that extend to all contexts. It is also important to understand how the problem is perceived by the student and the people around them. Unfortunately, what has been observed is that psychological assessment is generally developed for remediation and not prevention. Finally, difficulties must be identified, to do this it is necessary to evaluate reading, identify letters and words, read groups of words and identify the main idea of a sentence.

For the evaluation or diagnosis of Specific Learning Disorder with reading deficits, various instruments can be applied, such as:

a) Assessment of Cognitive Functioning through Intelligence Scales: WISC-IV: Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children (Wechsler, 2005); Wechsler Preschool and Primary Scale of Intelligence (Wechsler, 2005); WAIS-III: Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (Wechsler, 1997).

- b) Assessment of Reading through Tests: TIL: Test of Reading Age (Sucena & Castro, 2008); ALEPE: Battery for Assessment of Reading in European Portuguese (Sucena & Castro, 2011); PRP: Word Recognition Test (Viana & Ribeiro, 2010).
- c) Assessment of Expressive Language (Lexical knowledge; morphosyntactic knowledge; auditory memory for verbal material; capacity to reflect on oral language): TICL: Test of Identification of Linguistic Competencies (Viana, 2004).
- d) Assessment of Phonological Processes through Tests: Oral Language Assessment Test (Sim-Sim, 1997); Phonological Test Battery (Silva, 2002).
- e) Assessment of Perceptual-Motor Organization, Attention and Immediate Visual Memory through the Test: REY: Rey Complex Figure Test (Rey, 1942); TPD: Test of Perception of Differences (Thursthone & Yela, 1985).
- f) Assessment of Perceptual-Auditory Acquisitions through the Test: DAPA: Diagnostic of Perceptual-Auditory Acquisitions (Fonseca, 1979).
- g) Tests for Screening Phonological or Orthographic Disorders: PADD: Dyslexia Analysis and Screening Test (Carreteiro, 2005). PEDE: Exploratory Test of Specific Dyslexia (Condemarin & Blomquist, 1989).
- h) Assessment of Perceptual-Motor Areas through: PDDA: Screening Project for Difficulties and Learning (Fonseca, 1978).

In the report of an evaluation of a Specific Learning Disorder with reading deficits, it should include not only the diagnosis but also the definition of the child's strengths and weaknesses in different areas, as well as the presentation of intervention objectives (Antunes, 2018). The diagnosis and assessment of Dyslexia should not serve to label a child or young person but should aim to define the most suitable intervention strategies to contribute to their academic success (Cruz, 2009).

The evaluation of a Specific Learning Disorder should be conducted by accredited professionals, and the evaluation process is complex, requiring a clinical interview, school reports, and work portfolios. Rating scales should be applied, and educational or psychological assessments should be conducted (American Psychiatric Association, 2014).

How the Brain Functions During Reading

It is necessary to understand how the brain functions to better understand the origin of a Specific Learning Disorder with reading deficits. Gray matter is composed of various areas with different functions. Learning is a brain function that involves information processing through sensory (reception), neurological (decoding, translation, retention and encoding) and psychological (perception, imagery, symbolism, and conceptualization) means (Serra & Estrela, 2007).

It is known that for human learning to occur naturally, a set of requirements, which Fonseca (2004) termed "neuropsychological functional completeness" must be met; otherwise, a brain dysfunction is likely to exist.

In accordance with Serra and Estrela (2007), to perform tasks such as reading, writing or counting, our brain activates each process of a complex and extensive functional system. It seems evident that if a part of this functional system is impaired, learning will be affected. Various studies in this area (Moura, 2014) have shown changes in the brains of children with Specific Learning Disorders.

There is a prevalence of the left hemisphere for linguistic processing in individuals with a Specific Learning Disorder compared to normal readers (Sousa & Martins, 2015). These individuals show a lower processing rate and deficient functioning of the right hemisphere. Studies have demonstrated involvement of the temporal lobe in the left cerebral hemisphere and adjacent parts of the parietal and occipital lobes (posterior language area), disrupting language, reading, and writing functions (Ritzen & Debray, 1981). The brains of individuals with this disorder are perfectly normal, although they process information in a different area, resulting in failures in brain connections (Lona, 2014).

Learning to read and write is a fundamental aspect of academic success; however, this is a heterogeneous and individual process that requires children to apply and integrate various cognitive and perceptual-linguistic skills, with some individuals experiencing difficulties in this process (Cruz, 2009).

Shavwitz and collaborators (1998) used functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) to study brain function during reading tasks. They identified three brain areas: the inferior frontal region, the parietal-temporal area and the occipitaltemporal area. The inferior frontal region is responsible for oral language (Shaywitz et al., 1998). It is where vocalization and articulation of words are processed and where phoneme analysis begins. This area is particularly active in beginning readers and individuals with dyslexia. The parietal-temporal region is where word analysis occurs (Shaywitz et al., 1998). This area handles visual processing of letter shapes, the correspondence between graphemes and phonemes, syllabic and phonemic segmentation and fusion. It performs analytical reading that occurs slowly and is utilized by both beginning readers and individuals with dyslexia. The occipitaltemporal region processes visual word recognition, enabling fast and automatic reading (Shaywitz et al., 1998). All information from different sensory systems converges here, where relevant information about each word is stored and orthography is integrated. Most children learn to read without difficulties; however, dyslexic children do not learn to read at the appropriate or expected time. regardless of their normal intelligence and satisfactory teaching conditions. Therefore, reading acquisition in dyslexic children is slow and requires significant emotional investment (Fonseca, 2009).

In accordance with Sousa and Martins (2015), research conducted using functional resonance imaging has concluded that in individuals with dyslexia, the posterior areas (parietal-temporal, responsible for phonological processing and grapheme-phoneme conversion; and occipital-temporal, responsible for reading automation, word recognition and its components) show lower activation. In dyslexics, the inferior frontal gyrus (responsible for motor programming of word

articulation) is more activated. These authors suggest that these dysfunctions seem to justify phonological difficulties, accuracy, fluency and decoding capacity. Similarly, lower activation of the occipital-temporal area is associated with difficulties in automatic recognition of words and reading.

Thus, modern brain research procedures have identified three distinct subareas (Shaywitz, 2003): one that processes phonemes: vocalization and articulation of words (inferior frontal region); another that analyzes words: related to grapheme-phoneme (parietal-temporal region); and the last that recognizes words and enables fast and automatic reading (occipital-temporal region). Analysis of these examinations revealed that individuals with a Specific Learning Disorder have difficulties in activating the posterior brain areas responsible for word analysis and reading automation, relying more on Broca's area (left inferior frontal area) and other areas on the right side of the brain that use visual cues (Oliveira, 2017). These individuals exhibit deficiencies in phonological processing, showing confusions with letters, syllables, and words that resemble each other graphically.

In conformity with Fonseca (2009) it is now possible to assert that the left side of the brain is directly related to language, with its different areas responsible for processing phonemes, analyzing and recognizing words, which allows humans to learn to read and write.

When a child learns to read, reading is initially processed by the phonological route and later, with the acquisition of new skills, shifts to the lexical route. As the child refines reading skills, the brain becomes more proficient in the process, requiring less effort. However, the brains of individuals with this disorder do not function this way; they only use the area of the brain that processes phonemes while the area that analyzes words remains inactive, preventing proficient recognition and reading, even of words they have already read or studied (Polese, Costa, & Miechuanski, 2011). As specified by Cancela (2014) a deficit in cerebellar activity is suggested as an explanatory hypothesis for this disorder.

After understanding how the brain works in a Specific Learning Disorder, we need to clarify the warning signs to identify this disorder as early as possible.

Warning Signs

Today it is known that it is possible to identify a Specific Learning Disorder with a reading deficit when the child starts learning to read; however, this diagnosis should only be made by properly qualified professionals. Early intervention is considered by various authors (Teles, 2004) to be the most important factor in the recovery of dyslexic readers.

In accordance with Shaywitz (2003) and Teles (2004), there are some warning signs that can be observed before the start of reading learning. The first signs that may indicate potential difficulties in writing appear at the level of oral language:

- Delay in language acquisition

- Difficulty pronouncing complex words correctly (omission or inversion of sounds in words)
- Use of short sentences with poorly pronounced words and omissions or substitutions of syllables or phonemes
 - Difficulty learning names of objects, colors, places, people
 - Difficulty memorizing songs, nursery rhymes, rhymes
 - Difficulty acquiring basic concepts: temporal and spatial
- Difficulty understanding that sentences made up of words can be segmented into syllables

To diagnose a Specific Learning Disorder with a reading deficit, children must demonstrate performance in reading fluency, accuracy, and/or comprehension significantly below what is expected for chronological age, interfering substantially with academic performance and daily life activities (American Psychiatric Association, 2014).

Thus, some authors (Shaywitz, 2003; Teles, 2004) identify several warning signs:

- Does not recognize the letters of their own name
- Difficulty learning and memorizing letter names and sounds
- Difficulty associating letters with their sounds
- Difficulty reading monosyllables and spelling simple words
- Frequent reading errors due to ignorance of grapheme-phoneme correspondence rules
 - Refusal or delay in reading and writing tasks
- Reluctance, slowness, and need for parental support in completing homework
 - Family history of reading and writing difficulties
 - Very slow progress in acquiring reading and spelling
 - Omission of phonemes and syllables in the middle of words
 - Substitution of words with others of the same meaning
 - Tendency to guess words, relying on pictures and context
 - Greater ease in reading words in context than isolated words
 - Difficulty finishing tests within the allotted time
 - Frequent spelling errors
 - Lack of pleasure in reading, avoiding books
 - Disjointed speech with pauses and hesitations

- Incorrect pronunciation of long, unfamiliar, or complex words
- Difficulty finding the correct word, recalling verbal information
- Short-term memory problems, recalling dates, names, phone numbers
- Difficulty giving quick oral responses
- Difficulty recognizing words they have read or heard
- Preference for books with few words and many blank spaces
- Avoids reading to others
- Expressive vocabulary lower than receptive vocabulary
- Avoids using words they fear mispronouncing

If difficulties are not diagnosed early, they can persist and lead children to academic failure and the development of emotional and social integration problems. Consequently, frequent early school dropout (Antunes, 2018) and the choice of less demanding educational paths can be observed.

In addition to these difficulties, some authors argue that a late diagnosis can imply societal problems (Hulme & Snowling, 2016) and even affect the child's integration into school (Nash et al., 2013), potentially leading to more difficulties and academic failure.

Consequences of Dyslexia

If this disorder is not diagnosed early, it can have negative functional consequences throughout the individual's life. According to American Psychiatric Association (2014), one of the consequences of Dyslexia is related to low academic performance, which is reflected in higher rates of school dropout. People with this disorder experience high levels of psychological distress and, consequently, poorer mental health. These individuals have a propensity to attempt suicide whether as children, adolescents or adults. People with Dyslexia have high unemployment rates and, commonly, receive lower wages.

In accordance with Piedade, Marcelo, Porto and Martins (2020), when a child starts school, they begin a process of competition, being compared, evaluated and tested against their peers for the first time. In fact, it is easy to understand that a child facing difficulties may start to doubt their abilities.

Antunes (2018) also notes that early school dropout is more frequent among children with learning disorders, who tend to choose less demanding educational paths. This author adds that the child may eventually seek other options that might include acting out or taking risks. Typically, these children tend to do anything to be noticed or admired, even negatively.

Individuals with a learning disorder often experience psychological distress that can be analysed at the personality and educational levels (Piedade et al., 2020).

At the personality level, they tend to exhibit lack of attention due to the intellectual effort required to address their difficulties. Antunes (2018) notes that the child also demonstrates fatigue, which can result in a delay in vocabulary development and general academic knowledge.

The child with this disorder often shows disinterest in studying due to demotivation and a lack of educational or family stimuli. They may also exhibit personal maladjustment or even emotional issues such as emotional tension, aggressiveness, shyness, insecurity, and indiscipline (Hulme & Snowling, 2016).

At the educational level, children with this disorder typically enter a cycle of failure that may extend into adulthood. They generally have a more limited vocabulary and, as a result, struggle with self-expression. Dyslexic individuals frequently face barriers, which often leads to school dropout (Antunes, 2018).

In addition to these difficulties, the consequences can lead to social problems. Furthermore, some studies have demonstrated a significant relationship between early reading difficulties and problems of social adjustment, juvenile delinquency and other social issues (Hulme & Snowling, 2016).

Another aspect affecting individuals' lives is the diagnosis. A late diagnosis can result in difficulties integrating the child into school, as they are often labeled as lazy, immature and uninterested. Consequently, these children become victims of labels and prejudices for not meeting the societal ideal of a student without learning difficulties. As a result of these labels, they tend to experience greater difficulties and higher academic failure (Nash et al., 2013).

Thus, Dyslexia still appears to be an obstacle to educational progress, potentially having long-term negative effects on the development of cognitive, social and emotional abilities in children.

Conclusion

This study has contributed to a more profound understanding of Specific Learning Disorder with a reading deficit, commonly known as Dyslexia, with the goal of improving intervention with children who have this disorder. Recognizing the characteristics and early warning signs of this disorder enables more targeted interventions, ultimately supporting these children's educational success and emotional well-being.

The main objective of this work was to the Specific Learning Disorder with a reading deficit to assist those involved in the educational process, namely parents, therapists, technicians, and teachers, in identifying this disorder.

The primary objective of this research was to analyze Specific Learning Disorder with a reading deficit to assist those involved in the educational process, including parents, therapists, practitioners and teachers, in identifying and addressing this disorder. Current evidence indicates that if learning difficulties are

not diagnosed early, they can persist and lead children to academic failure and the development of emotional and social integration problems.

This article highlights the long-term impact of delayed diagnosis, which can extend into adulthood. By raising awareness of the warning signs associated with Dyslexia, this study allows educators to better understand its characteristics, promoting early and accurate diagnosis. An early and correct diagnosis helps to find the most effective strategies to support children and help them learn to read.

To prevent early school dropout and the choice of less demanding educational paths, it is crucial that the main stakeholders in the educational process are aware of the difficulties these children face. Moreover, a late diagnosis can lead to complications in the child's integration into school, resulting in academic failure.

Future research should prioritize analyzing the prevalence of Dyslexia in the Portuguese population, as current data remains outdated. Awareness of the defining characteristics and early indicators of Dyslexia should extend to the general public, especially those professionals who interact closely with affected children. If this disorder is diagnosed early, it becomes easier to implement appropriate support strategies from a young age and help children learn to read.

In summary, understanding this learning issue makes it easier to comprehend Dyslexia and facilitates the adaptation of support for children, emphasizing the importance of early and appropriate intervention for each case.

References

- American Psychiatric Association (2014). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. Climepsi Editores. ISBN: 9789727963478
- Antunes, N. (2009). Mal-Entendidos. Editora Verso de Kapa. ISBN: 9789728974824
- Antunes, N. (2018). Sentidos. Editora Lua de Papel. ISBN: 9789892343747
- Cancela, A. (2014). As implicações da dislexia no processo de aprendizagem na perspetiva dos professores do 1.º Ciclo do Ensino básico. [Dissertação de Mestrado]. Repositório científico da Universidade Fernando Pessoa.
- Caravolas, M., Lervåg, A., Defior, S., Seidlová Málková, G., & Hulme, C. (2013). Different patterns, but equivalent predictors, of growth in reading in consistent and inconsistent orthographies. *Psychological Science*, *24*(8), 1398–1407. DOI:10.1177/0956797612473122
- Carreteiro, J. M. (2005). *PADD. Prova de Análise e Despiste da Dislexia*. Editora Psiclínica
- Chiland, C. (1973). La Maladie nommée dyslexie existe-t-elle? In: *L'enfant de 6 ans et son avenir*. Paris: Puf. ISBN: 9782130444442
- Citoler, S. (1996). Las difcultades de aprendizaje: un enfoque cognitivo-lectura, escritura, matemáticas. Editora Aljibe. ISBN: 84-87767-59-1

- Coelho, D. (2014). Dificuldades de Aprendizagem Especificas. Dislexia, Disgrafia, Disortografia e Discalculia. Areal Editores. ISBN: 978-989-647-591-8
- Condemarin, M., & Blomquist, M. (1989). *Teste Exploratório de Dislexia Específica (PEDE)*. Dislexia: manual de leitura corretiva. Editora Artes Médicas.
- Correia, L. (2008). Dificuldades de aprendizagem específicas: contributos para uma definição portuguesa. Porto Editora. ISBN: 9789720347718
- Correia, L., & Martins, A. (1999). *Dificuldades de aprendizagem: que são? como entendê-las?* Porto Editora. ISBN: 978-972-0-34771-8
- Cruz, V. (2009). *Dificuldades de aprendizagem específicas*. Lisboa: LIDEL Edições Técnicas, Lda. ISBN: 978-972-757-600-5
- Cruz, V. (2011). Dificuldades de aprendizagem específicas: uma abordagem e seus fundamentos. *Revista Educação Especial Santa Maria, 24*(41), 329-346. https://www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=313127403002
- Davis, R., & Braun, E. (2010). *O Dom da Dislexia. Editora Lua de Papel.* ISBN: 9789892308425
- Doust, C., Fontanillas, P., Eising, E., et al. (2022). Discovery of 42 genome-wide significant loci associated with dyslexia. *Nature Genetics*, *54*, 1621–1629. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-022-01192-y
- Estanqueiro, A. (2013). Comu*nicar com os filhos: o papel dos pais na educação*. Lisboa, Editorial Presença. ISBN: 9789722349598
- Fawcett A., & Nicolson R. (1992). Automatization deficits in balance for dyslexic children. *Revista Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *75*, 507-529. DOI:10.2466/pms.1992.75.2.507
- Ferraz, I. (2020). *Aprender a ler: um livro para pais, professores, educadores e todos os interessados na aprendizagem da leitura*. Novas Edições Académicas. ISBN: 978-620-2-80574-2
- Fletcher, J. M. (2009). Dyslexia: The evolution of a scientific concept. Journal of the International *Neuropsychological Society*, *15*(04), 501-508. DOI: 10.1017/S135561770909090
- Fletcher, J., Lyon, G., Fuchs, L., & Barnes, M. (2007). Learning Disabilities: From Identification to Intervention. *Guilford Journal of Attention Disorders*, *11*(3), 412-415. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054707305354
- Fonseca, V. (1978). P.D.D.A. Projeto de Despistagem de Dificuldades e Aprendizagens. Edição do CDliaccf.
- Fonseca, V. (1979). *DAPA Diagnóstico das Aquisições Perceptivo-auditivas*. Editorial Notícias.
- Fonseca, V. (1984). *Uma introdução às dificuldades de aprendizagem.* Editora Notícias. ISBN: 9789724600277

- Fonseca, V. (2004). *Dificuldades de aprendizagem, abordagem neuropsicológica e psicopedagógica ao insucesso escolar.* Âncora Editores. ISBN: 9789727802104
- Fonseca, V. (2009). Dislexia, cognição e aprendizagem: uma abordagem neuropsicológica das dificuldades de aprendizagem da leitura. *Revista Psicopedagogia*, 26(81), 339-356. ISSN 0103-8486
- Hulme, C., & Snowling, M. (2016). Reading disorders and dyslexia. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*. *28*(6), 731-735. DOI:10.1097/MOP.0000000000000411
- Kirk, A., & Gallagher, J. (2002). *Educação da Criança Excepcional*. Martins Fontes Editora. ISBN: 9788533605343
- Kirk, S., Gallagher, J., Anastasiow, N., & Coleman, M. (2005). *Educating exceptional children*. Boston, Houghton Mifflin.
- Lerner, J., & Kline, F. (2005). *Learning disabilities and related disorders: characteristics and teaching strategies*. Boston, Houghton Mifflin.
- Lona, I. (2014). A Escola e a Dislexia, uma Maneira Diferente de Aprender. [Dissertação de Mestrado]. Repositório científico da Escola Superior de Educação João de Deus.
- Lyon, G., Shaywitz, S., & Shaywitz, B. (2003). A definition of dyslexia. *Annals of Dyslexia*, *53*(1), 1-14. DOI: 10.1007/s11881-003-0001-9
- Martins, A. (2006). *Dificuldades de aprendizagem: compreender o fenómeno a partir de sete estudos de caso*. [Tese de Doutoramento]. Repositório científico da Universidade do Minho.
- Melby-Lervåg, M., Lyster, S., & Hulme, C. (2012). Phonological skills and their role in learning to read: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin, 138*(2), 322. DOI:10.1037/a0026744
- Moura, O. (2014). *Avaliação Neuropsicológica na Dislexia de Desenvolvimento*. [Tese de Doutoramento]. Repositório científico da Universidade de Coimbra.
- Nash, H., Hulme, C, Gooch, D., & Snowling, M. (2013). Preschool language profiles of children at family risk of dyslexia: continuities with specific language impairment. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *54*, 958-968. DOI:10.1111/jcpp.12091
- Oliveira, R. (2017). A Importância de Analisar as Dificuldades de Aprendizagem no Contexto Escolar: Dislexia, Disgrafia, Disortográfica, Discalculia e Transtorno de Déficit de Atenção e Hiperatividade (TDAH). *Revista Científica Multidisciplinar Núcleo do Conhecimento, 2*(16), 492-521. ISSN:2448-0959.
- Paula, G., Beber, B., Baggio, S., & Petry, T. (2006). Neuropsicologia da aprendizagem. *Revista Psicopedagogia*, *23*(72), 224-231. ISSN 0103-8486
- Pépio R., & Maia R. (2018). *Dislexia e o enquadramento da neuropsicologia*. Psicologia.pt. O portal dos psicólogos. ISSN 1646-6977. https://www.psicologia.pt/artigos/textos/A1244.pdf

- Piedade, C., Marcelo, B., Porto, S., & Martins, M. (2020). A Perturbação da Aprendizagem Específica: Um olhar diferente sobre esta realidade. OMNIA Revista Interdisciplinar de Ciências e Artes, 10(2), 13-28. ISSN: 2183-8720
- Polese, C., Costa, G., & Miechuanski, G. P. (2011). Dislexia: Um novo olhar. *Revista de Educação do Instituto de Desenvolvimento Educacional do Alto Uruguai, 2*(2), 2-23.
- Rey, A. (1942). REY Teste de Cópia de Figuras Complexas. (Versão Portuguesa: António Menezes Rocha e Maria Helena Coelho). Editora Cegoc. ISBN: 7898621710896
- Ribeiro, A., & Baptista A. (2006). *Dislexia. Compreensão, avaliação, estratégias*. Editora Ouarteto. ISBN: 978-989-558-06
- Ritzen, P., & Debray, F. (1981). *Como despistar uma dislexia num jovem estudante*. Moraes Editores.
- Rose, J. (2009). *Identifying and teaching children with dyslexia and other literacy difficulties*. https://www.thedyslexia-spldtrust.org.uk/media/downloads/inline/the-rose-report.1294933674.pdf.
- Serra, H., & Estrela, M. (2007). Dislexia e perturbações associadas: Memória e Atenção. *Cadernos de Estudo, 5*, 93-115. http://hdl.handle.net/20.500.11796/902
- Shaywitz, S. (2003). *Overcaming dyslexia: a new and complete science-based program for overcoming reading problems at any level.* Alfred A. Knopf Inc.
- Shaywitz, S., Shaywitz, B., Pugh, K., Fulbright, R., Constable, R., Mencl W, Shankweiler, D., Liberman, A., Skudlarski, P., Fletcher, J., Katz, L., Marchione, K., Lacadie, C., Gatenby, C., & Gore, J. (1998). Functional disruption in the organization of the brain for reading in dyslexia. *Revista Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95(5) 2636-2641. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.5.2636
- Silva, A. (2002). Bateria de Provas Fonológicas. Instituto Superior de Psicologia Aplicada. ISBN: 9789728400835
- Sim-Sim, I. (1997). Avaliação da linguagem oral: Um contributo para o conhecimento do desenvolvimento linguístico das crianças portuguesas. Fundação Calouste Gulbenkian.
- Snowling, M. (2001). *Dislexia. Ajudando a superar a Dislexia*. Livraria Santos Editora. ISBN: 9788572883504
- Snowling, M., & Melby-Lervåg, M. (2016). Oral language deficits in familial dyslexia: A meta-analysis and review. *Psychological Bulletin*, *142*(5), 498. DOI:10.1037/bul0000037
- Snowling, M., Nash, H., Gooch, D., Hayiou-Thomas, M., & Hulme, C. (2019). Developmental outcomes for children at high risk of dyslexia and children

- with developmental language disorder. *Child Development*, *90*(5), e548–e564. DOI:10.1111/cdev.13216
- Snowling, M., & Hulme, C. (2024). Do we really need a new definition of dyslexia? A commentary. *Ann. of Dyslexia 74*, 355–362 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11881-024-00305-y
- Sousa, A., & Martins, S. (2015). Orientações diagnósticas. In C. Bandeira de Lima (Coord.), *Perturbações do neurodesenvolvimento*. Manual de orientações diagnósticas e estratégias de intervenção. (pp.161-168). Lidel Edições Técnicas. ISBN: 9789897521522
- Sucena, A., & Castro, S. (2008). Aprender a Ler e Avaliar a Leitura. O TIL: Teste de Idade de Leitura. Editora Almedina. ISBN: 9789724039190
- Sucena, A., & Castro, S. L. (2011). *ALEPE Avaliação da Leitura em Português Europeu*. Lisboa: Cegoc. ISBN: 978-972-8817-85-9
- Teles, P. (2004). Dislexia: Como identificar? Como intervir? *Revista Portuguesa de Clínica Geral*, 20, 713-730. https://doi.org/10.32385/rpmgf.v20i6.10097
- Thursthone, L., & Yela, M. (1985). *TPD Teste de Perceção de Diferenças*. (Versão Portuguesa: António Menezes Rocha e Maria Helena Coelho). Editora Cegoc. ISBN: 972-8817-25-8
- Torres, R., & Fernández, P. (2001). *Dislexia, disortografia e disgrafia*. McGraw-Hill. ISBN: 9789727731213
- Vale, A., Sucena, A., & Viana, F. (2011). Prevalência da dislexia entre crianças do 1.º ciclo do ensino básico falantes do português europeu. *Revista Lusófona de Educação*, 18, 45-56. https://hdl.handle.net/1822/17195
- Vellutino, F., Fletcher, J., Snowling, M., & Scanlon, D. (2004). Specific reading disability (dyslexia): What have we learned in the past four decades? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(1), 2-40. DOI:10.1046/j.0021-9630.2003.00305.x
- Viana, F. (2004). *TICL: teste de identificação de competências linguísticas*. Editora Edipsico. ISBN: 972-31-0983-2
- Viana, F. (2005). Avaliação e Intervenção em Dificuldades da Aprendizagem da Leitura. Psicologia escolar Uma proposta cientifico-pedagógica, 61-82. Editora Quarteto. http://hdl.handle.net/1822/11982
- Viana, F., & Ribeiro, I. (2010). *P.R.P. Prova de Reconhecimento da Palavras*. Editora Cegoc. ISBN: 978-972-8817-75-6
- Wechsler, D. (1997). *WAIS-III Escala de Inteligência de Wechsler para adultos*. Editora Cegoc. ISBN: 978-972-8817-44-2
- Wechsler, D. (2005). WISC-IV Escala de Inteligência de Wechsler para Crianças Idade Pré-escolar e Primária. Editora Cegoc. ISBN: 978-972-8817-46-6

- Willcutt, E., Pennington, B., Olson, R., Chhabildas, N., & Hulslander, J. (2005). Neuropsychological analyses of comorbidity between reading disability and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: In search of the common deficit. *Developmental Neuropsychology, 27(1), 35-78. DOI:10.1207/s15326942dn2701_3
- Willcutt, E., Petrill, S., Wu, S., Boada, R., DeFries, J., Olson, R., & Pennington, B. (2013). Comorbidity between reading disability and math disability: Concurrent psychopathology, functional impairment, and neuropsychological functioning. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 46(6), 500-516. DOI: 10.1177/0022219413477476.
- Yang, L., Li, C., Li, X., Zhai, M., An, Q., Zhang, Y., Zhao, J., & Weng, X. (2022). Prevalence of Developmental Dyslexia in Primary School Children: A Systematic *Review and Meta-Analysis*. *Brain Sci*, 2(2), 240. DOI:10.3390/brainsci12020240.
- Zeffiro T, & Eden G. (2000). The neural basis of developmental dyslexia. The phonological processing systems. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 50(1),1-30. DOI:10.1007/s11881-000-0015-5

Bionote

Inês Patrícia Rodrigues Ferraz has a degree in Primary Education from the University of Madeira, a Master's degree in Educational Psychology from the University of Madeira and a PhD in Child Studies, specializing in Developmental Psychology and Education from the University of Minho. Researcher at the Child Studies Research Center, University of Minho. Trainer at the Madeira Teachers' Union and the Madeira Regional Directorate of Education. Coordinator of the Family Literacy Project "Ler para Crescer" implemented in the Autonomous Region of Madeira. Author of books, book chapters and scientific articles in international, national and regional magazines. Published the book "Aprender a ler" (Learning to read) by Novas Edições Académicas.

Email: inesprferraz@gmail.com

ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3177-1652

Received: September 2024 Published: December 2024

child studies ○

N. 6, 2024

CHILDREN'S PICTURES IN RESEARCH PRACTICES ACROSS ACADEMIC DISCIPLINES

IMAGENS DE CRIANÇAS EM PRÁTICAS DE INVESTIGAÇÃO EM DIFERENTES DISCIPLINAS ACADÉMICAS

Johanna Sjöberg

Department of thematic studies – Child Studies,
Linköping university, Sweden

Abstract

With the aim of exploring how children's pictures are made relevant and given meaning in research, this article analyses how children's pictures are used, discussed, and studied across different academic disciplines. Altogether, 423 articles published between 2010 and 2023 were thematically analysed. Four themes were identified that run through the research: Health and wellbeing, Competence and the mind, Education, and Agency and opinions. Each have strong connections to academic disciplines but are not simply defined by them. They are connected to specific perspectives on children's pictures, as well as specific notions of children. The study shows that very few studies focus on children's pictures per se, or analyse them solely for artistic reasons. Instead, children's pictures are often included in research with the purpose of making claims that extend beyond the pictures themselves, and beyond picture-making processes.

Keywords: research, methodology, children, pictures

Resumo

Com o objetivo de explorar a forma como as imagens de crianças se tornam relevantes e ganham significado na investigação, este artigo analisa a forma como as imagens de crianças são utilizadas, discutidas e estudadas em diferentes disciplinas académicas. No total, foram analisados tematicamente 423 artigos publicados entre 2010 e 2023. Foram identificados quatro temas que atravessam a investigação: Saúde e bem-estar, Competência e a mente, Educação, e Agência e

opiniões. Cada um deles tem fortes ligações às disciplinas académicas, mas não são simplesmente definidos por elas. Estão ligadas a perspetivas específicas sobre as imagens das crianças, bem como a noções específicas de criança. O estudo mostra que muito poucos estudos se centram nas imagens de crianças *per se*, ou as analisam apenas por razões artísticas. Em vez disso, as imagens de crianças são frequentemente incluídas na investigação com o objetivo de fazer afirmações que vão para além das próprias imagens e dos processos de criação de imagens.

Palavras-chave investigação, metodologia, crianças, imagens

Introduction

To understand children's role and place in society, research must, from time to time, turn a critical eye towards itself, asking what it is that we as a research community do. It is extremely important to gain knowledge about how we position children and make them part of research. The aim of this study is to explore how children's pictures are made relevant and given meaning in research across academic disciplines. What is it that the collective research community does with children's pictures, and how does it simultaneously position children?

The background for the study is a recognition that picture-making is an important practice for children around the globe, and that adults are closely involved in this making, as well as in taking care of and interpreting the pictures. What adults do with children's pictures and how they approach them are not neutral acts, however. Rather, they are ideological. Wilson (1997) states: "The situations in which adults' study and interpret works of children's art always reflect an ideology – a particular set of values, biases, and interests. (p. 167)" When applied to the research community, populated by adults, this quote highlights the importance of seeing and understanding what ideologies, values, biases, and interests are implicit when children's pictures are used, discussed, or studied in research.

Rose, Jolley, and Burkitt (2006) argue that research concerning children's drawings should more thoroughly consider the contexts in which drawing occurs and they consider it crucial to investigate the attitudes and practices of teachers, parents, and children as they shape children's drawing experiences and the drawings they produce. I argue that it is important to achieve an even broader understanding of the social meaning of children's pictures and picture-making practices. It is thus essential to dig deeper into academic research, as this is one particular and important context in which children's pictures are made, used, and interpreted (Mitchell et al., 2011).

This study is positioned within the field of childhood studies/child studies. It is written in a large research project on children's cultural heritage (Vetenskapsrådet, dnr. 2020-03095), in which we cooperate with Svenskt barnbildarkiv (Eng. Swedish Archive of Children's Art) where more than 700 000

pictures made by children are conserved. Researchers from many different fields and disciplines come to this archive to work. Using different perspectives, theories, and methods, they analyse and discuss children's pictures for many different reasons. This practice reflects a larger trend in which children's pictures, particularly drawings, are shown to be of interest to researchers from within various disciplines and perspectives (Burkitt, 2022).

Historically children's drawings were first used in research at the turn of the 20th century. The purpose was to try to assess children's intelligence and developmental stages through them (Cox, 1993). More recently, they have been used for therapeutic purposes (Rubin, 2005), as well as tools for psychologists in their attempts to understand the child's mind and how drawing skills develop (Jolley, 2010; Milbrath & Trautner, 2008). Psychological approaches have been the dominant framework, even within educational contexts, an approach that is now heavily disputed from post-developmental perspectives (Sakr & Osgood, 2019; Trafi-Prats & Schulte, 2022).

The fact that children's pictures and picture-making practices are examined from within numerous fields raises questions about why, when, and how children's pictures are used in research, and what it means that they are used in these ways. I have found no study that investigates this; however, there are some reviews of how previous research uses visual methods with children (e.g. Driessnack & Furukawa, 2012; Xie et al., 2022). Nevertheless, these remain within their own fields and cannot say anything about approaches across different academic contexts. This study therefore fills a gap by addressing how children are made part of and understood within the wider research community dealing with children's pictures. Rather than being a compilation of studies, it is a qualitative thematic analysis of how children's pictures are approached, using published academic articles as the study material. I ask: How and for what purposes are children's pictures included in research?

Methodological considerations

In order to understand how children's pictures are made relevant in research across disciplines, a qualitative thematic analysis was conducted on an extensive body of research. The final collection of included studies consists of 423 articles.

To gather the material and gain a first overview of previous research, methodological inspiration was taken from the scoping review method. This method was developed to map out and examine previous research to provide literature overviews of broad topics where many different study designs might have been used (Levac et al., 2010). In line with the scoping review literature, I worked through the following steps: 1) Identify the research question, 2) Identify relevant studies, 3) Study selection, 4) Chart the data, 5) Collate, summarise, and report the results. This was done creatively and reflexively through a back-and-forth movement, repeating steps when necessary (Arksey & O'Malley, 2005).

Seeking to identify as many relevant studies as possible, I made manual and digital searches of various sources. Initially no restrictions were applied concerning publication date, genre, etc. All titles that appeared to include discussions on children's pictures were collected. The manual searches consisted of scrolling through reference lists, grey literature, and relevant researchers' personal websites. Digital searches were conducted through the databases Web of Science, Academic Search Complete, ERIC, NB-ECEC, PsycInfo, and Google Scholar. Search terms used in different combinations were the English words: "child*" + "picture*", "draw*", "drawing", "image", "child art", "photo*", "craft", "creativity", and the search strings "children were asked to draw" and "children were asked to paint". Numerous hits were deemed irrelevant because they refer to studies about, for example, children's picture books, or use the words "picture", "draw", and "image" metaphorically without having any connection to actual pictures or picture-making practices. An example is the article "Child and adolescent obesity: Part of a bigger picture" (Lobstein et al., 2015). After these hits were removed, the digital collection was still too large and included many duplicate and irrelevant titles. I decided to concentrate on recent studies published as articles. Following this logic, I weeded out some titles while simultaneously adding others located through targeted searches for recently published, peer-reviewed academic articles with abstracts.

This method does not guarantee that I have found all studies dealing with children's pictures. More articles could probably have been found if I had added additional search terms or searched in more databases and reference lists. Thus, the final collection used here as the empirical material, consisting of 423 articles published between 2010 and 2023, should be considered as a minimum of the total number of existing relevant studies. The studies found represent a broad range of research that deals with children's pictures in different methodological and theoretical ways. The majority are published in English, in peer-reviewed journals.

Criteria for the final collection

- Study or review published as article with English abstract.
- The article includes terms like "child*" + "picture*", "draw*", "drawing", "image", "child art", "photo*", "craft", "creativity", "children were asked to draw", or "children were asked to paint".
 - Article deals with child-produced pictures in one way or another.
- Children are defined as age spans under 18, or by defining terms like children, teenagers, schoolchildren, or pupils. Other age groups may simultaneously be present.
 - Published during the period 2010-2023.

The database searches generated hitlists that included three types of important information: 1) name of the publishing journal, often indicating its

belonging to a certain discipline or research field, 2) title of the article, indicating the thematic direction of the study, and 3) abstract, often explicitly or implicitly stating how children's pictures are made relevant in the study. This information functioned as a basis for thematic sorting. Guidance on how to approach similarities and dissimilarities was taken from literature on thematisation and qualitative categorisation work (Ryan & Bernard, 2003; Bergman & Coxon, 2005).

In the first rough sorting, titles with attached abstracts were pasted into a Word file in clusters based on identified connections and similarities relating to frequently used theories, methods, or keywords. Titles were moved between clusters and repeatedly re-sorted. Slowly, this sorting and re-sorting resulted in four major themes. It was not a linear process, with new titles frequently being added; thus, the themes were revisited and sometimes adjusted. Adding titles functioned as a test of how well the themes worked. As more and more articles continued to align neatly with one or more of the themes and none fell outside them, I conclude that, at an overarching level, the four themes correctly cover how research has dealt with children's pictures during the last 13 years.

The four major themes are: 1) Health and wellbeing, 2) Competence and the mind, 3) Education, and 4) Agency and opinions. Some studies align very straightforwardly with one of these themes; for example, with Health and wellbeing when simultaneously focusing on children's health, being published in a medical journal, and making medical claims. In other cases, studies take on a multidisciplinary approach and combine theories and methods from different traditions in ways that align them with more than one theme. This can be exemplified by the journal Educational Psychology, which reveals through its title that an article published there may simultaneously touch upon psychological research, often focusing on competence and/or the mind, and education. Two themes are then relevant and it is difficult to assign such a study to one theme only. Obviously, the themes intersect and the thematisation is not exclusive. Thus, "themes" might be a misleading term for what I have observed through the material. For practical reasons, however, I will stick to the term, while recognising that "loose sprawling topics", "discourses", or "strands" could be equally suitable terms.

I scrutinised all titles within each theme, working mainly with the abstracts but also downloading a majority of full articles and reading them to secure my understanding of the studies. I focused especially on aim, method, and theoretical approach in order to understand how each study deals with children's pictures. In this work, I recognised the distinctiveness of the themes, as well as subthemes within them.

The way in which the themes intersect and studies sometime align with more than one theme makes it difficult to count how many articles fall into each theme. Also, working within a qualitative tradition, I am hesitant to make counts at all. Nevertheless, to be transparent, I do declare the numbers in each theme at the final sorting. These numbers, which should be read as somewhat provisional, give an indication of where children's pictures are most often made relevant: Health and

wellbeing (138), Competence and the mind (97), Education (68), Agency and opinions (120). In the analysis below, the four themes are further discussed and exemplified.

Analysis: Children's pictures in research

The collected studies were published by researchers from, and concerning, a vast range of countries and communities, mainly but not exclusively in the global north. The pictures they deal with usually refer to child-produced drawings created manually using analogue tools such as pens, pencils, crayons, and sometimes brush-applied colours. However, other picture-making practices are also represented, such as photographs, collages, and digital pictures. Children's pictures are made relevant in three different ways: as finished products, as part of a picture-making process, and as a combination of both. Within the different themes, these three approaches appear to varying degrees.

Pictures are primarily used as a means to try to understand other things than children's pictures in themselves. This means that few studies focus solely on pictures. Some studies, for example reviews or theory and method developments, discuss children's pictures or picture-making processes theoretically, meaning that no "real" pictures or "real" children are included. It is therefore not possible to declare which children (age, country, and so forth) are being discussed in studies within the different themes. However, when children are referred to as participants in studies, they are seldom under the age of three. This might be because researchers consider the youngest children to be not yet competent in drawing. One exception is a visual ethnographic study that includes children as young as twelve months making pictures together with their parents (Lämsä et al., 2017).

Health and wellbeing

The health and wellbeing theme consists of studies within a broad range of medical and caring fields. Children's pictures are included here in a few different ways. The first can be exemplified by a medical study on the long-term motor-function consequences of prenatal exposure to insecticides. This is a quantitative study in which 263 children aged eleven were asked to draw Archimedes spirals. These spirals were later rated and used to determine whether the children in a group known to have been exposed to insecticides as foetuses display tremor, which is proof of a neurological effect (Rauh et al., 2015). Here, the children's drawings are seen as physical performances that provide evidence of a medical condition.

Another, very common, way that children's pictures are included in studies concerning health and wellbeing is when groups of children with a particular medical diagnosis or disability are asked to make pictures about their condition. This includes, for example, children who are hospitalised or have been diagnosed with cancer, diabetes, epilepsy, or heart disease. Often the chosen group of children

was asked to draw pictures that were later assessed in order for the researchers to make better diagnoses and/or better understand the children's experiences of their health issues. In one example of such a study, children with migraine were told to draw the visual aura they experienced when having a migraine seizure (Yilmaz et al., 2019). As migraine aura is a visual experience that nobody else can see, encouraging children to visualise it on paper seems a plausible method for communicating their experience. In most cases, however, the connection between the disease and visuality is not as explicit, but the same method is used. Children with paediatric restless legs syndrome, for example, were asked to draw their symptoms: "Do you think you could draw me a picture of how it feels when you get that feeling in your legs on this piece of paper?" When they had finished their drawing, the children were asked to "Tell me about your picture" (Picchietti et al., 2011: 1366). The drawings and children's explanations were then analysed for specific content related to diagnostic criteria. As in the restless legs study, a drawing task is usually combined with a conversation or interview about the medical condition, which is the main focus of the study.

Many health and wellbeing studies explicitly use drawing as a way to facilitate communication, to make it easier for children to talk about their experiences. Some say that drawing activities were used as a stimulus for conversation (e.g. Mohangi et al., 2011) or as "icebreakers" to start an interview, and a way to help the child express ideas or feelings that might be difficult to verbalise (Zigler et al., 2020). Hence, drawing is seen as an aid for children to become better interviewees. It is said that letting children draw "while talking increased the amount of neutral information that children verbally reported and helped to overcome limitations in language skills" (Ware et al., 2020: abstract). Woolford et al. (2015) even argue that, in mental health assessments, children who both drew and talked about their problems provided twice as much information as children who only talked.

Many studies within this theme have a solid connection to the medical field, and are published in journals such as Neurological Sciences, Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing, Journal of Child Health Care, Comprehensive Child and Adolescent Nursing, and Journal of Pediatric Health Care. There are also studies with a primary interest in children's wellbeing in wider terms; for example, children's understanding and awareness of mental health issues and studies about psychosocial needs, and the experiences and stigmatisation of children with physical, neurological, or psychological diagnoses. There is also a psychological strand, with publications in journals such as Emotional & Behavioural Difficulties, Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry, Frontiers in Psychology, International Journal of Social Psychiatry, and Arts in Psychotherapy. These are studies within art therapy (Altay et al., 2017; Clapp et al., 2019) and where vulnerable children's drawings are analysed psychologically (do Vale Pinheiro et al., 2015). Other examples include studies focusing on groups of children with experiences of different traumas and crises; for example, sexual abuse, migration, war, parents' illness, death of a sibling, or home confinement due to COVID-19. Again, the common method is for children to be asked to draw as a conversation starter, with the purpose of understanding them and providing better help.

What ties together these studies within the Health and wellbeing theme is that, in different ways, children are positioned as patients, or more generally as vulnerable groups exposed to health-related problems such as illness or having experienced crisis. The overarching aims are to make diagnoses, evaluate children's wellbeing, develop methods for best practice, and improve treatments to make children feel better. The medical, or health-related, issues are the focus, while pictures are usually included on the assumption that drawing is an especially useful tool when trying to gain information and access children's views on their health. The frequently used method of asking children to draw and talk take it for granted that children can draw, and that it is possible to glean facts from their drawings, or – more prominently – from the talk that the drawings spark. This assigns children competences in picture-making and as informants. The fact that these pictures are seldom analysed deeply or used without complementing interviews, however, reveals that words are valued over visual communication.

Competence and the mind

Within the Competence and the mind theme, there is considerable use of children's pictures as finished products in themselves. Generally, large quantities of drawings have been made on request and collected within experimental settings. In the largest study found, drawings from 7752 pairs of twins were analysed (Arden et al., 2014). Children are commonly asked to draw either a predetermined figure. such as copying a geometrical shape (Portex et al., 2017) or a freehand drawing, frequently of people, such as themselves (Burkitt & Watling, 2016), their family (Howard et al., 2017), or a human figure (Cannoni et al., 2021). These drawings are then scrutinised and evaluated from a psychological or cognitive perspective and usually processed statistically. The focus is generally on aspects central to psychology, such as development, cognition, perception, attachment, competence, and issues concerning the typical and the deviant. The competence and mind theme also includes studies designed to test and develop psychological and statistical methods and models (e.g. Strikas et al., 2022), and studies connected to a long tradition of assessing children's developmental capabilities; for example, using the draw-a-man test (e.g. Rakhmanov & Dane, 2019), which was developed by Goodenough in the 1920s (Cox, 1993). Studies are published in journals such as Acta Paediatrica, Early Child Development and Care, Arts in Psychotherapy, Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, and Educational Psychology.

Five types of orientation, or subthemes, can be described within this theme. One is "Children's drawing competences", in which drawing skills are assessed. This can be exemplified by a study of 90 children aged two to four years drawing in a smartphone app (Yadav & Chakraborty, 2017). In its focus on drawing competence, this study is typical of this theme, but it is simultaneously unusual because it focuses on digital, not manual, drawing competences, and because the researchers observed

how young children drew for a few minutes, rather than just looking at the finished products made by older children. Often, these studies let children solve a drawing task, such as drawing a football player (Baluch et al., 2017), with the aim of understanding children's different competences in relation to cultural settings or gender. Sometimes drawing competences are further related to language skills, typically focusing on comparing the drawing competences of children with presumed language disorders with those of typically developing children (e.g. Blom et al., 2021), or to scrutinise how language skills can aid drawing competence (Adline & Lefevre, 2021).

"Competences of certain groups of children" is the next subtheme, in which drawings made by special groups of children are collected and their skills assessed. Tested groups include children making stunningly realistic drawings (Drake & Winner, 2018), children with visual impairments (Vinter et al., 2018), and children with an autism diagnosis (Shi et al., 2021).

The subtheme of "Development" represents the many studies that focus on age and age-related knowledge of drawing and drawing skills. Here, different age groups are selected, and their drawings compared to each other, often in order to determine the point at which children typically become able to draw in one way or another. This can be exemplified by a study in which 120 children, in three age groups (five, seven, and nine years) were asked to draw, from their memory, with their preferred hand, some common objects (e.g. a walking dog, a facial profile, and a cup). The drawings were coded and analysed for their directionally, with the finding that there are differences in how different age groups draw the direction of these objects, and that by the age of nine children do it in relation to their own dominant hand, similar to adult drawers (Picard, 2011).

"Drawing competences in light of evolution and genetics" is a subtheme in which drawing is seen as an ancient behaviour, for which it is important to find the roots. Here, drawings made by child twins (Arden et al., 2014) are compared, as well as children's drawings in comparison to those made by adults and by apes (Saito et al., 2014; Martinet et al., 2021).

Lastly, there is a subtheme in which children's drawings are used as a method for measuring their inner perceptions and psychological features; for example, their perception of self (Goldner & Levi, 2014), attachment to significant others (e.g. Howard et al., 2017), and how creative they are (e.g. Mottweiler & Taylor, 2014).

Overall, studies within the Competence and mind theme aim to disclose what children are like, what they can do, and when. At its foundation, the pictures that children make are expected to show natural differences according to inner processes, age, and development. They are also thought of as something that can be correctly read, coded, counted, and compared. Children and their drawings are understood as something that can be assessed and measured to reveal facts, not only about the children who took part in those specific studies, but about children generally. Thus, there is a scientific truth-claiming foundation to this. In addition, children are positioned within a typical or deviant developmental movement that

adults have grown beyond. This means that children are positioned as a group separate and different from adults, apart from when children and their drawings are used in studies taking evolutionary or genetic approaches, when instead they stand as representatives of humanity, able to reveal something fundamental about human behaviour.

Education

This next theme comprises studies focusing on children's picture-making as part of school and other educational settings. Different approaches to pedagogy and learning are their core focus of interest. It aligns with the pedagogical discipline, teacher training, and early childhood education. Publications appear in, for example, International Journal of Art & Design Education, Journal of Curriculum Studies, Research in Arts and Education, and International Journal of Early Years Education.

Both qualitative and quantitative methods are present here, as well as studies that include finished pictures and picture-making processes. However, the focus is seldom on the finished pictures themselves, but on different actions involved in children practising picture-making. Here, drawings are only one of many picturemaking techniques that are included. Some experimental studies compare art teaching methods by scrutinising sets of children's drawings (e.g. Chad-Friedman et al., 2019), while in other studies children's pictures are addressed as something that is merely talked about, sometimes not yet even existing. The not-yet-existing picture is made relevant in studies that discuss children's pictures in relation to curricula (e.g. Hamilton et al., 2019), a school subject that is part of visual arts education (e.g. lafelice, 2016; Kauffman, 2016), or different pedagogical settings, theories, and methods (e.g. Rose & Jolley, 2016). Children's pictures are then considered in the abstract, as something that can be worked with theoretically in order to be taught in ideal ways and improved in real educational settings in the future. Thus, within this theme, teachers and their doings are almost as central as children.

Another part of the Education theme comprises empirical studies dealing with children's picture-making in school classrooms, preschool, and kindergarten. Quite a few of these are ethnographic studies, following what happens during art lessons, and focusing on teachers' pedagogical strategies (e.g. Hallam et al., 2011) and children's actions during art education (e.g. Hallam et al., 2014). Here, interviews and discussions with teachers and children in school often complement observations. In some studies, the researcher is involved in participatory action research in the classroom. For example, Wahyudi and Fathani (2018) arranged a finger-painting class to study children's learning and evaluate the instruction model, and Darling-McQuistan (2017) was simultaneously researcher and teacher using drawings with her class of 5–7-year-olds to enable them to jointly reflect upon the purpose of learning.

Another recurring approach within this theme focuses on, or seeks, the benefits of children making pictures. It is directed towards both the benefits of art and picture-making in itself (e.g. Burkitt & Lowry, 2015) and the benefits of including picture-making for other purposes, such as in a community art programme (Adejumo, 2010), and in other school subjects for children to learn and become engaged with something else. For example, one study explored how digital cameras can enhance preschool children's engagement with science investigations (Britsch, 2019), and another showed that drawing can aid children in learning basic life saving skills (Petris et al., 2017).

It is characteristic for the Education theme that children are positioned as pupils and apprentices who should explore the visual, express themselves, and learn how to refine their creativity. In comparison to Competence and the mind, this refinement does not inevitably come naturally through development. Rather, children should learn and benefit from picture-making, and that in turn means that adults with special competencies are closely involved. There is a focus on trying to find the best methods and teaching practices for children to achieve competence. This mean that children's future picture-making skills are touched upon here. And, since visual art education is central, children are accordingly seen as artists in the making, not yet fully competent in picture-making.

Agency and opinions

This final theme consists of studies from disparate disciplines and interdisciplinary fields within the humanities and social sciences. These publications are scattered across a wide range of journals. A few of the recurring ones are Children & Society, International Journal of Qualitative Methods, Visual Communication, and Studies in Art Education.

Within the Agency and opinion's theme, children's pictures are examined using a wide variety of methods, ranging from large quantitative studies to qualitative microstudies, and with numerous different aims. The common denominator is that children and their pictures are studied mainly for their own sake and/or that children's agency and/or opinions are central. The cultural and social aspects of life are important foundations for how children's pictures and picture-making are regarded here. Four broad strands of studies were identified within this theme. Firstly, there are studies analysing pictures that children have created, what they are, and what knowledge they mediate. Examples are archaeological studies of cave art (e.g. Lima et al., 2019) and analyses of children's art treated as historical documents (e.g. Kay, 2021), all valuing children's aesthetic and historical contributions to the understanding of our mutual past. Children's pictures are also analysed from an art historical perspective and at a theoretical level, as when discussing what children's drawings or children's art are, and how they can be regarded (e.g. Zuccoli, 2019; Park, 2019).

Secondly, there are studies focusing on children's multimodal activities related to picture-making in everyday contexts. These are usually in-depth ethnographic studies with a few children, focusing on meaning-making and drawing as play (Kukkonen & Chang, 2018) and social interaction. One example is Coates and Coates' (2021) study of two children who sit together talking and drawing. Another is Sakr's (2018) study of how children collaborate on drawing tasks with pen and paper and iPad, respectively. Also, there are studies focusing on daily occasions of drawing (Cameron et al., 2020) and close analyses of picture-making processes (Sakr et al., 2018).

Thirdly, there are studies that make use of drawings methodologically in order to understand children's experiences and what they think about certain issues. For example, Eskelinen (2012) asked children to photograph what they usually do in the afternoon, and Amrutha et al. (2021) analysed an exhibition of children's pictures about COVID-19 to gain an understanding of their perspectives on the pandemic. Most commonly, groups of children are asked by the researcher to draw something in particular. By giving children a set topic, the purpose is to gather their views and opinions on that topic in visual form. The topics given range from requests to draw a scientist (Christidou et al., 2023), which is quite common, to drawing your favourite gift (Kruuse et al., 2020), and drawing the future and the past (Rudolph & Wright, 2015). Studies of this kind can be large and quantitative but, due to their cultural-theory framing, rather than developmental theory, they seldom make general truth claims, in contrast to studies on similar tasks found within the Competence and mind theme. Here studies explore children's worldviews due to a fundamental interest in what children think. This means that children are treated as agents important to be studied in their own right. Yet, some studies also aim to improve something for children; for example, when children's opinions are collected through drawings to inform the design of toys (Mullick, 2013).

A fourth focus on children's views and opinions expressed through pictures is seen in studies discussing, problematising, and advancing research methods. Here, visuality is a way to bring children into research, to get to know more about them and their thoughts. Discussions involve, for example, the use of picture elicitation methods in which children produce visual material that is later used as prompts for interviews. These are drawings but also creative explorations of child-made scrapbooks (Cremin et al., 2011), text-and-picture diaries made jointly by children and parents (Lämsä et al., 2017), collaborative drawing between child and researcher (Knight et al., 2015), and children's photography in longitudinal studies (Luttrell, 2010).

Studies within this theme sometimes pose complex questions, some of which are theoretically challenging. Often, questions of research ethics, inclusion, power relations, and children's role and place in society are considered. Children are seen as important participants in this research, they are frequently positioned as active participants, or co-researchers, and the research aims to elicit children's perspectives (Earl, 2018), children's voices (Prosser, 2011), or to problematise an

"authentic child voice" (Nyberg, 2019: 482). This search for children's voices is different from the search for children's points of view that is present in the Health and wellbeing theme, where children's utterances are generally taken at face value and the aim is to improve a problematic health situation. Here, there is often a critical take on the issue studied and on the visual methods. Also, there is a broad interest in children's knowledge and participation. In addition, children's pictures are frequently highlighted as being art, and thus attributed greater value.

Conclusion

The point of departure for this study is the importance of exploring what research does at a broad collective level. This is especially important when the subjects of study are children, who are usually excluded from research designs. It is adult researchers who think children and their pictures can and should be investigated or used in research, not necessarily children themselves. As academic research is a context in which children's pictures are used, made on request, and interpreted in more or less ideological ways, it is crucial to explore how this is done.

Asking what it is that the collective research community does with children's pictures, and how it simultaneously positions children, this study concludes that out of the 423 studies found very few focus on children's pictures per se, or analyse them solely for artistic reasons. Evidently, they are not treated like adults' pictures, which are generally made by adult artists, and frequently scrutinised within the disciplines and fields of art history, visual studies, and visual culture. Instead, pictures made by children are usually included in research with the purpose of making claims that extend beyond the pictures themselves, and beyond picture-making processes.

This exploration of how children's pictures are made relevant in research has revealed four major themes. In summary, these are the Health and wellbeing theme, consisting of health-related studies aiming to make diagnoses and understand sick and vulnerable child patients in order to be able to help them better. The theme of Competence and the mind is dominated by psychological studies, where large collections of pictures are assessed to reveal aspects of children's drawing competences, as well as other issues connected to their development and cognition. These mainly seek to disclose general facts about children. The Education theme is closely connected to school pedagogy and seeks to find best teaching practices and to refine methods for learning. Children are positioned as pupils and apprentices who should explore the visual, express themselves, and learn to refine their creativity. In comparison to Competence and the mind, this refinement does not inevitably come naturally through development, but through actions performed by competent teachers. The theme Agency and Opinions comprises studies conducted in a plethora of fields and disciplines within the humanities and social sciences. Often, they problematise visual methods and position children as agents with their own opinions and knowledge.

The four themes have strong connections to academic disciplines but are not simply defined by them. They are much more complex. Not all studies are neatly disciplinary, and it is obvious that theories and methods can be shared between disciplines and fields. Thus, the themes intersect. Simultaneously, there are tensions between them because they build on different assumptions about children and pictures, and about research more generally. This means that, when communicating about children's pictures, one should not to take it for granted that there is a shared consensus on what children's pictures are, what they might mean, or how they can be used.

I have shown that children's pictures are regarded in a plethora of ways: as facts, as prompts to improve interviews, as sources of information about aspects of children's inner life worlds and development, as well as something to learn and improve, to be used as a pedagogical tool, and as being communication, culture, and a social activity. The fact that children's pictures are used and given meaning in these multiple ways means that what we as a collective research community are doing to children is saying that their pictures can be used for almost anything. It also shows that researchers have high expectations of what children's pictures can achieve.

Another important insight is that "child" almost always refers to children over three years of age and that younger children are seldom of interest within research dealing with children's pictures and picture-making. Yet there are large differences in how children are positioned. Through this collective research, children are simultaneously positioned as vulnerable yet capable and worthy of being listened to, as psychological beings who can be evaluated from different angles through a lens of the general and normal, as pupils and apprentices in need of education and teaching, and as active participating agents with opinions and knowledge important enough to be studied in their own right. The finding that these diverse positions emerge in relation to children's pictures, which is a topic that one might think of as apolitical and free of friction, further encourages questions about how such societal positioning of children might also come to the fore through research on other childrelated topics.

References

- Adejumo, C. (2010). Promoting artistic and cultural development through service learning and critical pedagogy in a low-income community art program. *Visual Arts Research*, *36*(1), 23–34. http://dx.doi.org/10.1353/var.2010.0009
- Adline, M., & Lefevre, C. (2021). Effects of early bilingualism on representational and procedural flexibility in Draw-a-Man Test. *Psychologie Francaise*, 66(3), 189–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psfr.2020.03.001
- Altay, N, Kilicarslan-Toruner, E., & Sari, Ç. (2017). The effect of drawing and writing technique on the anxiety level of children undergoing cancer treatment.

- European *Journal of Oncology Nursing, 28*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejon.2017.02.007
- Amrutha, R., Sadh, K., & Murthy, P. (2021). Imagining the COVID-19 pandemic through the minds of 9-11 years old: findings from an art exhibition in India. *Public Health*, *192*, 56–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2021.01.007
- Arden, R., Trzaskowski, M., Garrfield, V. et al. (2014). Genes influence young children's human figure drawings and their association with intelligence a decade later. *Psychological Science*, *25*(10), 1843–1850. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797614540686
- Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. International *Journal of Social Research Methodology, 8*(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/1364557032000119616
- Baluch, B., Duffy, L., Badami, R. et al. (2017). A cross-continental study on children's drawings of football players: implications for understanding key issues and controversies in human figure drawings. *Europe's Journal of Psychology, 13*(3), 455–471. https://doi.org/10.5964/ejop.v13i3.1237
- Bergman, M., & Coxon, A. (2005). The quality in qualitative methods. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: *Qualitative Social Research*, 6(2),1–20. https://doi.org/10.17169/fgs-6.2.457
- Blom, E., Berke, R., Shaya, N. et al. (2021). Cognitive flexibility in children with developmental language disorder: drawing of nonexistent objects. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 93, 106137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2021.106137
- Britsch, S. (2019). Exploring science visually: science and photography with prekindergarten children. *Journal of Early Childhood Literacy*, 19(1), 55–81. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468798417700704
- Burkitt, E. (2022). *Children's Drawings*. Oxford bibliographies, Childhood studies. doi:10.1093/obo/9780199791231-0058.
- Burkitt, E., & Lowry, R. (2015). Attitudes and practices that shape children's drawing behaviour in mainstream and performing arts schools. *International Journal of Art & Design Education*, *34*(1), 25–43. https://doi.org/10.1111/jade.12033
- Burkitt, E., & Watling, D. (2016). How do children who understand mixed emotion represent them in freehand drawings of themselves and others? *Educational Psychology*, *36*(5), 935–955. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2015.1044942
- Cameron, C,. A., Pinto, G., Stella, C. et al. (2020). A day in the life of young children drawing at home and at school. *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 28(1), 97–113. https://doi.org/10.1080/09669760.2019.1605887
- Cannoni, E., Pinto, G. & Bombi, A., S. (2021). Typical emotional expression in children's drawings of the human face. *Current Psychology, 42*(4), 2762–2768. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-01558-1

- Chad-Friedman, E., Lee, Y., Liu, X. et al. (2019). The effects of visual arts pedagogies on children's intrinsic motivation, creativity, artistic skill, and realistic drawing ability. *Journal of Creative Behavior*, 53(4), 482–495. https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.228
- Christidou, V., Fotini, B., & Vassilia, H. (2023). Drawing a scientist: using the Emo-DAST to explore emotional aspects of children's images of scientists. *Research in Science & Technological Education, 41*(4), 1287–1308. https://doi.org/10.1080/02635143.2021.1998770
- Clapp, L., Taylor, E., Di Folco, S. et al. (2019). Effectiveness of art therapy with pediatric populations affected by medical health conditions: a systematic review. *Arts & Health*, 11(3), 183–201. https://doi.org/10.1080/17533015.2018.1443952
- Coates, E., & Coates, A. (2021). Images in words and pictures: issues arising from a shared experience of talking and drawing. *Children & Society, 35*(2), 244–258. https://doi.org/10.1111/chso.12423
- Cox, M. (1993). Children's drawings of the human figure. Erlbaum, Hove.
- Cremin, H., Mason, C., & Busher, H. (2011). Problematising pupil voice using visual methods: findings from a study of engaged and disaffected pupils in an urban secondary school. *British Educational Research Journal*, *37*(4), 585–603. https://doi.org/10.1080/01411926.2010.482977
- Darling-McQuistan, K. (2017). Beyond representation: exploring drawing as part of children's meaning-making. *International Journal of Art & Design Education,* 36(3), 281–291. https://doi.org/10.1111/jade.12158
- do Vale Pinheiro, I., da Costa, A., G., Rodrigues, D., C., B. et al. (2015). Hospital psychological assessment with the drawing of the human figure: a contribution to the care to oncologic children and teenagers. *Psychology*, 6(4), 484–500. http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/psych.2015.64046
- Drake, J., & Winner, E. (2018). Extreme drawing realism in childhood. *Roeper Review*, 40(4), 222–233. https://doi.org/10.1080/02783193.2018.1501781
- Driessnack, M., & Furukawa, R. (2012). Arts-based data collection techniques used in child research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, *17*(1), 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00304.x
- Earl, L. (2018). Children's food maps: using social mapping to understand school foodscapes. *Ethnography and Education*, 13(4), 508–528. https://doi.org/10.1080/17457823.2017.1384320
- Eskelinen, K. (2012). Children's visual art and creating through photographs. *Procedia: Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 45, 168–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.06.553

- Goldner, L., & Levi, M. (2014). Children's family drawings, body perceptions, and eating attitudes: the moderating role of gender. *Arts in Psychotherapy, 41*(1), 79–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aip.2013.11.004
- Hallam, J., L., Hewitt, D., & Buxton, S. (2014). An exploration of children's experiences of art in the classroom. International *Journal of Art & Design Education*, 33(2), 195–207. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-8070.2014.12022.x
- Hallam, J., L., Lee, H., & Das Gupta, M. (2011). An investigation into the ways in which art is taught in English reception classes. *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity and the Arts*, 5(2), 177–185. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0020275
- Hamilton, A., Jin, Y., & Krieg, S., (2019). Early childhood arts curriculum: a cross-cultural study. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, *51*(5), 698–714. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2019.1575984
- Howard, A., H., Razuri, E., B., Call, C. et al. (2017). Family drawings as attachment representations in a sample of post-institutionalized adopted children. *Arts in Psychotherapy*, *52*, 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aip.2016.09.003
- lafelice, M. (2016). Re/Presenting a/rtful pedagogy: relational aesthetics in early childhood contemporary art experiences. *Journal of Childhood Studies, 41*(4), 4–18. http://dx.doi.org/10.18357/jcs.v41i4.16715
- Jolley, R. (2010). *Children and pictures: drawing and understanding*, Wiley-Blackwell, Malden MA.
- Kauffman, N. (2016). Blank canvases art program, altering the landscape of visual arts education in the elementary school classroom. *Journal of Childhood Studies*, *41*(4), 19–35. https://doi.org/10.18357/jcs.v41i4.16716
- Kay, C. (2021). German children's art during World War I. *Global Studies of Childhood,* 11(2), 195–212. https://doi.org/10.1177/20436106211015694
- Knight, L., McArdle, F., Cumming, T. et al. (2015). Intergenerational collaborative drawing: a research method for researching with/about young children. Australasian *Journal of Early Childhood, 40*(4), 21–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/183693911504000404
- Kruuse, K., Kalmus, V., Runnel, P. et al. (2020). Mapping children's life-worlds: a content-analytical study of drawings of favourite gifts. *Journal of Ethnology & Folkloristics*, 14(2), 123–141. https://doi.org/10.2478/jef-2020-0019
- Kukkonen, T., & Chang-Kredl, S. (2018). Drawing as social play: shared meaning-making in young children's collective drawing activities. *International Journal of Art & Design Education*, *37*(1), 74–87. https://doi.org/10.1111/jade.12116
- Lämsä, T., Jokinen, K., Rönkä, A. et al. (2017). Childhood reproduced: images of childhood represented in children's daily lives in home and day-care settings. *Journal of Family Studies, 23*(2), 161–179. https://doi.org/10.1080/13229400.2015.1106334

- Levac, D., Colquhoun, H., & O'Brien, K. (2010). Scoping studies: advancing the methodology. *Implementation Science*, *5*(69), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-5-69
- Lima, T., A., Panachuk, L., & Cruz, D. (2019). Scribbling the walls: children's contribution to the rock art of Peruacu valley, Minas Gerais, Brazil. Rock *Art Research*, 36(2), 1–17. https://search.informit.org/doi/10.3316/informit.403366580423966
- Lobstein, T., Jackson-Leach, R., Moodie, M. et al. (2015). Child and adolescent obesity: part of a bigger picture. *The Lancet*, *385*(9986), 2510–2520. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(14)61746-3
- Luttrell, W. (2010). "A camera is a big responsibility": a lens for analysing children's visual voices. *Visual Studies*, *25*(3), 224–237. https://doi.org/10.1080/1472586X.2010.523274
- Martinet, L., Sueur, C., Hirata, S. et al. (2021). New indices to characterize drawing behavior in humans (Homo sapiens) and chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes). *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 3860. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-83043-0
- Milbrath, C., & Trautner, H., M. (eds.) (2008). *Children's understanding and production of pictures, drawings, and art.* Hogrefe & Huber, Toronto.
- Mitchell, C., Theron, L., Smith, A. et al. (2011). Drawings as research method. In: Theron L, Mitchell C., Smith, A. et al. (eds.), *Picturing research: Drawing as visual methodology*. Brill, Leiden, pp. 17–36.
- Mohangi, K., Ebersöhn, L., & Eloff, I. (2011). "I am doing okay": intrapersonal coping strategies of children living in an institution. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, 21(3), 397 404. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2011-28126-009
- Mottweiler, C., & Taylor, M. (2014). Elaborated role play and creativity in preschool age children. *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts, 8*(3), 277 286. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0036083
- Mullick, A. (2013). Inclusive indoor play: an approach to developing inclusive design guidelines. *Work, 44* Supplement 1:S5–17. https://doi.org/10.3233/wor-121489
- Nyberg, M. (2019). Children's pictures of a good and desirable meal in kindergarten: a participatory visual approach. *Children & Society, 33*(5), 471–487. https://doi.org/10.1111/chso.12327
- Park, H. (2019). Painting "out of the lines": the aesthetics of politics and politics of aesthetics in children's art. *Visual Arts Research*, *45*(2), 66–79. https://doi.org/10.5406/visuartsrese.45.2.0066
- Petris, A., O., Tatu-Chitoiu, G., Cimpoesu, D. et al. (2017). You can also save a life!: children's drawings as a non-verbal assessment of the impact of cardiopulmonary resuscitation training. *Internal and Emergency Medicine*, 12(3), 365–369. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11739-016-1469-8

- Picard, D. (2011). Impact of manual preference on directionality in children's drawings. *Laterality*, 16(1), 24–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/13576500903140610
- Picchietti, D., Arbuckle, R., Abetz, L. et al. (2011). Pediatric restless legs syndrome: analysis of symptom descriptions and drawings. *Journal of Child Neurology*, 26(11), 1365–1376. https://doi.org/10.1177/0883073811405852
- Portex, M., Foulin, J., & Troadec, B. (2017). Cultural influence on directional tendencies in children's drawing. Laterality: *Asymmetries of body, brain and cognition*, *22*(5), 621–640. https://doi.org/10.1080/1357650X.2016.1266363
- Prosser, J. (2011). Image-based educational research: childlike perspectives. *Learning Landscapes*, 4(2), 257–273. https://doi.org/10.36510/learnland.v4i2.399
- Rakhmanov, O., & Dane, S. (2019). Correlation between Vanderbilt ADHD diagnostic scale and the draw-a-man test in school children. *Journal of Research in Medical and Dental Science*, 7(6), 77–81.
- Rauh, V., Garcia, W., Whyatt, R. et al. (2015). Prenatal exposure to the organophosphate pesticide chlorpyrifos and childhood tremor. *Neurotoxicology*, *51*, 80–86. doi: 10.1016/j.neuro.2015.09.004
- Rose, S., & Jolley, R. (2016). Drawing development in mainstream and Waldorf Steiner schools revisited. *Psychology of Aesthetics Creativity and the Arts, 10*(4), 447–457. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/aca0000070
- Rose, S., Jolley, R., & Burkitt, E. (2006). A review of children's, teachers' and parents' influences on children's drawing experience. *International Journal of Art & Design Education*, 25(3), 341–349. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-8070.2006.00500.x
- Rubin, J. (2005). *Child art therapy*. John Wiley, Hoboken, NJ.
- Rudolph, S., & Wright, S. (2015). Drawing out the value of the visual: children and young people theorizing time through art and narrative. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 47(4), 486–507. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2015.1006685
- Ryan, G., & Bernard, R. (2003). Techniques to identify themes. *Field Methods, 15*(1), 85–109. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X02239569
- Saito, A., Hayashi, M., Takeshita, H. et al. (2014). The origin of representational drawing: a comparison of human children and chimpanzees. *Child Development*, 85(6), 2232–2246. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12319
- Sakr, M. (2018). Multimodal participation frameworks during young children's collaborative drawing on paper and on the iPad. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 29, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2018.05.004
- Sakr, M., & Osgood, J. (eds.). (2019). *Postdevelopmental approaches to childhood art*. Bloomsbury Academic, London.

- Sakr, M., Connelly, V., & Wild, M. (2018). Imitative or iconoclastic? How young children use ready-made images in digital art. *International Journal of Art & Design Education*, *37*(1), 41–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/jade.12104
- Shi, F., Sun, W., Duan, H, et al. (2021). Drawing reveals hallmarks of children with autism. *Displays*, *67*(102000), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.displa.2021.102000
- Strikas, K., Valiakos, A., Tsimpiris, A. et al. (2022). Deep learning techniques for fine motor skills assessment in preschool children. *International Journal of Education and Learning Systems*, 7, 43–49.
- Trafi-Prats, L., & Schulte, C. (eds.). (2022). *New images of thought in the study of childhood drawing*. Springer, Cham.
- Vinter, A., Bonin, P., & Morgan, P. (2018). The severity of the visual impairment and practice matter for drawing ability in children. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 78, 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2018.04.027
- Wahyudi, M., & Fathani, A. (2018). Developing skill of art using the explicit instruction model with finger painting media in kindergarten. *Advances in Social Science, Education and Humanities Research*, 274, 36–40. https://doi.org/10.2991/iccite-18.2018.9
- Ware, E., Drummond, B., Gross, J. et al. (2020). Giving children a voice about their dental care. *Journal of Dentistry for Children*, 87(2), 116–119.
- Wilson, B. (1997). Types of child art and alternative developmental accounts: interpreting the interpreters. *Human Development*, 40(3), 155–168. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26767728
- Woolford, J., Patterson, T., Macleod, E. et al. (2015). Drawing helps children to talk about their presenting problems during a mental health assessment. Clinical Child *Psychology and Psychiatry*, 20(1), 68–83. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359104513496261
- Xie, Q., Zhang, Y., Dai, X. et al. (2022). A qualitative synthesis of drawing-based research on the illness-related experiences of children living with physical health problems. *Health & Social Care in the Community, 30*(6), e3843–e3870. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.14082
- Yadav, S., & Chakraborty, P. (2017). Children aged two to four are able to scribble and draw using a smartphone app. *Acta Paediatrica*, 106(6), 991–994. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.13818
- Yilmaz, A., Kirci, E., & Goker, Z. (2019). Pictures portrayed by children with migraine with aura: a Turkish case series. *Neurological Sciences*, *40*, 839–845. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-019-3713-2
- Zigler, C., K., Ardalan, K., Hernandez, A. et al. (2020). Exploring the impact of paediatric localized scleroderma on health-related quality of life: focus groups

with youth and caregivers. *The British Journal of Dermatology, 183*(4), 692–701. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.18879

Zuccoli, F. (2019). Making a new beginning based on drawing: educational paths in nursery and primary school. *DISEGNARECON*, *12*(23), 1–8. https://hdl.handle.net/10281/2642261-000-0015-5

Funding

This work was made within the research project "Children's Cultural Heritage – the Visual Voices of the Archive", funded by Vetenskapsrådet, the Swedish Research Council (grant number 2020–03095).

Bionote

Johanna Sjöberg; Department of Thematic Studies - Child Studies. Linköping

University, Sweden

Email: johanna.sjoberg@liu.se

Received: May 2024

Published: December 2024